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Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid and other current assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets:
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Accrued severance obligations

Deferred revenue

Deferred tax liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities:

Other liabilities, net of current portion

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.10 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized 34,219,690 shares issued and 182,350,316

PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. Financial Statements

Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

shares outstanding at March 31, 2013 and June 30, 2012, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Treasury stock, 5,867,361 and 1,816,178 at cost, at March 31, 2013 and June 30, 2012, respectively

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to these financial statements.

March 31, 2013 June 30, 2012
(Unaudited)

$ 70,265 $ 53,790
15,173 5,966

1,847 1,374

87,285 61,130

4,173 4,944

818 1,804

2,563 1,419

7,554 8,167

$ 94,839 $ 69,297
$ 2,282 $ 2,851
5,935 6,133

3,858 -

650 398

1,714 130

14,439 9,512

296 504

296 504

14,735 10,016

3,422 100,394

234,775 668
(117,048) (1,397)

31,053 29,516
(72,098) (69,900)

80,104 59,281

$ 94,839 $ 69,297




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Revenue:
Royalty revenue and milestones
Revenue from services
Other

Total revenue

Operating expense:

Cost of revenue

Research and development

General and administrative
Total operating expense
Income/(loss) from operations

Non-operating income:
Gain recorded on merger
Research and development credit
Interest income

Total non-operating income

Income (loss) before tax
Income tax benefit/(expense)
Net income (loss)

Basic income (loss) per share
Diluted income (loss) per share

Basic weighted-average shares outstanding
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding

Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income (loss)

(unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net

of tax
Total comprehensive income (loss)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
March 31, March 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012

$ 7,709 $ 5189 $ 9,636 $ 6,649

4,787 1,879 14,468 6,611

- 22 242 69

12,496 7,090 24,346 13,329

4,094 1,787 12,731 6,047

4,936 5,713 13,583 17,769

3,436 2,220 13,704 5,871

12,466 9,720 40,018 29,687
30 (2,630) (15,672) (16,358)

- - 7,805 -

- - 4,428 -

173 739 1,125 2,565

173 739 12,358 2,565
203 (1,891) (2,314) (13,793)

12 (146) 116 504
$ 215 $ (2,037) $ (2,198) $ (13,289)
$ 001 $ (0.09) $ (0.08) $ (0.59)
$ 001 $ (0.09) $ (0.08) $ (0.59)

28,162,295 22,709,008 28,145,541 22,709,008

28,182,697 22,709,008 28,145,541 22,709,008
$ 215 $ (2,037) $ (2,198) $ (13,289)
536 1,610 1,537 (1,456)
$ 751  $ 427) $ (661) $ (14,745)

See accompanying notes to these financial statements.




Balances at July 1, 2012
Comprehensive income
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations
Net loss

Total Comprehensive income

New shares issued on exercise of
options

New shares issued on vesting of
options on merger

Acquisition of Nabi

Biopharmaceuticals

Restricted stock units, net

Share-based compensation

Balances at March 31, 2013

Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(unaudited)
(in thousands, except for share amounts)

Common Stock Treasury Shares Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’

Shares Amount Capital Shares Amount Deficit Income Equity
182,350,316 $ 100,394 $ 668 (1,816,178) $ (1,397) $ (69,900) $ 29,516 $ 59,281
1,537 1,537
(2,198) (2,198)
(661)
413,335 410 (410) -
4,639,104 1,118 (1,118) -
(153,398,048)  (98,521) 233,367 (4,051,183)  (115,651) 19,195
214,983 21 (21) R
2,289 2,289
34,219,690 $ 3,422 $ 234,775 (5,867,361) $(117,048) $  (72,098) $ 31,053 $ 80,104

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation
Gain recorded on merger

Change in operating assets and liabilities (net of liabilities acquired):
Accounts receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred tax assets
Deferred revenue
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued severance obligations

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash acquired from merger

Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalent at beginning of period
Effects of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental cash flow disclosure:
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock on merger

Proceeds to settle accrued severance obligations and other accrued liabilities on merger

Cash acquired on merger

See accompanying notes to these financial statements.

Nine Months Ended
March 31,
2013 2012
(2,198) $ (13,289)
2,447 2,463
2,289 424
(7,805) -
(8,667) (5,462)
(445) (360)
414 (504)
237 255
(1,607) (1,993)
(1,032) -
(16,367) (18,466)
32,687 -
(490) (1,062)
- 8
32,197 (1,054)
15,830 (19,520)
53,790 74,177
645 (1,319)
70,265 $ 53,338
27,000 $ =
5,687 -
32,687 $ -




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(for the quarter ended March 31, 2013)

(1) Company Overview

Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc., together with its wholly owned subsidiaries (“Biota”, or the “Company”) is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the
discovery and development of innovative anti-infective products to prevent and treat serious and potentially life-threatening infectious diseases. The
Company has been incorporated in the state of Delaware since 1969 and the corporate headquarters are located in Alpharetta, Georgia. On November 8, 2012,
Nabi Biopharmaceuticals (“Nabi”) merged with Biota Holdings Limited and the resulting company was renamed Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

The Company is currently focused on developing oral, small molecule compounds to treat a number of infections, with its clinical-stage programs being
directed toward respiratory diseases, including those caused by influenza A and B, and human rhinovirus (“HRV”). In addition, it has preclinical research
programs directed toward developing products to treat respiratory syncytial virus (“RSV”) as well as a broad spectrum of gram negative bacterial infections.

The Company has developed a neuraminidase inhibitor, zanamivir, which is marketed worldwide by GlaxoSmithKline (“GSK”) as Relenza™ for the
prevention and treatment of influenza pursuant to a research and license agreement entered into with the Company in 1990. In addition, the Company has
cross-licensed intellectual property related to second-generation long-acting neuraminidase inhibitors (“LANI”) with Daiichi Sankyo Company Ltd (“Daiichi
Sankyo™), of which the lead product, laninamivir octanoate, was developed and is being marketed by Daiichi Sankyo as Inavir® Dry Powder Inhaler
(“Inavir®”) in Japan for the treatment of influenza A & B infections. The Company has filed an Investigational New Drug application (“IND”) with the
United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) to develop laninamivir octanoate, and in 2011 entered into a contract with the U.S. Office of
Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority (“BARDA”) designed to provide up to $231 million for the completion of clinical development
and United States (“U.S.”) based manufacturing of laninamivir octanoate for the treatment of influenza A and B infections.

Although the Company’s influenza products have been successfully commercialized by other larger pharmaceutical companies under license agreements, the
Company has not received regulatory approval for any product candidates it has developed independently, and does not have any commercial capabilities.
Therefore, it is possible that the Company may not successfully derive any significant product revenues from any of its existing or future product candidates.




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(for the quarter ended March 31, 2013)

(2) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. In
the opinion of the Company’s management, all material adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation
have been included. Certain information and footnotes disclosure normally included in the financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have
been condensed or omitted pursuant to instructions, rules and regulations prescribed by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Except as
disclosed herein, there has been no material change in the information disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in our Form 8-
K/A filed on January 23, 2013.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries. All inter-company
transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation.

Operating results for the nine months ended March 31, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending June 30,
2013.

For a more complete discussion of the Company’s significant accounting policies and other information, this report should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2012 included in the Company’s Current Report filed on Form 8-K/A that was filed with the
SEC on January 23, 2013.

The Company’s significant accounting policies have not changed since December 31, 2012, except as outlined below:
Recent Accounting Standards

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2013-02, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of Amounts
Reclassified out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. Adoption of the new guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

In March 2013, FASB issued ASU 2013-05, Foreign Currency Matters (Topic 830): Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative Translation Adjustment upon
Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investment in a Foreign Entity (a consensus of the FASB
Emerging Issues Task Force), effective prospectively for fiscal years (and interim reporting periods within those years) beginning after December 15, 2013.
The Company does not expect adoption will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

(3) Merger
Reverse Stock Split

On November 8, 2012, in connection with the merger - described below and as approved by Nabi’s stockholders and board of directors, Nabi filed a
Certificate of Amendment to its Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware to affect a reverse stock split of
Nabi’s common stock at a ratio of 1:6. As a result of the reverse stock split, each six shares of Nabi common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior
to the reverse stock split were automatically combined into and became one share of Nabi common stock. Also, as a result of the reverse stock split, the per
share exercise price of, and the number of shares of common stock underlying, the Company outstanding stock options immediately prior to the reverse stock
split were automatically proportionally adjusted based on the one-for-six split ratio in accordance with the terms of such options. The reverse stock split did
not alter the par value or modify any voting rights or other terms of the common stock.




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(for the quarter ended March 31, 2013)

Merger between Nabi Biopharmaceuticals and Biota Holdings Limited

On November 8, 2012, Nabi and Biota Holdings Limited completed a merger (the “Merger”), and the resulting company was renamed Biota Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. Former Biota Holdings Limited shareholders retained approximately 83% of the Company’s shares of common stock, while former Nabi shareholders
retained approximately 17% as consideration for Nabi’s net assets, the vast majority of which was $27 million in net cash on hand on the date of the merger.
As Nabi had minimal ongoing activity with respect to its development programs and related operations at the time of the merger, the Company’s future
operations will be largely represented by the operations of Biota Holdings Limited. Further, due to the fact that former Biota Holdings Limited shareholders
held a significant majority of the voting interest in the Company upon the completion of the merger, the merger has been accounted for as a “reverse merger”,
such that, notwithstanding the fact that Nabi was the legal acquirer, Biota Holdings Limited is considered the accounting acquirer for financial reporting
purposes. Accordingly, the financial statements of Biota Holdings Limited are treated as the historical financial statements of the Company, with the operating
results of Nabi being included from November 8, 2012. As a result of the reverse merger, historical common stock amounts and additional paid-in capital
have been adjusted.

Exchange Ratio

Upon completion of the merger, each outstanding share of Biota Holdings Limited common stock converted into the right to receive 0.1249539870 shares of
Nabi common stock as determined by the exchange ratio - as calculated pursuant to the terms of the merger, as amended. Pursuant to the various agreements,
Biota Holdings Limited stockholders received shares of Nabi common stock representing approximately 83% of the outstanding combined shares of the
resulting combined company. Nabi stockholders continued to own their shares of existing Nabi common stock, which represented approximately 17% of the
outstanding combined shares of the resulting combined company. The issued share capital upon completion of the merger was comprised of the following:

No. of Shares

Ex-Nabi stockholders 4,720,999
Ex-Biota Holdings Limited stockholders 23,416,347
Total 28,137,346

Purchase Consideration and Net Assets Acquired

The purchase consideration in a reverse merger is determined with reference to the value of equity that the accounting acquirer (in this case Biota Holdings
Limited,) issues to the stockholders of the accounting acquiree (Nabi, in this case) to give them their interest in the combined entity. Further, as a result of the
merger, stock options to purchase an aggregate of 0.5 million shares of Nabi common stock that were held by officers and directors of Nabi immediately
vested. The fair values of Nabi’s outstanding stock options were determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: a
strike price range of $11.34 — $99.91; a volatility range between 78.79% — 99.62%; a risk-free interest rate range of 0.12% — 0.87%; and an expected life
range of 0.3 — 6.1 years.




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(for the quarter ended March 31, 2013)

The purchase price, based on the price per share of the Company’s common stock as of the date of the merger is as follows:

Number of shares issued to Nabi stockholders 4,720,999
Fair value per share, using the volume weighted share price on November 9, 2012 $4.0168
Implied purchase consideration (in thousands) $18,963
Number of stock options outstanding to former Nabi employees and directors 508,918
Fair value per option $0.456
Implied purchase consideration (in thousands) $232
Total implied purchase consideration (in thousands) $19,195

The net assets acquired as a result of the merger consist of (in thousands):

Cash $32,687
Accrual for severance obligations and employee benefits (4,977)
Accounts payable (694)
Other liabilities (16)
Net cash received $27,000
Excess of net assets acquired over total fair value purchase consideration/gain recorded on merger $7,805

Due to the significant uncertainty associated with future cash flows from these assets, no purchase consideration has been allocated to the residual value of
any of Nabi’s drug development programs, including NicVAX® or any next-generation nicotine vaccine, or the potential royalty of Phoslyra that was sold to a
third party in 2006.

Pursuant to the merger, Biota Holdings Limited received net cash of $27 million from Nabi, while Nabi stockholders received a proportion of the combined
entity based on the Biota Holdings Limited share price upon completion of the merger. Movements in the Biota Holdings Limited share price and the U.S.
and Australian dollar exchange rates between the date of the determination of the exchange ratio and the date of the completion of the merger, coupled with
changes in the fair value of certain assets and liabilities, resulted in the net assets acquired exceeding the calculated purchase consideration. The resulting gain
of $7.8 million recorded on the completion of the merger is recognized as non-operating income in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Acquisition-related Costs

Acquisition-related costs associated with the merger, including advisory, investment banking, legal, accounting and various other costs of Nil and $4.6 million
have been included as a general and administrative expense for the three and nine month periods ended March 31, 2013, respectively. Total acquisition-related
costs were approximately $6.5 million.

10




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(for the quarter ended March 31, 2013)
Pro forma Financial Information

The following table presents selected unaudited financial information, as if the merger with Nabi had occurred on July 1, 2011 (in thousands, expect per share
data).

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
March 31, March 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Pro forma net revenue $13,128 $7,722 $25,610 $8,792
Pro forma net loss $(3,986) $(2,473) $(8,931) $(13,600)
Pro forma basic loss per share $(0.14) $(0.11) $(0.32) $(0.60)
Pro forma diluted loss per share $(0.14) $(0.11) $(0.32) $(0.60)

(4) Net Income (Loss) per Share

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share has been computed based on net income (loss) and the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
during the applicable period. For diluted net loss per share, common stock equivalents (shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options
and warrants) are excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. The Company has excluded all options
to purchase common stock in periods indicating a loss, as their effect is anti-dilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation of historical basic and diluted net income (loss) per share.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
March 31, March 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012

Net income (loss) (in thousands) $215 $(2,037) $(2,198) $(13,289)
Weighted-average shares outstanding 28,165,295 181,664,389 28,145,541 181,664,389
Weighted- average shares outstanding adjusted using exchange

ratio used to compute basic earnings per share - 22,709,008 - 22,709,008
Dilutive effect of restricted stock and stock options 20,402 - - -
Shares used to compute diluted earnings per share 28,182,697 22,709,008 28,145,541 22,709,008
Basic income (loss) per share $0.01 $(0.09) $(0.08) $(0.59)
Diluted income (loss) per share $0.01 $(0.09) $(0.08) $(0.59)

11




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(for the quarter ended March 31, 2013)

(5) Share-Based Compensation

A summary of stock option grants outstanding as of March 31, 2013, and the related activity during the nine months ended March 31, 2013, is presented
below:

Number of Options

Biota
Options Biota Holdings Nabi Pharmaceuticals,
Limited Inc.

Outstanding at June 30, 2012 6,182,853 3,665,201
Granted 686,365 -
Exercised (413,335) -
Forfeited - (20,000)
Expired (601) (591,485)

6,455,282 3,053,716
Adjustment for consolidation of shares (reverse stock split) (2,544,716)
Vested and exercised upon merger (6,455,282) -
Balance on November 8, 2012 (date of merger) - 508,918
Post-merger transactions:
Granted - - 931,590
Expired - (16,979) -
Outstanding at March 31, 2013 - 491,939 931,590
Exercisable at March 31, 2013 - 491,939 -

On November 8, 2012, and in connection with the merger and based upon stockholder approval, Nabi’s board of directors approved a 1:6 reverse stock split
of existing Nabi shares, which reduced the number of shares of common stock reserved for outstanding stock options to 508,918. The exercise price of all
outstanding stock options as of that date have been adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split and are now between $11.22 and $99.94 per share, with terms
expiring from March, 2014 to January, 2019.

Biota Holdings Limited had outstanding stock options to purchase 6,455,282 shares of its common stock at September 30, 2012. Upon approval of the merger
with Nabi by the Supreme Court of Victoria on October 26, 2012, all of these outstanding stock options vested, resulting in the issuance of 4,639,104 shares
of common stock and the vesting of 1,816,178 shares held by Biota Holdings Limited for this purpose. The related expense of $1.1 million associated with
the issuance of shares of common stock has been recognized as a general and administrative expense in the consolidated statement of operations of Biota
Holdings Limited.

On November 12, 2012, the Company granted options to purchase 931,590 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.07. The grant becomes
exercisable in three equal installments on the first, second and third anniversary of the grant date. The options have a 10 year term. The Company estimated
the fair value of each stock option on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing formula, to be $2.72 using the following key assumptions:

Expected Term: The expected term represents the period over which the share-based awards are expected to be outstanding based on the Company’s historical
experience. The Company estimated an expected term of 5 years.

Risk-Free Interest Rate: The Company used a risk-free rate of 0.65%, based upon the risk-free interest rate used in the assumptions on the implied yield
currently available on the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equivalent to the expected term of the stock option award.

Expected volatility: The Company used an expected volatility factor of 83.84%, based on the historical price of its common stock over the most recent period
commensurate with the expected term of the stock option award.

12




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(for the quarter ended March 31, 2013)

Expected Dividend Yield: The Company does not intend to pay any cash dividends on common stock for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, it assumed a
dividend yield of zero.

The Company amortizes share-based compensation expense over the option’s vesting period using the straight-line attribution approach. For the three and
nine month periods ended March 31, 2013, the Company recognized approximately $0.1 million and $0.3 million respectively of share-based compensation
expense related to the issuance of stock option grants.

A summary of outstanding restricted stock awards as of March 31, 2013, and the related activity during the nine month period ending March 31, 2013 is
presented below:

Number of Awards

Biota

Pharmaceuticals,
Awards Nabi Inc.
Unvested at June 30, 2012 196,254
Vested and shares issued (196,254)
Balance on November 8, 2012 (date of merger) -
Post-merger transactions:
Granted - 214,983
Vested - (71,661)
Outstanding at March 31, 2013 Nil 143,322

On November 12, 2012, the Company granted 214,983 of restricted stock awards with an average fair value of $4.07. The restricted shares vest over three
equal installments: upon 90 days, and on the first and second anniversaries of the grant date. For the three month and nine month periods ended March 31,
2013, the Company recognized approximately $0.2 million and $0.3 million of share-based compensation expense related to the issuance of restricted stock
units.

As of March 31, 2013, there was $2.7 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested share-based compensation arrangements. This
expense is expected to be recognized over the next two years as the shares vest.

(6) Research and Development Credit

An application for a claim of $4.4 million was made by the Company’s subsidiary, Biota Holdings Limited, under the Australian Government’s Research and
Development tax incentive when Biota Holdings Limited submitted its tax return for its fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. This amount was recorded as a
contingent asset as of June 30, 2012. On November 7, 2012, Biota Holdings Limited received cash for this claim. Although the credit is administered by the
Australian government, it is not linked to the level of taxable income and is effectively a government grant. As such, the Company obtained an immediate
benefit and therefore, the entire amount has been recognized within non-operating income in the consolidated statement of operations for the nine month
period ending March 31, 2013.

For the current fiscal year, the Company does not expect to receive a research and development credit as its revenue is expected to exceed the qualifying
revenue threshold.

(7) Licenses, Royalty Collaborative and Contractual Arrangements

Royalty agreements

The Company entered into a royalty-bearing research and license agreement with GSK in 1990 for the development and commercialization of zanamivir, a
neuraminidase inhibitor (“NI””) marketed by GSK as Relenza™ to treat influenza. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company licensed zanamivir to GSK
on an exclusive, worldwide basis and is entitled to receive royalty payments of 7% of GSK's annual net sales of Relenza™ in the U.S., Europe, Japan and
certain other countries as well as 10% of GSK's annual net sales of Relenza™ in Australia, New Zealand, South Africa and Indonesia. Beginning in 2014, the
patents on Relenza™ are scheduled to expire in certain countries and are scheduled to fully expire in 2019.

13




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(for the quarter ended March 31, 2013)

The Company also generates royalty revenue from the net sales of Inavir® in Japan, pursuant to a collaboration and license agreement that the Company
entered into with Daiichi Sankyo in 2009 related to the development and commercialization of second generation, LANI, including laninamivir octanoate. In
September 2010, laninamivir octanoate was approved for sale by the Japanese Ministry of Health and Welfare for the treatment of influenza, which Daiichi
Sankyo markets as Inavir®. Under the agreement, the Company currently receives a 4% royalty on net sales of Inavir® in Japan and is eligible to
earn commercial milestone payments. Under the collaboration and license agreement, the Company and Daiichi Sankyo have cross-licensed the related
intellectual property, and have agreed to share equally in any royalties, license fees, or milestone or other payments received from any third party licenses
outside of Japan. Patents on laninamivir octanoate in Japan generally expire in 2024.

Collaborative and contract arrangements

On March 31, 2011, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Biota Scientific Management Pty Ltd., was awarded a contract by BARDA for the late-stage
development of laninamivir octanoate on a cost-plus-fixed-fee basis, the total of which is not to exceed $231.2 million. BARDA is part of the U.S. Office of
the Assistant Secretary for Preparedness and Response ("ASPR") within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS"). The BARDA contract
is designed to fund and provide the Company with all technical and clinical data, and to establish U.S. based manufacturing, to support the filing of a U.S.
new drug application (“NDA”) with the FDA for laninamivr octanoate. The performance period of the BARDA contract commenced on March 31, 2011, and
continues for five years.

The Company is considered an active participant in the BARDA contract, with exposure to significant risks and rewards of commercialization relating to the
development of laninamivir octanoate. Therefore, revenues from and costs associated with the contract are recorded and recognized on a gross basis in the
consolidated statement of operations. Revenue totaling $22.5 million has been recognized to-date pursuant to this contract.

The following tables summarize the key components of the Company’s revenues for the three month and nine month periods ended March 31, 2013 and
2012:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Royalty revenue — Relenza™ $1.7 $1.7
— Inavir® 3.2 3.6
Commercial milestone — Inavir® 29 -
Service revenue under BARDA contract 4.5 1.7
Revenue under other contracts, grants and collaborations 0.2 0.1
Total revenue $12.5 $7.1

14




Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(for the quarter ended March 31, 2013)

Nine Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Royalty revenue — Relenza™ $2.7 $2.4
— Inavir® 4.1 4.3
Commercial milestone — Inavir® 29 -
Service revenue under BARDA contract 13.7 6.2
Revenue under other contracts, grants and collaborations 1.0 0.4
Total revenue $24.4 $13.3

(8) Subsequent Event

On April 15, 2013, the Company announced that its Board of Directors has adopted a revised corporate strategy following the recent completion of
management’s strategic and operational review of the organization and its various development programs. The implementation of this strategy will shift the
Company’s primary strategic and operational focus from early-stage research to clinical-stage development programs. As a result of adopting this strategy,
the Company has rationalized its preclinical programs, realigned its resources, and reduced its workforce by approximately 30%.

Accordingly, the Company anticipates recording a charge of approximately $2.0 million in the fourth quarter of its 2013 fiscal year (the Company’s fiscal
year-end is June 30) related to the cost of one-time termination benefits.

On May 1, 2013 the Board of Directors retired 5,867,361 shares of the Company's treasury stock.
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ITEM 2: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and other factors that may cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. In most cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,”
“should,” “could,” “would,” “expect,” “plan,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “forecast,” “potential,” “likely” or
“possible”, as well as the negative of such expressions, and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking
statements include, without limitation, statements relating to:

» o«

Our plans to continue to advance the clinical development of laninamivir octanoate, including the anticipated initiation of a Phase 2 clinical trial,
including the design and size;

the timing and our plans to shift our focus from early-stage research to clinical-stage development programs, rationalize the number of preclinical
programs we plan to support and the anticipated therapeutic focus of those remaining programs;

our plans to pursue in-licensing, acquisition, co-development or other similar collaboration opportunities to better balance our pipeline with
additional clinical-stage development programs;

the timing and our plans to complete clinical and regulatory evaluations and make a determination as to whether we will independently advance the
clinical development of vapendavir;

our plans to conclude our ongoing activities related to our preclinical gram-positive antibiotic and hepatitis C non-nucleoside polymerase inhibitor
programs and continue to seek to out-license these programs;

our ability to conserve capital by reducing our current cost structure, the estimated amount of these savings, and our plan to deploy capital
resources toward new clinical-stage development opportunities;

our estimated base cash burn from operations, the receipt of a commercial milestone and expected cash on hand;

our anticipation that revenue and the related cost of providing services under our BARDA contract will continue to increase in the near-future,
assuming the program continues to advance further into clinical development;

our anticipation that we will generally incur future net losses from operations due to our intention to continue to support the preclinical and clinical
development of our product candidates;

our anticipation that we will not qualify for the research and development credit for the current fiscal year;
our future financing requirements, the factors that may influence the timing and amount of these requirements, and our ability to fund them;

the number of months that our current cash, cash equivalents and anticipated future proceeds from existing royalty-bearing licenses, our contract
with BARDA, and other existing license and collaboration agreements will allow us to operate; and

our plan to continue to finance our operations with our existing cash, cash equivalents and proceeds from existing or potential future royalty-
bearing licenses, government contracts, or collaborative research and development arrangements or through future equity and/or debt financings or
other financing vehicles.
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These statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are based on assumptions and subject to key risks and uncertainties including,
without limitation: BARDA, or we, not terminating or significantly amending our existing contract to develop laninamivir octanoate in the U.S.; GSK or
Daiichi Sankyo continuing to generate net sales from Relenza™ and Inavir®, respectively, and otherwise continuing to fulfill their obligations under our
royalty-bearing license agreements with them in the future; we, BARDA, the FDA or similar foreign regulatory agency, a data safety monitoring board, or an
institutional review board, delaying, limiting, suspending or terminating the clinical development of laninamivir octanoate at any time for a lack of safety,
tolerability, anti-viral activity, commercial viability, regulatory or manufacturing issues, or any other reason whatsoever; the results of research activities
related to our product candidates being unfavorable, delayed or terminated; the safety or efficacy data from ongoing or future preclinical studies of any of
our product candidates not supporting further development of that product candidate; our capacity for successfully enrolling and managing clinical trials on
a timely basis; our ability to comply with extensive government regulations in various countries and regions that we expect to conduct clinical trials in that
are applicable to our business; our ability to satisfactorily manage the integration of the recent merger and our operations in the future; our ability to
successfully in-license, acquire, or enter into co-development or other similar collaboration opportunities to better balance our pipeline at appropriate
terms:our ability to maintain and or recruit sufficient human resources, including executive management and key employees; our ability to secure manage
and retain qualified third-party clinical research, preclinical research, data management and contract manufacturing organizations who we rely on to assist
us in the design, development and implementation of the clinical development of our product candidates, third-party contract research, data management and
manufacturing organizations not fulfilling their contractual obligations or otherwise performing satisfactorily in the future; our ability to maintain sufficient
quantities of preclinical and clinical trial material on hand to complete our preclinical studies or clinical trials on a timely basis; our ability, or that of our
clinical research organizations or clinical investigators to enroll a sufficient number of patients in our clinical trials on a timely basis; our failure to obtain
regulatory approval to advance the clinical development of or to market our product candidates; our ability to protect and maintain our proprietary
intellectual property rights from unauthorized use by others or not infringe on the intellectual property rights of others; the condition of the financial equity
and debt markets and our ability to raise sufficient funding in such markets; our ability to manage our current cash reserves as planned; changes in general
economic business or competitive conditions related to industry or product candidates; and other statements contained elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (including the “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report).

There may be events in the future that we are unable to predict accurately, or over which we have no control. You should read this Form 10-Q and the
documents that we reference herein and which been filed or incorporated by reference as exhibits completely and with the understanding that our actual
future results may be materially different from what we expect. Our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects may change. We may
not update these forward-looking statements, even though our situation may change in the future, unless we have obligations under the federal securities laws
to update and disclose material developments related to previously disclosed information. We qualify all of the information presented in this Form 10-Q, and
particularly our forward-looking statements, by these cautionary statements.

Biota is a registered trademark of Biota Holdings Limited, Relenza™ is a trademark of GlaxoSmithKline plc, and Inavir® is a registered trademark of Daiichi
Sankyo Company, Ltd, and TwinCaps® is a registered trademark of Hovione FarmaCiencia SA.

The following is a discussion and analysis of the major factors contributing to results of operations for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2013, and
our financial condition at that date, and should be read in conjunction with the unaudited financial statements and the notes thereto included in Item 1 of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Company Overview

9«

Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc. together with its wholly owned subsidiaries (“Biota”, the “Company”, “us” or “we”) is a biopharmaceutical company focused on
the discovery and development of innovative anti-infective products to prevent and treat serious and potentially life-threatening infectious diseases. We have
been incorporated in the state of Delaware since 1969 and our corporate headquarters are located in Alpharetta, Georgia. On November 8, 2012, Nabi
Biopharmaceuticals (“Nabi”) merged with Biota Holdings Limited and the resulting company was renamed Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
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We are currently focused on developing oral, small molecule compounds to treat a number of viral infections, with our most advanced clinical-stage programs
being directed toward respiratory diseases, including those caused by influenza A and B, and human rhinovirus (“HRV”). In addition, we have several
preclinical stage programs focused on developing respiratory syncytial virus (“RSV”) as well as novel antibiotics designed to treat a broad spectrum gram
negative bacterial infections.

We have developed a neuraminidase inhibitor, zanamivir, which is marketed worldwide by GlaxoSmithKline (“GSK”) as Relenza™ for the prevention and
treatment of influenza pursuant to a royalty-bearing research and license agreement we entered into with GSK in 1990. In addition, we have cross-licensed
intellectual property related to second-generation long acting neuraminidase inhibitors ("LANI"), including laninamivir octanoate and generate royalty
revenue pursuant to a collaboration and license agreement that we entered into with Daiichi Sankyo in 2009. In September 2010, laninamivir octanoate was
approved for sale by the Japanese Ministry of Health and Welfare for the treatment of influenza A and B in adults and children. Laninamivir octanoate is
marketed in Japan by Daiichi Sankyo as Inavir®. We have filed an Investigational New Drug application (“IND”) with the United States Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”) to develop laninamivir octanoate, and in 2012 we entered into a contract with the U.S. Office of Biomedical Advanced Research and
Development Authority (“BARDA”) designed to provide up to $231 million in support of the clinical development and U.S. based manufacturing for
laninamivir octanoate for the treatment of influenza A and B infections.

Although our influenza products have been successfully commercialized by other larger pharmaceutical companies under license agreements, we have not
received regulatory approval for any product candidates we have developed independently, and we do not have any commercial capabilities. Therefore, it is
possible that we may not successfully derive any significant product revenues from any of our existing or future development-stage product candidates.

We plan to continue to finance our operations with our existing cash and cash equivalents; proceeds from existing or potential future royalty-bearing licenses,
government contracts, or collaborative research and development arrangements; future equity and/or debt financings; and, other financing vehicles. Our
ability to continue our operations is dependent, in the near-term, upon managing our cash resources, our continued receipt of royalty revenues and service
revenue from the BARDA contract, entering into future collaboration or partnership agreements, the successful development of our product candidates,
executing future financings and ultimately, upon the approval of our products for sale and achieving positive cash flows from operations. There can be no
assurance that additional capital will be available on terms acceptable to us in the future, or that we will ever generate significant product revenue and become
operationally profitable on a consistent basis.

Recent Corporate Developments

Board appointments. On May 6, 2013, we announced a number of changes to our Board of Directors, including the resignations of Dr. Raafat Fahim and Mr.
Paul Bell, as well as the appointment of Ms. Anne VanLent and Mr. Michael Dougherty as directors.

Laninamivir Octanoate. We have been notified by Daiichi Sankyo Company Ltd., our partner in Japan, that in the three month period ended March 31, 2013,
net sales of Inavir® (laninamivir octanoate) surpassed a key threshold that resulted in us earning a $2.9 million commercial milestone payment from Daiichi
Sankyo. We recognized the amount as revenue in the three-month period ended March 31, 2013, and anticipate receiving the milestone payment by June 30,
2013.

Adoption of Revised Corporate Strategy. On April 15, 2013, we announced that our Board of Directors had adopted a corporate strategy following the recent
completion of management’s strategic and operational review of the organization and its various development programs. The implementation of this strategy
will shift our primary strategic and operational focus from early-stage research to clinical-stage development programs. As a result of us adopting this
strategy, we rationalized our preclinical programs, re-aligned resources and reduced our work force by approximately 30%. We anticipate recording a charge
of approximately $2.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 related to the cost of one-time termination benefits.
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Key components of our adopted strategy include, but are not limited to:

Continuing to fully support and advance the development of laninamivir octanoate for the treatment of influenza A and B infections in the U.S.
market under our existing contract with BARDA;

Reducing the number of our existing preclinical programs by focusing preclinical activities on developing an oral antiviral for RSV and an oral/TV
antibiotic targeting GyrB/ParE with activity against gram-negative and multi-drug resistant bacterial pathogens;

Concluding preclinical activities related to our hepatitis C non-nucleoside polymerase inhibitors and antibiotics for gram-positive bacterial
infections, while continuing to pursue out-licensing opportunities for these programs;

Completing, over the next several quarters, our evaluation of various clinical and regulatory pathways for vapendavir to determine whether to
independently continue its late-stage clinical development for the reduction of exacerbations caused by HRV in patients with moderate to severe
asthma or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (“COPD”);

Pursuing in-licensing, acquisition, co-development, and other similar collaborative clinical-stage development opportunities to better balance our
pipeline; and

Reduce our cost structure to provide flexibility to deploy additional resources toward clinical-stage development programs.

In connection with the adoption of this strategy we have reduced our workforce by approximately 30%. As a result, we anticipate recording a charge of
approximately $2.0 million in the fourth quarter of our 2013 fiscal year (our fiscal year-end is June 30) related to the cost of one-time termination benefits.

Merger between Nabi Biopharmaceuticals and Biota Holdings Limited. On November 8, 2012, we announced that Nabi and Biota Holdings Limited had
completed a merger, resulting in Biota Holdings Limited becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nabi, and the Company being renamed Biota
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Former Biota Holdings Limited shareholders retained approximately 83% of the Company’s shares of common stock, while former
Nabi shareholders retained approximately 17% as consideration for Nabi’s net assets, which consisted primarily of $27 million in net cash on the date of the
merger.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Financial Condition and Operations discusses our financial results, which (except to the extent
described in the Notes thereto) have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience, current economic and industry conditions, and on various other factors that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. This forms the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following critical accounting
policies require significant judgment and estimates:

. Use of Estimates

. Revenue Recognition

. Research and Development Expense
. Share-Based Compensation

In February and March 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. issued ASU 2013-02 and 2013-05, we adopted ASU 2013-02 and we do not anticipate the future
adoption of ASU 2013-05 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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Results of Operations
Three Months Ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012

Summary. We reported net income of $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 as compared to net loss of $2.0 million for the same period in
2012. The $2.2 million improvement from a net loss in 2012 to net income in 2013 was primarily the result of a $5.4 million increase in revenue and a $0.1
million decrease in income tax expense offset, in part by a $2.8 million increase in total operating expenses, a $0.5 million decrease in interest income.

Although we reported net income in the two most recent quarters, we generally expect to incur net losses in the near-term as we intend to continue to support
the preclinical and clinical development of our product candidates.

Revenue. Revenue increased to $12.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 from $7.1 million in the same period of 2012, primarily as a result
of earning a commercial milestone and increased service revenue in 2013. The following table summarizes the key components of our revenue for the three
months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Royalty revenue — Relenza™ $1.7 $1.7
— Inavir® 3.2 3.6
Commercial milestone — Inavir® 29 -
Service revenue under BARDA contract 4.5 1.7
Revenue under other contracts, grants and collaborations 0.2 0.1
Total revenue $12.5 $7.1

The net sales of Inavir® (laninamivir octanoate) in Japan surpassed a key threshold in the three month period ended March 31, 2013, resulting in us earning a
$2.9 million commercial milestone payment from Daiichi Sankyo. Service revenue under the BARDA contract increased due to the advancement of the
laninamivir octanoate program toward Phase 2 clinical development and the expansion of the underlying activities covered under the contract. We anticipate
that our revenue under the BARDA contract will continue to increase, assuming the program continues to advance further into clinical development.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue represents expenses incurred by us in performing services and activities pursuant to government contracts or grants for
which we record related revenue and expense on the gross basis of accounting. Cost of revenue increased to $4.1 million for the three months ended March
31, 2013 from $1.8 million in the same period in 2012, due principally to the advancement of the laninamivir octanoate program under the BARDA contract
and the expansion of the underlying activities covered under that contract. We anticipate that our cost of revenue under the BARDA contract will continue to
increase assuming the program continues to advance further into clinical development.

Research and development expense. Research and development expense decreased to $4.9 million in the three months ended March 31, 2013 from $5.7
million in the same period in 2012. The following table summarizes the key components of our research and development expense for the three months ended
March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Direct preclinical, clinical and product development expense $1.7 $2.3
Salaries, benefits and share-based compensation expense 1.5 2.0
Depreciation and facility-related expense 0.9 0.9
Other expenses 0.8 0.5
Total research and development expense $4.9 $5.7

21




Direct preclinical, clinical and product development expense decreased by $0.6 million largely due to the completion of the vapendavir Phase 2 clinical trial
during the quarter ended June 30, 2012. Salaries, benefits and share-based compensation expense decreased by $0.5 million due to more staff being deployed
on the laninamivir octanoate program under the BARDA contract, which resulted in their related costs being reflected in Cost of Revenue.

General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense increased to $3.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 from
$2.2 million for the same period in 2012. The following table summarizes the components of our general and administrative expense for the three months
ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Salaries, benefits and share-based compensation expense 1.4 0.7
Professional and legal expense 0.7 0.2
Other expenses 1.3 1.3
Total general and administrative expense $3.4 $2.2

Salaries, benefits and share-based compensation expense increased by $0.7 million primarily related to the addition of executive and administrative staff in
the U.S. Professional and legal expense increased by $0.5 million due to the integration and transition of our operations subsequent to the merger in
November 2012.

Non-operating income. Non-operating income decreased by $0.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 as compared to the same period in
2012, as a result of a decrease in interest income due to lower available interest rates in 2013 as compared to 2012, as well as lower average cash balances
held in 2013 as compared to 2012.
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Nine Months Ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012

Summary. We reported a net loss of $2.2 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2013, as compared to net loss of $13.3 million for the same period in
2012. This $11.1 million improvement in our net loss in 2013 was primarily the result of a $11.1 million increase in revenue, a $7.8 million gain we recorded
pursuant to the merger, and the receipt of a $4.4 million in research and development credits, offset in part by a $10.2 million increase in operating expenses,
a $1.4 million decrease in interest income and a $0.4 million decrease in income tax benefits.

We expect to generally incur net losses in the near-term as we intend to continue to support the research and the preclinical and clinical development of our
product candidates.

Revenue. Revenue increased to $24.4 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2013 from $13.3 million in the same period of 2012, primarily as a result
of a commercial milestone we earned and an increase in service revenue in 2013. The following table summarizes the key components of our revenue for the
nine months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Nine Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Royalty revenue — Relenza™ $2.7 $2.4
— Inavir® 4.1 4.3
Commercial milestone — Inavir® 2.9 -
Service revenue under BARDA contract 13.7 6.2
Revenue under other contracts, grants and collaborations 1.0 0.4
Total revenue $24.4 $13.3

The net sales of Inavir® (laninamivir octanoate) in Japan surpassed a key threshold in the nine month period ended March 31, 2013, resulting in us earning a
$2.9 million commercial milestone payment from Daiichi Sankyo. Service revenue under the BARDA contract increased due to the advancement of the
laninamivir octanoate program and the expansion of the underlying activities covered under the contract. We anticipate that our revenue under the BARDA
contract will continue to increase assuming the program continues to advance further into clinical development. Revenue under other contracts, grants and
collaborations increased in 2013 due to a new government grant of $0.2 million and an increase in other research collaborations for $0.3 million.

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue represents expenses incurred by us in performing services and activities pursuant to government contracts or grants for
which we record related revenue and expense on the gross basis of accounting. Cost of revenue increased to $12.7 million for the nine months ended March
31, 2013 from $6.0 million in the same period in 2012, due principally to the advancement of the laninamivir octanoate program under the BARDA contract,
and the expansion of the underlying activities covered under the contract. We anticipate that our costs of providing services under the BARDA contract will
continue to increase, assuming the program continues to advance further into clinical development.

Research and development expense. Research and development expense decreased to $13.6 million in the nine months ended March 31, 2013 from $17.8
million in the same period in 2012. The following table summarizes the components of our research and development expense for the nine months ended
March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Nine Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Direct preclinical, clinical and product development expense $4.2 $7.6
Salaries, benefits and share-based compensation expense 5.8 6.6
Depreciation and facility-related expense 2.7 2.7
Other expenses 0.9 0.9
Total research and development expense $13.6 $17.8
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Direct preclinical, clinical and product development expense decreased by $3.4 million in 2013 due largely to the completion of the vapendavir Phase 2
clinical trial during the quarter ended June 30, 2012 representing a $2.8 million reduction, as well as a reduction of $1.4 million in preclinical costs associated
with our antibacterial and hepatitis C programs. Salaries, benefits and share-based compensation expense decreased by $0.8 million due to more staff being
deployed on to the laninamivir octanoate program under the BARDA contract, which resulted in their related costs being reflected in Cost of Revenue.

General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense increased to $13.7 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2013 from $5.9
million for the same period in 2012. The following table summarizes the components of our general and administrative expense for the nine months ended
March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Nine Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Merger-related expense $4.6 $-
Salaries, benefits and share-based compensation expense 5.0 3.0
Professional and legal expense 1.4 0.7
Other expenses 2.7 2.2
Total general and administrative expense $13.7 $5.9

Salaries, benefits and share-based compensation expense increased due to a $1.6 million increase related to the addition of executive and administrative staff
in the U.S,, and an increase in other personnel-related expenses. Professional and legal expense increased by $0.7 million due to the integration and transition
of our operations subsequent to the merger in November Other expenses increased due to generally higher insurance, rent and maintenance costs.

Non-operating income. Non-operating income increased by $10.8 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2013 as compared to the same period in
2012, due to primarily to a $7.8 million gain we recorded related to the merger (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements), as well as the receipt of
$4.4 million with respect to an Australian research and development credit (see Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements). Interest income decreased by
$1.4 million due to lower available interest rates in 2013 as compared to 2012, as well as lower average cash balances held in 2013 compared to 2012. We do
not expect to receive additional research and development credits in 2013 fiscal year as we anticipate our revenue will exceed the qualifying revenue
threshold.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

For the nine months ended March 31, 2013, cash and cash equivalents increased by $16.5 million, from $53.8 million to $70.3 million. This increase was
primarily the result of $32.7 million of cash received as a result of the merger as described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, offset in part by
cash used for operating activities and other investing activities during the period.

Net cash used in operating activities was $16.4 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2013, which reflected (i) our net loss for the period of $2.2
million that included a gain of $7.8 million we recorded as a result of the merger, (ii) an increase in net operating assets of $8.7 million, (iii) a net decrease in
operating liabilities of $2.4 million, offset in part by non-cash charges for share-based compensation and derpreciation an amortization of $4.7 million. Our
net loss resulted largely from our funding of contract services; research and development activities including basic research: conducting preclinical studies;
manufacturing and formulation expenses; incurring ongoing general and administrative expenses; as well as expenses associated with the merger, offset to a
large degree by contract service, royalty and other revenue from grants and collaborations, a $7.8 million gain we recorded pursuant to the merger, the receipt
of a $4.4 million research and development credit, and interest income. The net change in operating assets and liabilities reflects a $8.6 million increase in
accounts receivable due to a sales milestone earned and contract revenue billed, a $0.4 million increase in prepaid expenses, a $1.6 million decrease in
accounts payable and accrued expenses and a decrease of $1.0 million in accrued severance obligations related to the merger, offset in part by a $0.2 million
increase in deferred revenue.
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Net cash provided from investing activities during the nine months ended March 31, 2013 was $32.2 million, which was largely due to the cash of $32.7
million we received as pursuant to the merger, offset in part by $0.5 million for the purchase of laboratory and computer equipment.

At March 31, 2013, our cash and cash equivalents totaled $70.3 million. Our cash and cash equivalents are currently held in the form of short-term deposits
with large U.S. and Australian banks. Based on our current strategy and operating plan, and considering the potential costs associated with advancing the
preclinical and clinical development of our product candidates, we believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents of $70.3 million as of March 31, 2013,
along with the anticipated proceeds from existing royalty-bearing licenses, from our contract with BARDA, and from other existing license and collaboration
agreements will enable us to operate for a period of at least 12 months from March 31, 2013.

Our future funding requirements beyond 12 months are difficult to determine and will depend on a number of factors, including:
the variability of future royalty revenue we may receive from existing royalty-bearing license agreements;
we continue to receive sufficient revenue under our contract with BARDA to advance the development of laninamivir octanoate in the U.S.;
the development timelines and plans for our product candidates, including any changes to those timelines, plans or our strategy;

the variability, timing and costs associated with conducting clinical trials for our product candidates, the rate of enrolment in such clinical trials, and
the results of these clinical trials:

the variability, timing and costs associated with conducting preclinical studies, and the results of these studies;

the cost of scaling up, formulating and manufacturing preclinical and clinical trial materials to evaluate our product candidates;

whether we receive regulatory approval to advance or begin the clinical development of our product candidates in a timely manner, if at all;
the cost and time to obtain regulatory approvals required to advance the development of our product candidates;

the scope and size of our research and development efforts;

our pursuit, timing and the terms of any in-licensing, acquisition, co-development, and other similar collaborative clinical-stage development
opportunities to better balance our pipeline;

the size and cost of general and administrative function to manage our operations, including the infrastructure to support being a publicly-traded
company; and

the cost of filing, prosecuting, and enforcing patent and other intellectual property claims.

We currently do not have any commitments for future funding, nor do we anticipate that we will generate significant revenue, aside from existing revenue
from royalty-bearing arrangements, and contract services. Therefore, in order to meet our anticipated liquidity needs beyond 12 months to support the
development of our product candidates, or possibly sooner in the event we enter into other transactions or revise our strategy or development plans, we may
need to raise or secure additional capital. We would expect to do so primarily through the sale of additional common stock or other equity securities, as well
as through proceeds from future licensing agreements, strategic collaborations, forms of debt financing, or any other financing vehicle. Funds from these
sources may not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all, and our failure to raise such funds could have a material adverse impact on our future
business strategy and plans, financial condition and results of operations. If adequate funds are not available to us on acceptable terms in the future, we may
be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or more of our research and development programs, or delay or curtail our preclinical studies and
clinical trials, or reduce our internal cost structure. If additional capital is not available to us on acceptable terms, we may need to obtain funds through license
agreements, or collaborative or partner arrangements pursuant to which we will likely relinquish rights to certain product candidates that we might otherwise
choose to develop or commercialize independently, or be forced to enter into such arrangements earlier than we would prefer, which would likely result in
less favorable transaction terms. Additional equity financings may be dilutive to holders of our common stock, and debt financing, if available, may involve
significant payment obligations and restrictive covenants that restrict how we operate our business.
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ITEM 3: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There has been no material change in the Company’s assessment of its sensitivity to market risk since its presentation set forth in Item 7A "Quantitive and
Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risks" in it's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2011, except as updated and
supplemented in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2012.

ITEM 4: Controls and Procedures
Our Chief Executive Officer currently acts as our Principal Financial Officer.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer, of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end
of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were
effective.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our securities involves a risk of loss. You should carefully consider the risks factors included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended December 31, 2012, as well as the risk below, together with other information in this Quarterly Report, in evaluating our business, financial
condition and our prospects. The risks and uncertainties described therein and herein are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial may also impact our business and prospects.

We have adopted a strategy whereby we plan to pursue in-licensing, acquisition, co-development, and other similar collaborative clinical-stage
development opportunities to better balance our pipeline. We may be unable to implement this strategy on a timely basis, if at all, which could harm our
business.

The number of clinical-stage development programs available for in-licensing, acquisition or co-development are limited, and there are numerous other large
pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical companies competing for these same opportunities. Many of these companies have greater capital resources,
experience and capabilities than we have. We may not be able to successfully identify or execute a transaction for any suitable in-licensing, acquisition or co-
development candidates, or be able to do so on terms acceptable to us. Any transactions we may complete in the future or potential future strategic decisions
we make may disappoint investors and depress the price of our common stock and the value of your investment in our common stock, it may require us to
raise capital to acquire or support the transaction, incur acquisition fees or other non-recurring charges, and may pose significant integration challenges and/or
management and business disruptions, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business and financial results. Further we may not be able to
successfully integrate a transaction in a suitable time frame or at all.
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ITEM 2: UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On April 1, 2013, the Company entered into a letter agreement for a stock option grant to Peter Azzarello, in conjunction with his employment with the
Company. The Company granted to Mr. Azzarello, as an inducement grant, an option to purchase 85,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an
exercise price of $3.98 with a ten year term. The option will vest in four equal installments on the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the grant.
These securities were granted outside the Company’s 2007 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan in a transaction exempt from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

The exhibits to this report are listed in the Exhibit Index beginning on Page 30 hereof.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Date: May 10, 2013 By: /s/ Russell H Plumb
Russell H Plumb
President and Chief Executive
Officer (Principal Executive Officer
and Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporation by Reference

Exhibit Filed with Date
Number Exhibit Title this Form Form File No. Filed
10-Q
3.1 Composite Certificate of Incorporation of Biota 10-Q 001-35285- 02/11/13
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 13592912
3.2 By-Laws of Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 10-Q 001-35285- 02/11/13
13592912
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate 10-K 000-04829- 03/15/07
08651814
10.57 Collaboration and License Agreement, dated September X
29, 2003, between Biota Holdings Limited and Sankyo
Co., Ltd.
10.6F Amendment #1 to Collaboration and License Agreement, X

dated June 30, 2005, between Biota Holdings Limited,
Biota Scientific Management Pty. Ltd. and Sankyo
Company, Ltd.

10.7 Amendment #2 to Collaboration and License Agreement, X
dated March 27, 2009, between Biota Holdings Limited,
Biota Scientific Management Pty. Ltd. and Daiichi Sankyo
Company, Limited.

10.81 Commercialization Agreement, dated March 27, 2009, X
between Biota Holdings Limited, Biota Scientific
Management Pty. Ltd and Daiichi Sankyo Company, Ltd.

10.97 Contract, dated March 31, 2011, between Biota Scientific X
Management Pty. Ltd. and Office of Biomedical Advanced
Research and Development Authority within the Office of
the Assistant Secretary for preparedness and Response at
the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal X
Financial Officer Required Under Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

32.1%* Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal X
Financial Officer Required Under Rule 13a-14(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18
U.S.C. 81350

101%* The following materials from the Biota Pharmaceuticals, X
Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
March 31, 2013 formatted in Extensible Business
Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) the Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2013 and
June 30, 2012, (ii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements
of Operations for the Three and Nine Months Ended
March 31, 2013, and March 31, 2012, (iii) the Condensed
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Nine Months
Ended March 31, 2013, and March 31, 2012, (iv)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
Nine Months Ended March 31, 2013, and March 31, 2012,
and (v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements

* This certification is being furnished solely to accompany this quarterly report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc., whether made
before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.

Hok Furnished, not filed.



T Confidential treatment has been requested for certain information contained in this exhibit. Such information has been
omitted and will be provided separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Exhibit 10.5

Certain information contained in this document, marked by ***, is filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

Gog9z

Collaboration and License Agreement
Between
Biota Holdings Limited
and
Sankyo Co., Ltd.

THIS AGREEMENT, effective as of September 29, 2003, between Biota
Holdings Limited (Biota), a corporation erganized and existing under the laws of
Vietoria, Australia, with offices at 616 St. Kilda Road Melbourne, Victoria,
Australia, and Sankyo Co., Ltd. (Sankyo), a joint stock company organized and
existing under the laws of Japan, with offices at 3-5-1, Nihenbashihoncho,
Chuoku, Tokyo, Japan sets forth the agreement between the parties as follows:

Recitals

1. Biota has expertise, know-how and patents in the field of long-acting
neuraminidase inhibitors (LANI Compound(s]), and has synthesized and
optimized several LANI Compounds which may be suitable for preclinical and
elinical development, and wishes to collaborate with a key partner in the

development of LANI Compounds for Commercialization (defined below)
worldwide,

2 Sankyo also has expertise, know-how and patents in the field of LANI
Compounds and has developed its own LANI Compound to the extent that it has
completed Phase 1 clinical trials of one LANI Compound in the United Kingdom,
and is preparing to submit the LANI Compound for Phase IT elinical trials,

3. The Parties desire to collaborate and work together, using said expertise,
know-how and patents to develop and market a product or products using the
compounds described above for the treatment and prevention of influenza or other
viral infections.

4. The Parties have executed a Letter of Intent which is dated May 23, 2003
which outlines the basic framework upon which the Parties will work together
and which is now superceded in its entirety by the agreement set forth below,

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and




promises contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the
Parties hereto agree as follows:

Definitions
1. “Affiliate” of a Party hereto means any entity that controls, is controlled

by or is under common control with such Party. For purposes of this definition, a
Party shall be deemed to control another entity if it owns or controls, directly or
indirectly, more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting equity of the other entity (or
pther comparable ownership intexest for an entity other than a corporation) or if it
has management control of the other entity.

2. “Apreement” means this decument together with any appendixes, exhibits,
schedules or specifications which are attached hereto and made a part of this
document at the time of its execution, together with any amendments hereto
which are signed by authorized representatives of the Parties and incorporated as
a part of this document.

3. “API" means the active pharmaceutical ingredient wusing LANI
Compounds and which is incorporated into the Products.

4. “Biota Technology” means, to the extent necessary or useful for the
Development, Manufacture, use or sale of the LANT Compounds, (a) all Patents
that Biota Controls as of the Effective Date or during the term of the Agreement
and which shall be included in Appendix A, and (b} Information that is not
included in the Patents described in the preceding clause (a) and that Biota
Controls on the Effective Date or during the term of the Agreement.

;ﬁ, “Clinical Development” means all clinical and regulatory work required
from the Development Phase and up to Marketing Approval.

6. “Commereialization Phase” means the period after Marketing Approval
through the term of the Agreement. :

7. “Commercialize or Commercialization™ means to promote, sell, distribute,
and otherwise market a Product or Products, and to engage in Product
Manufacturing.

8. “Control” means, with respect to any Information or intellectual property
right, possession by a Party of the ability (whether by ownership, license or
otherwise) to grant access, a license or a sub-license to such Information or
intellectual property right without viclating the terms of any agreement or other
arrangement with any third party as of the time such Party would first be
required hereunder to grant the other Party such access, license or sublicense.
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9. “Development” means both the pre-clinical and clinical development of a
LANI Compound.

1. “Development Candidate” means a LANI Compound listed in Appendix E
or that is developed or optimized by Biota or Sankyo during the term of this
Agreement and which shall be added te Appendix E, and that the Parties
mutually agree is suitable for Clinical Development.

11. “Development Phase" means the period of this Agreement from the
Effective Date to filing of a registration dossier for Marketing Approval.

12. “Effective Date” means the date shown in the first paragraph of this
Agreement.

13.  “Field” means the prevention andfor treatment of influenza virus types A
and B and other viral infections with a LANI Compound.

14. “Information” mesns all tangible and intangible techniques, technology,
practices, trade secrets, methods, knowledge, know-how, skill, experience, test
data and results (including pharmacological, toxicological and clinical test data
and results), analytical and quality control data, results or descriptions, software
and algorithms relating to the LANI Products Controlled by a Party.

15. “Invention” means any idea, design, concept, technique, process, method,
composition of matter or discovery, whether or not patentable, copyrightable, or
otherwise protectable with intellectual property law which is conceived of,
discovered, developed, created, made or reduced to practice during the term of
this Agreement which is useful to the activities contemplated hereunder.

16. “LANI Compounds” means the less than once per day dosage
neuraminidase inhibitor compounds set forth in Appendix D, and any such
compounds which may be developed or optimized by Biota or Sankyo during the
term of this Agreement and which shall be added to Appendix D,

17.  “Laws’ means collectively all laws, rules and regulations as amended from
time to time applicable to the Development, Commercialization and Manufacture
of LANI Compounds and the Product.

18. “Lead Compound” means the LANI Compound selected by the Parties for
Development and Commercialization from among the Development Candidates,
and which is shown in Appendix E, which may be amended from time to time as
mutually agreed by the Parties.

19. “Licensee[s]” means a third party or parties which will be granted a license
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from the Parties to develop, Manufacture and sell the Products in accordance with
the terms and conditions which are set forth in the License Template.

20. “License Agreement” means, with reapect to the Parties and a Licensee,
an agreement executed between the Parties and a Licensee after negotiations
based on the License Template.

21. “Lirense Template” means the sample agreement which is attached hereto
as Appendix F and which will be used to negotiate licensing terms with Licensees
and which may only be modified upon mutual agreement by the Parties.

22, “Licensing Committee” means the joint committee established by Biota
and Sankyo in accordance with this Agreement for the oversight and governance
of the relationship between Biota and Sankyo on the one hand, and Licensees on
the other.

23, “Manufacture or Manufactured” means with respect to each of AP and
Product, all the activities relating to production of APT, LANI Compounds and/or
Products, including, but not limited to, purchasing and release of raw materials,
manufacturing, milling, quality control and assurance of all production steps,
finishing, filling, labeling, packaping, release, holding and storage and the tests
and analyses conducted in connection therewith.

24.  ‘“Marketing Approval” means any and all approvals (including, if required,
price and reimbursement approvals), licenses, registrations, or authorizations of
any regulatory agency, department, bureau or other government entity in a
jurisdiction (o, if applicable, the European Union as a whole) that is necessary to
market a Product in such jurisdiction.

26. “Net Sales” means the gross amount invoiced by a Party, its Affiliates and
any respective Licensees to third parties that are not Affiliates or Licensees of the
selling party (unless such Affiliate or Licensee is the end user of such Produect, in
which case the amount billed therefor shall be deemed to be the amount that
would be billed to a third party in an arm’s length transaction) for sales of
Products to third parties, less the following items, as allecable to such Product Gf
not previously deducted from the amount invoiced): (i) trade discounts, eredits or
allowances: (ii) credits or allowances additionally granted upon returns,
rejections or recalls (except where any such recall arises out of a Party's, its
Affiliate’s or Licensee’s gross negligence, willful misconduct or fraud); {iii) freight,
shipping and insurance charges: (iv) taxes, duties or other governmental tariffs
{other than income taxes); and (v) government mandated rebates.

26,  “Party” means either Biota or Sankyo. “Parties” means both Biota and
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Sankyo.

27, “Patent[s]” means (a)patents filed in the country of origin,
re-examinations, re-issues, renewals, extensions and term restorations, and
ineluding foreign counterparts of any of the foregoing, and (b} pending
applications for patents filed in the country of origin, including, without
limitation, provisional applications, continuations, continuations-in-part,
divisional and substitute applications, including, without limitation, inventors’
certificates, and foreign counterparts of any of the foregoing in each case to the
extent they are applicable to the LANI Compounds and the Field that are owned
or Controlled by a Party that either exist as of the effective date or claim
Inventions owned or Controlled by a Party and that arise out of the activities
contemplated under this Agreement. Existing Patents owned by Biota and
Sankyo as of the Effective Date are set forth in Appendixes A and B, respectively.
Any new Patents which come into existence during the term of this Agreement
and which relate to 2 LANI Compound or Product shall be added to Appendix C
{Joint Patents).

98, “Product[s]” means a finished pharmaceutical product that contains a
LANI Compound.

29, “Regulatory Authority” means any health regulatory authority in any
country that helds responsibility for approving applications or granting
authorizations to commence human clinical testing of a drug and/or for granting
repulatory Marketing Approval for a Produet in such country, and any
successor(s) theretao,

30. “Sankyo Technology” means, to the extent necessary or useful for the
Development, Manufacture, use or sale of LANI Compounds, (a) all Patents that
Sankyo Controls as of the Effective Date or during the term of the Agreement and
which =hall be included in Appendix B, and (b} Information that is not included in
the Patents described in the preceding clanse {a) and that Sankyo Controls on the
Effective Date or during the term of the Agreement.

31,  “Substancels]” means compounds, compositions of matter, cells, cell lines,
assays, animal models and physical, biological or chemieal material relating to
the LANI Compounds.




1. Collaboration

1.1 The Parties will use their best efforts and work together to seck
one or more Licensees to develop the Products on a worldwide basis using all the
Patents, Information and Substanees in order to maximize commercial return to
the Parties through the safe and effective use of Products,

2. License Grants
2.1.  Sankyo License

2.1.1. Biota hereby grants to Sankyo a license under the Biota
Technology to develop, make, have made, use, sell, have sold, offer for sale and
import Products worldwide for the Field (the “Sankyo License”).

2.1.2. The Sankyo License shall be exclusive to Sankyo, except as
provided hereunder, and shall include the right to sublicense under the terms and
conditions provided herein,

2.2,  Biota License

2.2.1. Sankyo hereby grants to Biota a license under the Sankyo
Technology to develop, make, have made, use, sell, have sold, offer for sale and
import Products worldwide, except in Japan, for the Field (the “Biota License”).

22,2, The Biota License shall be exclusive to Biota, except as
provided hereunder, and shall include the right to sublicense under the terms and
conditions provided herein.

23 Immediate Disclosure and Cooperation

2.3.1 Upon execution of this Agreement, each Party will use its
best efforts to immediately dizclose and supply to the other Party in the English
language its respective Techmology, Information, Substances and any other
materials that will assist the other Party in the performance of this Agreement.

2.3.2 Each Party will cooperate fully with the other Party in
interpreting the materials disclosed and will assist the other Party in carrying out
its duties under this Agreement.

24. Noncompele

2.4.1. During the term of this Agreement, unless otherwise
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agreed between the Parties, each Party agrees that neither for itself or through its
Affiliates will it develop, commercialize, or otherwise handle or deal with, directly
or indirectly, or enter into any collaboration, license or development agreement or
any other arrangement with any party other than the other Party to develop,
Commercialize, or otherwise handle or deal with any Product for the Field
{(“Competitive Product”) in any country. The restrictions in this Section 2.4.1 shall
not apply to products already manufactured, distributed, sold, bought or
otherwise dealt with by each Party or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date.

3. Development and Marketing Licensees
2.1, Licensing Committes

3.1.1. The Parties will collaborate to find appropriate Licenzees
on a worldwide basis, will negotiate and execute License Agreement(s) with the
Licensees, and will establish the Licensing Committee, The Licensing Committee
shall be comprised of four {(4) members, with two (2) representatives appointed by
each Party.

3.1.2. The Licensing Committee will oversee the sclection of
Licensees and the development of license terms within the scope of the License
Template. Biota and Sankyo will cooperate in finding appropriate Licensees for
each market and will have joint governance and equal opportunity to contribute
to negotiations with Licensees through the Licensing Committee.
3.2  Meetings and decisions of Licensing Committee

3.2.1. TUnless otherwise determined by the Licensing Committee,
the Licensing Committee shall meet at least semi-annually alternately at
locations to be determined, either Sankyo's offices in Japan or Biota's offices in
California or Australia, the latter to be determined by Biota. At other times, the
locations or manner of the meetings {e.g., telephone conferences) shall be
determined by the Licensing Committee. All direct and indirect costs and
expenses for representatives of the Parties to attend Licemsing Committee
meetings will be for each Party's account.

322 All actions and decisions reserved for the Licensing
Committee will require the unanimous agresment of all of its members. If the
Licensing Committee fails to reach unanimous agreement, then each individual
member of the Licensing Committee shall have one vote to cast in resolving the
matter by majority vote. If the Licensing Committee fails to reach a decision
through majority vote, then the matter shall be referred to an executive at Biota
and an executive at Sankyo with authority to settle the matter within thirty (30)
daye. If the matter is not resolved within the thirty (30} day period following
submission of the matter to those executives, then the matter shall be referred to
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the Chief Executive Officer of Biota and the Chief Executive Officer of Sankyo for
final amicable settlement between the Parties.

3.3.  Relationship with Licensees

3.3.1. The Parties will negotiate with Licensees subject to the
license plans and policies determined by the Licensing Committee and within the
terms and spirit of the License Template, The Parties acknowledge that Licensees
may, at Licensees' discretion, implement certain activities, including but not
limited to Development, Manufacture and sale of the Products subject to the
terms and conditions of the License Agreement. However, to avoid confusion in
dealing with Licensees, the Party who introduces the Licensee will take the lead
in conducting negotiations with and supervising that Licensee, unless otherwise
agreed by the Parties.

3.3.2. It is understood that hoth Parties have had preliminary
discussions with potential Licensees and that each Party has disclosed all such
diseussions to the other. Each Party is encouraged to disclose to such potential
Licensees the fact that the Parties have entered into this Agreement and the
impact which this Agreement may have on any such discussion.

3.4. Guidance to Licensees

3.4.1, The Parties will offer their input and expertise to
Licensees in accordance with the provisions of the License Template.

3.5. Commercialization Phase

8.5.1. Cooperation: The Parties agree to cooperate prior to and
during the Commercialization Phase and to coordinate with, and with the
exception of confidential business information, share information with the
Licensee concerning any market data, marketing plans, promotienal materials,
labeling, selling messages, promotional strategies, pricing strategies,
post-marketing studies, regulatory activities and any other regulatory, clinical or
marketing data or plans.

3.5.2. Reporting: Each of Sankyo and Biota will provide the other
with quarterly reports of Net Sales of the Products by such Party or its Affiliates
worldwide,




4, Marketing by Sankyo and Biota
4.1, Japan

4.1.1. Sankyo may elect to have the exclusive right to market the
Produets in Japan, with a right to sublicense to a third party at its discretion.

42, TUsa

4.2.1. Although the parties intend to license the Products to a
third party in the United States under an exclusive license, the parties will retain
the right to designate a eo-marketer and/or terminate the license to Licensees in
the event that the Licensee does not achieve the goals agreed by the Parties and
Licensees in that market. The Parties agree that either Party or its Affiliate may
be designated as the co-marketer.

4.3 Other Markets

4.3.1, In all other markets where the Parties are able
contractually to appoint exclusive Licensees, the Parties intend to appoint
exclusive Licensees for each market, but will retain the right to terminate the
Licensees andior grant additional licenses to a third party (including, without
limitation, Sankyo, Biota or one of their Affiliates) in any market, if the appointed
Licensees do not meet the agreed goals in that market.

5. License Fees, Milestone Payments and Royalties

5.1. The Parties will divide all license fees, milestone payments,
royalties, equity and other payments in cash or in kind (hereafter referred to as
Consideration) received from Licensees on a fifty/fifty basis,

5.2. In addition, for any sales made by Sankyo in Japan or by either
Party or its Affiliate in the USA, the Parties will pay each other non-refundable
royalties at a rate which is fifty percent (50%) of the rate paid by any other
Licensee in the same country. In the event there is no other Licensee in the
country, the rate shall be fifty percent (50%) of the highest rate paid by any
Licenzee under this Agreement.

5.3, Records and Heports
5.3.1. The Parties agree that within sixty (60) days of the end of
each calendar quarter after first commercial sale of the Product by a Party in the

Territory, such party shall furnish to the other Party reports, in a form to be
agreed upon, showing for the immediately preceding calendar quarter, among
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other things, the gross sales and Net Sales of each Product sold and the royalties
that have accrued hereunder with respect thereto and the amount of withholding
taxes on the royalty payments, Such reports shall be rendered for the term of this
Agreement and shall be due .

£.3.2. The Parties shall keep proper bocks of account with
reference to their respective sales of any Product under this Agreement and with
reference to any sales by Licensees that are reported to the Parties. When
requested by the other Party, such books of account shall be made available at
reasonable times during normal business hours for audit by a certified public
accountant selected by the auditing party and acceptable to the audited party
{zuch acceptance not to be unreasonably withheld) (including the right to inspect,
copy, and make abstracts therefrom), solely for the purpese of verifying the
royalties due or paid, or for determining complianee with other provisions of this
Agreement. Any expense incurred by a Party conducting such audit shall be
borne by said Party unless discrepancies attributable to the audited Party
exceeding the cost of the audit are found, in which case the other Party shall pay
the auditing party the diserepaney and reimburse the auditing Party for the costs
of the aud:it.

5.4. The Party owing the reyalty (the “Payor”) shall permit its books of
account or records of sale to be inspected at any reasonable time during normal
business hours by a certified public accountant selected by the other Party (the
“Payee”) and acceptable to the Payor (such acceptance not to be unreasonably
withheld) solely for the purpose of verifying the amounts due hereunder.

5.5. All payments under this Agreement shall be made payable in U.S.
dollars and shall be by appropriate electronic funds transfer in immediately
available funds to such bank accountant as the Payee shall designate and on a
date no later than when rovalty reports are due under Section 5.8.1 above. Each
payment shall reference this Agreement and identify the obligation under this
Agreement that the payment is to satisfy. Any and all expenses for such payment
incurred by the Payee shall be borne by the Payee.

5.6. Any payments due hereunder that are not paid on or before the
date such payments are due shall bear intexest, at the lower of one percentage
point above the Prime Rate of interest as reported in the New York edition of the
Wall Street Jowrnal on the date the payment is due or the maximum allowed by
law, compounded monthly until such payment is made.

5.7. Any taxes or similar charges levied or assessed in a territory on
the Payee on the royalty payments shall be borne by Payor. However, Payor has
the right to deduct from the royvalty payments such income taxes or charges paid
thereon for which Payee is entitled to receive a eredit under income tax laws in
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effect as of the time payment is made. In these cases, Payor will promptly provide
Payee with an original receipt for such tax payments {or a certified copy, if the
original is not available). Payor's failure to provide Payee with such
documentation as Payee determines is acceptable for tax purposes shall preclude
Payor from deducting such taxes or charges from the gross royalty otherwise due.

5.8. Payee may require such other account statements or reports from
Payor as may be reasonable,

6. Expenses

6.1. Al direct and indirect costs and expenses, including travel and
legal expenses associated with finding the Licensees and executing License
Agreements, incurred under the negotiations with Licensees subject to the license
plans and policies approved by the Licensing Committee will be borne by the
Party who negotiates with the Licensees.

6.2. The Parties will negetiate with Licensee under the terms and
conditions that all direct and indirect costs and expenses incurred under the
activities eontemplated under the License Agreement, including but not limited to
Development, Manufacture and marketing of the Products, implemented by
Licensees subject to the License Agreement shall be borne by Licensees as
provided in the License Template.

7. Intellectual Property
T.1. Owmnership and Treatment of Intellectual Properties

7.1.1. The Inventions, patent applications and the patents
regarding the LANI Compounds or Products generated by Sankyo or Biota after
the Effective Date of this Agreement (eollectively, the “Joint Intellectual
Properties”) shall be owned by the Parties, jointly. Each of Biota and Sankyo shall
own an undivided one-half interest in Joint Intellectual Properties, as defined
under United States patent law.

) 7.1.2. In the case of Inventions owned jointly by the Parties in
accordanece with Section 7.1.1 (“Joint Inventions”), the Parties shall agree on
whether or not to secure patent protection and which Party shall bear the primary
responsibility for preparing, filing, prosecuting the Patents resulting therefrom.
The Parties shall equally share all expenses related thereto. Bach Party shall
promptly render all necessary aseistance reasonably requested by the other Party
in applving for and prosecuting the patent applications. In the event that the
Parties cannot agree whether or not to secure patent protection, the Party
desiring to sccure such protection may proceed to do 20 at its own expense and for
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its own benefit, provided, however, that if the benefit proves to be to the
advantage of both Parties, they shall negotiate in good faith the reasonable
compensation which should be paid to the Party which has borne said expenses.

7.1.3 In the event applications for patents on Joint Inventions
are filed, the Parties agree to cause, to the extent allowed by law, the inventors of
such Joint Inventions to execute assignments to the Parties specifying that such
Joint Inventions are to be owned equally and jointly as defined under United
States patent law by the Parties.

7.2, Maintenance of Patents and Applications

7.2.1. Each Party shall, at its own expense, diligently take all
gteps necessary to maintain its own Patents, in full force and effect, including but
not limited to a duty to diligently file and pursue any reissues and
re-examinations, if applicable, and to diligently prosecute any pending patent
applications. If either Party elects not to maintain any of its own Patents, it shall
promptly notify the other of that election and shall, at the other Party's request,
assign to the other Party all right, title and interest in and to such Patents of the
first Party. In such case, the other Party shall bear the cost and responsibility for
the maintenance of such Patents and the first Party shall render all necessary
assistance reasonably requested hy the other Party in maintaining such Patents.

7.2.2. Inthe event that Joint Inventionz are registered, the Party
who bears the primary responsibility for preparing, filing, prosecuting such Joint
Inventions shall bear the primary responsibility for performing the obligation to
maintain registered Patents resulting from such Jeint Inventions (“Joint
Patents”) as set forth in Section 7.2.1. Each Party shall promptly render all
necessary assistance reasonably requested by the other Party in performing such
obligation. Any and all costs and expenses reasonably necessary and useful to
perform such oblipation on any and all Jeint Patents shall be borne by both
Parties equally.

7.2.3. Notwithstanding the provision of Section 7.2.1, each Party
shall be relieved from its obligation to maintain its own Patents stipulated by
Section T.2.1, in the event that the Licensing Committee determines that any
Products related to such Patents will not undergo Development or be
Commercialized as a Development Candidate. If any Regulatory Authority
grants Marketing Approval for a Product to a Party in any country, any and all
costs and expenses reasonably necessary and useful to perform the obligation of
the maintenances stipulated by Section 7.2.1 on any and all Patents related to
such Produect in said country shall be borne by both Parties equally.

7.2.4. The Parties agree to cooperate to obtain, to the fullest
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extent allowed by Laws, an extension of exclusivity beyond the full term expiry
date of any Patents subject to this Agreement which the Parties mutually agree
may maximize commercial return of Products, The Parties shall provide all
relevant patent information to the Regulatory Authority or other applicable
agency as required by Laws.

7.2.5. Weither party shall take any legal action (whether by suit,
proceedings or etherwise) against the other Party concerning any infringement of
any Patents related to the LANI Compounds or the Products owned by the other
Party during the term of the Agreement.

7.3, Patent Infringement

7.31. In the event that either Party is charged with the
infringement of a patent or other intellectual properties, including but not limited
to utility model, design or trademark owned by any third party or receives any
filing of any elaim or suit by any third party related to the LANI Compounds or
the Products because of any of the activities necessary to the performance of its
obligations under this Agreement, said Party shall notify the other Party fully
and promptly in writing upon receipt of any knowledge or notice of the charge of
infringement, specifying its nature and by whom it was raised. The Parties shall
diseuss and agree in good faith how such elaim or suit should be handled, and
which Party shall initiate the defense of said claim or suit. The initiating Party
designated by said discussion ("Initiating Party”) shall prosecute and contrel such
claim or suit and periodically inform the other Party of its intended course of
action and shall provide the other with the opportunity to comment on significant
actions or elements of the Initiating Party. Neither Party shall settle any such
claim or suit witheut the prior written consent of the other, which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld or delaved, except as provided hereafter. Any costs
and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred by Initiating Party in
defending against such claim or suit shall be borne by bath Parties equally. In the
event the Parties cannot agree on the strategy for such action, including
settlement, etc., the Initiating Party shall make the final determination.

7.3.2. In the event that either Party becomes aware that the
Patents or other intellectual property, including but not limited to utility model,
design or trademark (collectively, “Intellectnal Properties” in this Section} are
threatened to be infringed or disputed by any third party, such Party shall notify
the other Party fully and promptly in writing, specifying the nature of the threat
and by whom they are threatened to be infringed or disputed. The Party owning
the Intellectual Property shall have the right, but not the obligation, to control
any action for infringement or defense of such third party claim against the
Intellectual Properties and the other Party shall provide reasonable and diligent
cooperation with said Party in all matters concerning such claim, including, if
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asked, to be a named party, and shall make available any relevant records,
documents, power of attorney, or information if requested to do so. All expenses
{including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred by said Party in defending its
Intellectual Properties against such infringement or legal action shall be for said
Party’s account, and said Party shall have full control over the conduct of defense
of any such aetion. Said Party shall also indemnify the other Party for any
liability which may arise from any judgment rendered in such action. [f said
Party does not exercise its right to control the conduct of defense of any such
action in response to any such claim within thirty (30) days of becoming aware of
or being notified of such infringement, then the other Party shall have the right,
but not the obligation, to bring such action. Any monetary recovery in connection
with an action brought or prosecuted by a Party under this Section 7.3.2 shall be
kept solely by the Party initiating such action.

7.3.3. Notwithstanding the provision of Section 7.2.1 and Section
7.2.2, and Section 7.3.2, if the Patents or Intellectual Properties that are
threatened to be infringed or disputed by any third party are (i} Joint Intellectual
Properties including Joint Patents, (ii) any and all Patents related to the LANI
Compounds or Products developed and Commercialized that is determined
conclusively by the Licensing Committee to be the Development Candidate, or
{iii} any and all Patents related to the Product for which the Regulatory Authority
grants Marketing Approval, the Parties shall discuss and agree in good faith how
such third party claim or suit against the Patents or Intellectual Properties
should be defended and which party shall initiate the defense of said claim or suit.
The initiating Party designated by said discussion (“Initiating Party”) shall
prosecute and control such elaim or suit and periodically inform the other Party of
its intended course of action and =hall provide the other with the opportunity to
comment on significant actions or elements of the Initiating Party. Neither Party
shall settle any such claim or suit without the prior written consent of the other,
whieh eonsent ghall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, except as provided
hereafter. Any costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred
by Initiating Party in defending against such ¢laim or suit shall be borne by both
Parties equally. In the event the Parties cannot agree on the strategy for such
action, including settlement, ete, the Initiating Party shall make the final
determination.

7.3.4. Any monetary recovery in connection with an action
brought or prosecuted by Sankyo or Biota under Sections 7.3.1 and 7.3.3 shall
first be applied to reimburse each of the Parties for their out-of-pocket expenses
{including reasonable attorneys’ fees) in taking such action. Once the Parties
have each been reimbursed for their out-of-pocket expenses, the remainder of any
monetary recovery will be apportioned in proportion to damages actually incurred
by the Parties.
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7.4 Trademarks

7.4.1 Tt is the intent of the Parties that, where possible, cach
Product be sold under a single trademark worldwide which shall be selected by
the Licensee with the approval of both Parties. It is understood that in some
countries, other trademarks may be necessary or advisable or recommended by
the Licensee, All trademarks used on Products under this Agreement (hereafter
referred to as “Trademarks”) will be owned and registered at the expense of the
Licensee. (See License Template, Appendix F) Upon any termination of the
License Agreements, where Trademarks are to be returned to the Party that
Controlled the LANI Compound being sold (“Originator”), the Originator may
own and register that Trademark in its own name. All benefits and burdens
relating to that Trademark shall be shared equally by the Parties during the term
of this Agreement. If the Originator declines this right, the other Party may own
and register the Trademarks in its name. Following the termination of this
Agreement, and following the termination of a License Agreement in any country,
either Party may use the Trademarks to sell the Produets. The Party which has
registered the Trademark shall cooperate with the other Party, including the
execution of any necessary license agreements or other documents, to make it
possible for the other Party or for both Parties, as the case may be, to market or
co-promote the Products using the Trademarks.

8. Term and Termination
2.1 ‘Term

8.1.1.  This Agreement will commence on the Effective Date and
continue on a country-hy-country basis until the latter of (i) expiration of the
last-to-expire Patent within the Biota Technology or the Sankyo Technology
claiming the Manufacture, use or sale of the Products or (i} expiration or
termination of the last License Agreement.

8.2,  Earlier termination

#.2.1. Either Party may, without prejudice to any other remedies
available to it at law or in equity, terminate this Agreement on a
country-hy-country basis prior to the end of the term, by giving the other Party
sixty (B0) days written notice (“Motice Period”) upon occurrence of any of the
following events:

8.2.1.1. “Material breach” defined as the default of
any material obligation hereunder by the other Party, which has not been
remedied within sixty (60) days after one Party sends written notice detailing the
substance of the default to the defaulting Party, or
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8.2.1.2, “Insolvency” meaning the insolvency,
bankruptey, dissolution or liguidation of the other Party, where such Party is
subject to the filing or consents to the filing of a petition under any bankruptey or
insclvency law or has any such petition filed against it which has not been
dismissed within ninety (90) days of such filing, appointment of a trustee,
administrator, or receiver for all or substantially all of the assets of such Party, or
assignment of the assets of such Party for the benefit of creditors, or attachment
or expropriation of the business or assets of such Party, or

8.2.1.3. “Marketing Failure” meaning that the
Product may not be sold as a result of a recall or market withdrawal and such
inability to sell the Product continues for a period of twelve (12) months;

822 The right of a Party to terminate this Agreement as
provided in this Section 8.2 shall not be affected in any way by its waiver or
failure to take action with respect to any previous default.

8.3. Rights on termination

£.3.1. If either Party terminates this Agreement pursuant to
Section 8.2, in those countries where such termination takes effect:

(a)  all rights to the LANI Compounds and all relevant Patents, licenses and
other rights granted or assigned to either Party at any time under this
Agreement (collectively, “Rights”) shall revert to the original Party: and

(b)  both parties may use the Joint Intellectual Properties without any
limitation and grant a license to any third party under the Joint
Intellectual Properties without the prior written consent of the other
Party. If either Party desires to acquire the other Party’s right, title or
interest in and to the Joint Patents, said Party may acquire such rights
by paying to the other Party the amount which is agreed in good faith
negotiation by the Parties in consideration of the tranafer of such rights;
and

() the Party who terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section B.2.
(“Terminating Party™) and the other party shall negotiate in good faith a
mechanism to allow the non-terminating Party, should it so wish, to
continue to Develop, Manufacture, file for Marketing Approval, use,
sale, offer for sale the Produet in such country.

8.3.1.1. Without prejudice to any exclusive license
granted herein, a Party that grants a license to a third party under a Joint
Invention shall cbtain the prior written consent of the other Parly to such a
license, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
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8.8.2. The provizions of Section 8.3.1 and this Section 8.3.2 shall
survive the termination for any reason of this Agreement. Except as specifically
provided in this Agreement, neither Party shall be liable to the other based on, ox
as a result of, the termination of this Agreement as provided herein, whether in
lozs of good will, anticipated profits or otherwise.

a, Confidentiality

9.1, During the term of this Agreement and for a period of seven (7)
years thereafter, each Party (a) shall hold the Technology, the Information and
any marketing and other confidential information, whether in written, oral,
vigual, or machine readable form disclosed by either Party to the other under this
Agreement (the “Confidential Information”) and the Substances supplied by
either Party to the other under this Agreement in confidence with the same
degree of care it maintains the confidentiality of its own Confidential Information
and Substances, (b) shall not diselose such Confidential Information and make
Substances available to any third party without the prior written consent of the
disclosing Party, and (¢) shall not use such Confidential Information and
Substances other than for exercising its rights andior performance of its
obligation under this Agreement except for any information which is evidenced
that:

(i) was in the receiving party’s possession at the time of disclosure,

(ii) was publicly known at the time of such disclosure,

(iii) becomes publicly known through no default of the receiving party,

(iv) was obtained legally by the receiving Party from a duly authorized third

party, or

{(v) was independently discovered without the aid or application of the

information received.

9.2, Each Party may disclose the Confidential Information and make
the Substances available only to those of its employees, contractors, and agents
who have a need to know such Confidential Information and the Substances to
implement the terms of this Agreement. The Parties agree to take reasonable
precautions to preserve the eonfidential, proprietary or secret status of the
Confidential Information and Substances and shall require that each of their
respective employees, contractors, and agents understand and agree in writing to
treat and to hold such Confidential Information and Substances in confidence
consistent with the provisions herein.

9.3. Within thirty (30) days of the date of terminalion of this
Agreement for any reason, the Parties shall provide each other with written
notice specifying that through reasonable care and to the best of its knowledge: (a)
all Confidential Information embodied in whole or in part in documents,
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materials, things, and copies thereof have been destroyed or returned to the other
Party, {b) the originals and all copies of any machine-readable documentation
eontaining any portion of the Confidential Information have been destroyed or
returned to the other Party, (¢) all remaining Substances supplied by the either
Party have been returned to the other Party or destroyed, unless otherwise
agreed in writing between the Parties, and (d) all uze of the Substances by the
returning Party has ceased,

9.4, Neither Party may issue any presa release, publication, or any other
public announcement relating to this Agreement, the LANI Compounds or the
Product without obtaining the other Party's prior written approval, which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The Parties shall in good
faith prepare mutually acceptable announcements prior to such release,
publication or announcement. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, each Party
may use the substance of previously approved public announcements and the
substance of other public announcements of the other Party without prior notice.

10. Representations and Warranties

10.1.  Each Party represents and warrants to the other that it possesses
all of the requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to
perform each and every term, provision, and obligation of this Agreement, and
that neither the exeeution or delivery of this Agreement nor the performance of
the terms of this Agreement will conflict with or result in a breach of the terms,
provisions, or obligations of, or constitute a default under, any other agreement or
instrument under which such Party is obligated.

10,2, Each Party warrants that it is the owner of all right, title, and
interest in the Patents and Information being licensed under this Agreement and
that it has the right to grant the licenses described in this Agreement.

10.3.  Notwithstanding the warranties of Seetion 10.1 and 10.2 above,
neither Party warrants or makes any representation that the Patents are valid
and enforceable, or that the Manufacture or sale of the Product or the LANI
Compounds which are described and claimed in the Patents will not infringe the
patent rights of others.

10.4.  Each Party represents that it has not granted, and agrees that
during the term of this Agreement it will not grant, to any other person, firm, or
corporation any right or license with respect to the LANI Compounds which is
described and claimed in the Patents.

10.5. Each Party warrants that there is no action, suit, investigation,
claim, arbitration, or litigation pending, or to its knowledge, threatened against,
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affecting, or involving said Party before any court, arbitrator, or governmental
authority that is reasonably likely to result in a material adverse effect on the
other Party's performance of its obligations under this Agreement.

10.6. Each Party warrants represents, and covenants that to the best of
its actual knowledge after reasonable scientific investigation that,

(a) prior to the execution of this Agreement, the data that it has delivered
to the other relating to the Information is scientifically true and
accurate in all material respects, and that such data (i) contains ne
material errors or omissions, (i) was compiled and prepared on a basis
consistent with good scientific practices as applied by such Party, and
(iii) presents fairly the condition of the Information and the LANI
Compounds; and

(b

=

as of the Effective Date, that it has utilized its own scientific, marketing
and distribution expertise and experience to analyze and evaluate both
the scientific and commercial value of the Information and LANI
Compound and has solely relied on such analysis and evaluations in
deciding to enter into this Agreement: and

(¢} after the Effective Date, the data that it will deliver to the other relating
to the Technology will be scientifieally true and accurate in all material
respects, and that such data (i} will contain no material errors or
omissions, (ii) will be compiled and prepared on a basis consistent with
pood seientific practices as implemented by such Party, and (iii) will
present fairly the condition of the Information and the LANI
Compounds and Products.

10.7. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT,
MNEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY OTHER REPRESENTATIONS OR
WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO
THIS AGREEMENT.

10.8. SUBJECT TO ARTICLE 13, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE
ENTITLED TO RECOVER FROM THE OTHER PARTY ANY SPECIAL,
INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES IM
CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY LICENSE GRANTED
HEREUNDER.

10.9. Sections 106, 10.7 and 10.8 shall survive any termination or
expiration of this Agreement.

11. Liability and Indemnity
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11.1. Sankyo shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Biota, and its
employees, agents, officers, directors, permitted licensees, successors and
permitted assigns (collectively, the “Biota Indemnified Parties"), from and against
any and all costs, liabilities, judgments, obligations, losses, expenses and
damages (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) of whatseever kind
or nature {collectively, “Losses”) incurred by or impeosed upon any Biota
Indemnified Party as a result of any claims, actions, suits or proceedings
{eollectively, “Claims”) arising out of or related to, in any way, the licensing,
Development, Manufacture, marketing, promotion, importation, sale or other use
{collectively, “Use”} of the Product in any country by Sankyo pursuant to this
Agreement or otherwise, regardless of whether such Claims or Losses are based
upon theories of eontract, tort, product liability, strict liability, infringement of
any patent, trademark, trade name, logo, service mark, trade dress, trade secret,
or any other legal or equitable theory: provided, however, that Sankyo shall have
no obligation to indemnify Biota for Losses proven to have been caused solely from
an intentional wrongdoing, negligent or grossly negligent omission by Biota.

11.2. Biota shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Sankyo, and its
employees, agents, officers, directors, permitted licensees, successors and
permitted assigns (collectively, the “Sankyo Indemnified Parties”), from and
against any and all costs, liabilities, judgments, obligations, losses, expenses and
damages (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) of whatsoever kind
or nature (collectively, “Losses™ incurred by or imposed upon any Sankyo
Indemnified Party as a vesult of any claims, actions, suits or proceedings
(collectively, “Claims™) arising out of or related to, in any way, the licensing,
Development, Manufacture, marketing, promotion, importation, sale or other use
{collectively, “Use” of the Product in any country by Biota pursuant to this
Agreement or otherwise, regardless of whether such Claims or Losses are based
upon theories of contraet, tort, product liability, strict liability, infringement of
any patent, trademark, trade name, logo, service mark, trade dress, trade secret,
or any other legal or equitable theory; provided, however, that Biota shall have no
ohligation to indemnify Sankyo for Losses proven to have been caused solely from
an intentional wrongdeing, negligent or grossly negligent omission by Sankyo.

11.3. Each Party shall give prompt written notice to the other of any
Claim asserted against such Party (in such capacity, the “Notifying Party”)
arising from or relating to the Product, regardless of whether the Notifying Party
is entitled to seek indemnification from the other Party pursuant to either Section
11.1. or 11.2, The Parties shall, subject to the execution of an appropriate
non-disclosure agreement, reasonably consult with, and share information with,
each other regarding such Claim and shall reasonably cooperate and assist each
other in the event that the Notifying Party wishes to pursue any claim against
any third party in connection therewith, in each case at the sole cost and expense
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of the Notifying Party. Each sublicense agreement entered into by a Party
relating to any Product in accordance herewith shall contain a provision
substantially similar to that set forth in this Section 11.3.

11.4. SUBJECT TO ARTICLE XIII (13), NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE
ENTITLED TO RECOVER FROM THE OTHER PARTY ANY SPECIAL,
INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL oOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY LICENSE GRANTED
HEREUNDER, UNLESS SUCH DAMAGES ARE INFLICTED AS ARESULT OF
THE GRO3S NEGLIGENCE OR INTENTIONAL WRONGDOING OF THE
OTHER PARTY.

12. Amendment

12.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Section, all amendments to
this agreement must be in writing and signed by authorized representatives of
both parties.

12,2, The Partiee may agree in writing from time to time to add
Development Candidates to this Agreement. This Agreement shall take effect
with respect to such compounds whether or not they have been formally added to
Appendix E, and all obligations of the Parties shall attach from such time as
described therein.

13. Governing Law and Jurisdietion

13.1  Any claim, dispute or controversy of whatever nature arising out of
or relating to this Agreement, including without limitation, any action based on
tort, contract or statute, or coneerning the interpretation, effect, termination,
validity, performance or breach of this Agreement shall be construed in
accordance with the laws of New York without regard to its conflict of law
principles,

18.2 The Parties shall first negotiate in good faith to resolve any disputes
which arise under this Agreement, but failing amicable solution, all unresolved
disputes shall, at the request of either Party, be finally settled under the Rules of
Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce by three {3) arbitrators
appointed in accordance with said Rules. The venue of the Arbitration shall be
Mew York. The language of the arbitration shall be English.

14. Force Majeure
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14.1. Neither Party hereto shall be liable for any failure or delay in
performance of this agreement oceasioned in whele or in part by acts of God,
strike, lock-out, fire, earthquake, epidemic, inability to obtain materials or
shipping space, breakdown, delay of carrier or regulation of any government or
any other cause beyond its control, provided that said Party has exercised due and
reasonable care and its best efforts to avoid any of the above-mentioned events.

15. MNotices

15.1. Any notice or report pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed
duly given if delivered persomally, sent by airmail, international recognized
courier service, electronic mail (provided such electronie mail is followed by
facsimile confirmation in accordance with this Section 15) or facsimile, addressed
to the other Party at the address or facsimile number set forth below, or to such
other address or facsimile number as shall have theretofore been furnished by one
Party to the other in accordance with this Section, and shall be deemed to have
been given when sent.

If to Sankyo: Sankyo Company, Limited
3-5-1 Nihonbashi-Honcho, Chuo-ku,
Tokye 103-8426, Japan
Attention: Director, Licensing Department
Fax: +81-3-6256-T086
Telophone: +81-3-5255-7084
e-mail: moriaki@hg.sankyo.cojp

If to Biota: Biota Holdings Limited
Level 4, 616 St Kilda Road
Melbourne 8004, Australia
Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Fax: +61-3-8628-2261
Telephone: +61-3-9529-2311
e-mail: info@d@biota.com.au

16.  Assignment of Rights and Obligations

16.1. Either Party may assign all or any part of this Apreement to any
Affiliate. In all other respects, neither Party ehall voluntarily or by operation of
law assign, hypothecate, give, transfer, mortgage, sublet, license, or otherwise
transfor or encumber all or part of its rights, duties, or other interests in this
Agresment or the proceeds thereof (collectively, “Assignment”) in whole or in part
to any third party without prior written consent of the other. Any attempt to make
an Assignment in violation of this provision shall be a material default under this
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Agreement and any Assignment in violation of this provision shall be null and
void.

17. Entire Arreement

17.1. This Agreement, together with the Ceonfidential Disclosure
Agreement dated January 7, 2003, as amended August 5, 2003, and the
Appendixes attached hereto, set forth the entire agreement and understanding
between the Parties as to the subject matter hereof, and supercedes all
agreements and understandings between the parties as to the subject matter,
whether oral or in writing,

18. No Implied Waiver

18.1. No failure or delay on the part of either Party to exercise any right
under thiz Agreement or provided for by Laws shall impair, prejudice or
conatitute a waiver of such rght.

14, Severability

19.1. If and to the extent that any court or tribunal of competent
jurisdiction holds any of the terms, provisions or conditions of this Agreement or
parta thereof, or the application hereof to any circumstances, to be illegal, invalid
or unenforceable in a final non-appealable order, (i} such provision shall be fully
severable, (i) this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal,
invalid or unenforesable provision had never comprised a part hereof, (iii} the
remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full foree and effect and
shall not be affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision or by its
severance herefrom, and (iv) in lieu of such illegal, invalid or unenforceable
provision, there shall be added automatically as a part of this Agreement, a legal,
valid and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or
unenforeeables provision as may be possible.

20. Mo License

20.1. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute the grant
of any license or other right in either Party to the other Party in respect of any
product, patent, trademark, confidential information, trade secret or other data or
any other intellectual property of the other Party except as expressly set forth
herein.
21. Headings

21.1. The headings for each article and section in this Agreement have
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been inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to limit or
expand on the meaning of the language contained in the particular article or
section nor to be used in construing or interpreting any of the provisions of this
Agreement.

22, Appendixes

22.1. All Appendixes to this Agreement are by this reference
incorporated herein and made a part of this Agreement.

23. Counterparts
23.1, This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts,

each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused thiz Agreement to be executed
and effective as of the date first indicated above.

BIOTA HOLDINGS LTD. SANKEYO CO, LTD
e . By Ma%ﬁ#—}u’&
Perep L. pllon Name fouickivhe, Yamagiuehs
Data €T 2 Zoad Date O¢t  2eci
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Biota Patents
Sankyo Patents

Joint Patents

LANI Compounds

Development Candidates and Lead Compound
License Template
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Appendix A: Biota Patents
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Appendix C: Joint Patents
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Appendix D: LANI Compounds

Sankyo Compounds
R-118958

Biota Compounds
BTA93S
BTA97S
BTA929
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Appendix E: Development Candidates and Lead
Compound

Egg Em’g ! lﬂm!ﬂﬂ]dﬂ:

R-118958(Lead Compound)

Biota’s Compounds
BTA938
BTAS7E
BTAS29
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APPENDIX F

License Template
Between
Biota Holdings Limited
and

Sankyo Co., Ltd.

This License Template sets forth the basic understanding of Sankyo and Biota
relating o the License Agreement to be executed with a Licensee or Licensees pertaining
1o the co-licensing of a Product or Products. This License Template shall be binding on
both Sankyo and Biota. The terms of any Co-Licensing Agreement shall be consistent
with the terms as described below.

THIS AGREEMENT, effective as of , 20  between Biota
Holdings Limited (“Biota™), a corporation organized and existing under the laws of
Victoria, Australia, with offices at 616 5t. Kilda Road Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, and
Sankyo Co., Ltd. (*Sankyo™), a joint stock company organized and existing under the
laws of Japan, with offices at 3-5-1, Nihonbashi-honche, Chuo-ku, Tokyo, Japan
(collectively Biota and Sankyo are referred to as the “Licensors™) on the one hand; and

[Licensee Name], a corporation organized and existing under the laws of (the
“Licenses)
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sets forth the agreement between the Licensors and the Licenses as follows:

Recitals

1. Biota and Sankyo both have expertise, know-how and patents in the field of
long-acting neuraminidase inhibitors {(LANI Compound]s]), and have synthesized and
optimized several LANI Compounds which may be suitable for clinical development and
commercialization worldwide as pharmaceutical products for human consumption.

2. Biota and Sankyo have executed a Collaboration and License Agreement under which
the Licensors have agreed to pool their respective LANI Compound patents and
technology and to collaborate and work together to license the LANI Compounds to one
or more third parties for development and marketing.

3. Licensee has expertise and knowledge in the area of commercializing and

marketing pharmaceutical products for human consumption and further desires to receive
a license to develop and commercialize the LANI Compounds for the treatment and
prevention of influenza or other viral infections.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises
contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, all of the Parties hereto
agree as follows:

Definitions

1. “Affiliate” of a Party hereto means any entity that controls, is controlled by or is under
common control with such Party. For purposes of this definition, a Party shall be deemed
to control anather entity if it owns or controls, directly or indirectly, more than fifty
percent (509 of the voting equity of the other entity (or other comparable ownership
interest for an entity other than a corporation) or if it has management control of the other
entity.

2. “Agreement” means this document between the Licensee and the Licensors together
with any exhibits, schedules or specifications which are attached hereto and made a part




of this document at the time of its execution, together with any amendments hereto which
are signed by authorized representatives of the Parties and incorporated s a part of this
document.

3. “APT" means the active pharmaceutical ingredient using LANI Compounds and
which is incorporated into the Products.

4. “API Manufacturing Development” means any raw material acquisition, process
development and scale-up required to provide AP1 of suitable quantity and quality for the
agreed Clinical Development.

5. “Biota Technology” means, to the extent necessary or useful for the Development,
Manufacture, use or sale of the LANI Compounds, (a) all Patents that Biota Controls as of
the Eﬁ‘cctwc Datl: or during the term of the Agreement and which shall be included in
: ; and (b) Information that is not included in the Patents described in the
prcoudmg clause (a) and that Biota Controls on the Effective Date or during the term of

the Agreement.

6. “Clinical Development™ means all clinical and regulatory work required from the
Development Phase and up to Marketing Approval.

7. “Commercialization Phase™ means the period after Marketing Approval through the
term of the Agreement.

8. “Commercialize or Commercialization™ means to promote, scll, distribute, and
otherwise market or promote a Product or Products, and to engage in Product
Manufacturing for purposes of sale to a consumer.

9, “Competitive Product” means a product that is an antiviral agent targeted against
influenza.

10, “Control” means, with respect to any Information or intellectual propenty right,
possession by a Party of the ability (whether by ownership, license or otherwise) to grant
access, a license or a sub-license to such Information or intellectual property right without
viclating the terms of any agreement or other zrrangement with any third party as of the
time such Party would first be required hercunder to grant the other Party such access,




license or sublicense.

11. “Co-Promation” means the relationship in a country or countries in which two or
more Parties to this Agreement collaborate in their promotional efforts to maximize sales
of the Product under the same Trademark and a consistent marketing strategy and one
Party books sales of the Product within that country,

12. “Co-Market™ means the relationship in a country or countries in which two or more
Parties to this Agreement market Products under diffecent Trademarks, separate
merketing channels and separate distribution channels, and in which both Parties book
sales of the Product within that country.

13, “Development™ means both the pre-clinical and clinical development of a LANI
Coampound.

14. “Development Candidate™ means a LANI Compound from Appendix i}?:!i or another
LANI compound that is developed or optimized by the Licensee during the term of this
Agreement and that the Licensee determines is soitable for Clinical Development with
the consent of the Licensors, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

15. “Development Phase” means the period of this Agreement from the Effective Date to
filing of a registration dossier for Marketing Approval.

16, “Development Plan™ means a plan for developing the Products which is created and
approved by the PDC on behalf of the Partics and which will guide the Parties in giving
oversight and direction to the Licensees in developing the Products. The Development
Plan shall be included as Appendix. - to this Agreement, which may be amended from

time to time as agreed by the Parties,

17, “Effective Date” means the date shown in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

18. “Field” means the prevention and/or treatment of influenza virus types A and B and
other viral infections with a LANI Compound.

19. “First Commercial Sale” means the date on which the Product is first shipped by a
Party to third parties for commercial sale in a country in the Territory.
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20. “Information” means all tangible and intangible techniques, technology, practices,
trade secrets, methods, knowledge, know-how, skill, experience, test data and results
{including pharmacological, toxicological and clinical test data and results), analytical
and quality control data, results or descriptions, software and algorithms relating to the
LANI Products.

21.“Invention” means amy idea, design, concept, technique, process, method,
composition of matter or discovery, whether or not patentable, copyrightable, or
otherwise protectable with intellectual property law which is conceived of, discovered,
developed, created, made or reduced to practice during the term of this Agreement which
is useful to the activities contemplated hereunder.

22. “LANI Compounds” means r.he les-s than once per day dosage neuraminidase
inhibitor compounds sct forth in & endix. | which may be amended from time to time as

agreed by the Parties..

23, “Laws” means collectively all laws, rules and regulations as amended from time to
time applicable to the Development, Commercialization and Manufacture of LANI
Compounds and the Product.

24.“Lead Compounds” means the LANI Compounds selected by the Parties for
Development and marketing and shown in Appendix £ to the Agreement, which may be
amended from time to time as agreed by the Parties.

25, “Licensors” means Sankyo and Biota.

26. “Licensed Patents™ means those patents owned or confrolled by either Sankyo or
Biota, or Sankyo and Biota collectively as described on Appendix iﬂcﬂj

27. “Manufacture or Manufactured” means with respect to each of API and Froduct, all
the activities relating to production of API, LANI Compounds and/or Products, including,
but not limited to, purchasing and release of raw materials, manufacturing, milling,
quality control and assurance of all production steps, finishing, filling, labeling,
packaging, release, holding and storage and the tests and analyses conducted in
connection therewith.
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28. “Markeling Approval” means any and all approvals (including, if required, price and
reimbursement approvals), licenses, registrations, or authorizations of any regulatory
agency, depariment, bureau or other government entity in a jurisdiction (or, if applicable,
the European Union as a whole) that is necessary to market a Product in such jurisdiction.

29, “Net Sales™ means the gross amount invoiced by a Party, its Affiliates and any
respective Licensees to third parties that are not Affiliates or Licensees of the selling
party (unless such Affiliate or Licensee is the end user of such Product, in which case the
amount billed therefore shall be deemed to be the amount that would be billed to a third
party in an arm's length transaction) for sales of Products to third parties, less the
following items, as allocable to such Product (if not previously deducted from the amount
invoiced): (i) trade discounts, credits or allowaneces; (ii)credits or allowances
additionally granted upon returns, rejections or recalls (except where any such recall
arises oul of a Party's, its Affiliate’s or Licensee’s gross negligence, willful misconduct
or fraud); (iii) freight, shipping and insurance charges; (iv) taxes, duties or other
governmental tariffs (other than income taxes); and (v) government mandated rebates.

30. “Party” means Biota, Sankyo or a Licensee, “Parties” mean Biota, Sankyo and the
Licensee.

31. “Patent[s]” means (a) patents filed in the country of origin, re-examinations, re-issues,
renewals, extensions and term restorations, and including forcign counterparts of any of
the forcgoing, and (b) pending applications for patents filed in the country of origin,
including,  without  limitation,  provisional  applications,  continuations,
continuations-in-part, divisional and substitute applications, including, without limitation,
inventors’ certificates, and foreign counterparts of any of the foregoing in each case to the
extent they are applicable to the LANI Compounds and the Field that are owned or
Controlled by a Party that either exist as of the effective date or claim Inventions owned
or Controlled by a Party and that arise out of the activities contemplated under this
Agreement. Existing Patents are set forth in Appendix ;_-. to this Agreement. Any new

Appendix %

32, “Product[s]” means a finished pharmaceutical product that contains a LANI
Compound.




33. “Product Development Committee™ (PDC) means the joint committes established by
the Parties in accordance with this Agreement which will oversee the Development of the
LANI Compounds and Products in accordance with Article 3.

34, “Regulatory Authority” means any health regulatory authority(ies) in any country
that holds responsibility for approving applications or granting authorization to
commence human clinical testing of a drug andfor for granting regulatory Marketing
Approval for a Product in such country, and any successor(s) thereto,

35. “Sankyo Technology” means, to the extent necessary or useful for the Development,
Manufacture, use or sale of LANI Compounds, (a) all Patents that Sankyo Controls as of
the Effective Date or during the term of the Agreement and which shall be included in
Appendix 1, and (b) Information that is not included in the Patents described in the
preceding clause (a) and that Sankyo Controls on the Effective Date or during the term of
the Agrcement.

36, “Substance|s]” means compounds, compositions of matter, cells, cell lines, assays,
animal models and physical, biological or chemical material relating to the LANI
Compounds.

37. “Territory” means the countries listed in A

38. “Trademark™ means the trademark or trademarks selected by the Licensee and
approved in writing by the Licensors for use in connection with the commercialization,
promotion and marketing of the Product in one or any of the countries in the Territory.

1. ni

1.1. Grant of Patent License. Until the last-to-expire Patent within the Territory expires
the Licensors hereby grant to the Licensee under the Patents and Information owned by
the Licensors, an exclusive license to develop, make, use, sell, offer for sale, and import
the Product in the Field in each country in the Territory. For purposes of this Section 1,
the term “exclusive” means to the exclusion of all other parties in the Territory, including
Licensors.
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1.2, Grant of Trademark License. After the lasi-to-expire Patent within the Territory
expires, the Licensors shall grant to the Licensee under the Trademark owned by the
Licensors, an exclusive license to use sell, offer for sale and import the Product in cach
country in the Territory.

1.3, Sublicenses. The licenses granted 1o the Licensee in Section 1.1 shall include the
right to grant sublicenses to its Affiliates, in whole or in part; provided, however, that the
Licensee shall be strictly liable for the performance of its Affiliates. The licenses granted
to the Licensee in Section 1.1 and Section 1.2 shall not include the right to grant
sublicenses to any third parties (other than a Licensee Affiliate) without the prior writien
consent of the Licensors,

14, Licensee Diligence. The Licensee shall diligently work to develop the LANI
Compounds and to market the Product in such a way as to maximize Net Sales and
operating income through the safe and effective use of the Product in compliance with all
applicable Laws. The Licensee shall twice a yecar provide the Licensors with
Development progress updates and, when requested by either of the Licensees, provide
other material information relating to the Licensee’s progress in Development and the
eventual marketing of the Product.

2. Consid

2.1 License Fee. In consideration for the Licensors’ grants to the Licensee of the right to
sell, market, and distribute Product, all pursvant to Section 1.1, the Licensors shall
receive from the Licensec a one time non-refundable and non-creditable license fee of
55 u.s. Dollars {[i2 ]) within seven (7) days of the Effective Date. Such License Fee
shall be net of any taxes that might be payable in Japan or Australia to the Licensors,

2.2. Milestones. The Licensee will make the following payments to the Licensors in US
Diollars upon the occurrence of the listed event in the Territory for each Product:




Event Payment

Submission of IND

Initiation of Phasc IT clinical trials {or equivalent)

Initiation of Phase 11T clinical trials {or equivalcnt pivotal trial)
Approval of an NDA (or equivalent)

Launch of Licensed Product

Date on which Net Sales of the Licensed Product exceed USD
5 million in any 12-month period
Date on which Net Sales of the Licensed Produet exceed USD
-] million in any 12-month period

2.3, Rovalties, In consideration for the license granted under Section 2.1, the Licensee
shall pay in U.5. dollars to the Licensors during the Term a royalty in each country in the
Territory comprising XX percent (XX9%) of Net Sales until this Agreement expires in
accordance with its terms. In consideration for the license granted under Section 1.2, the
Licensee shall pay in U.S. dollars to the Licensors after the expiration of the last Licensed
Patent a royalty in each country in the Territory comprising ‘Ei@%‘ﬁ 1-‘
Sales.

3, Development of the Products

3.1 blishmeant ip of uct Dew e,

3.1.1. Upon execution of the License Agreement with the Licensee, the Licensors and
Licensee shall establish a Product Development Committee (the “PDC”) to provide
oversight of the Development, and implementation of the Development Plan which is

. . P T A .
outlined in m ﬁeﬁﬁ% and which, when agreed upon and executed by representatives
of the Licensors and Licenses, shall become a part of this Agreement.

3.1.2. The PDC shall be formed by the Licensee(s) and will allow for at least one voting
representative of Biota and Sankyo, each at their respective option, The PDC formed
under this Agreement shall cooperate with any PDC formed under other license
agreements with other licensees relating to the Products in order to ensure maximum
coordination in the development of the Products on a worldwide basis.

3.2, Dutics of the PDC
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3.2.1. The PDC shall provide oversight and govemance of the Development Plan and
monitor, manage and administer, as required, the Licenses Development of the Products.
In general, the PDC will be responsible for project management.

3.2.1.1. Project management. The PDC shall (i) approve specific tasks, activitics,
resources, and expenditures under the Development Plan; (ii) establish objectives and
milestones, and determine when and if objectives and milestones are met; and (iii) review
progress made under the Development Plan and implement necessary changes to the
Development Plan, It is the intention of the Parties that the PDC will review and discuss
research plans, the design of studies, study protocols, selection of sites for preclinical and
ather Development studies, and other such matters that the Parties may deem necessary
for the Development of the Products by the Licensees.

3.2.1.2. The PDC shall discuss regulatory strategy and the preparation, filing and
prosecution of applications for Marketing Approvals and other regulatory issues.

33, Meeti i Degisi f the PDC
3.3.1. Meetings. Unless otherwise determined by the PDC, the PDC shall meet at least
twice per year alternately at locations to be determined through negotiations between
parties whose representatives parlicipate in the PDC. At other times, the location or
manner of the meeting (e.g., telephone conferences) will be determined by the PDC.
Costs for representatives of the Parties to attend PDC meetings will be for each Party’s
accounl.

3.3.2. Decisions. All actions and decisions reserved for the PDC under Section 3.2 will
require the unanimous consent of all of its voting members. If the PDC fails to reach
unanimous agresment, the Parties shall attempt in good faith to reach an agreement on the
unresolved matter within twenty (20) days, but if the issue cannot be resolved through
good faith discussions, then the Licensee will have the right to make the final decision.

14, PDCR a2 and Tof ion Shagi
34.1. Following each twice yearly meeting of the FDC, a representative of the FDC
jointly appointed by its members shall prepare and deliver to all Parties a written report
recording the issues, decisions, conclusions, recommendations and other actions taken by
the PDC, as well as the general status of the Development Plan at that time. Any




exceptions or dissents from the report may be noted in writing by the dissenting Party.

3.4.2. The Partics shall nominate one person in cach of their organizations 1o act as
primary recipient for said written reports.

3.4.3. Except for confidential business information, the Parties agree to share with the
PDC all clinical and regulatory data available to them from their Clinical Development
activities that could assist the PDC in carrying out iis responsibilities.

&3, Development Phase
3.5.1. Development Expenses, All direct and indirect costs and expenses associated with
Development of the Product will be borne by the Licensee.

3.5.2. Development Candidates. The Parties hereby agree that Sankyo’s R-118958 shall
be the Lead Compound and is nominated as the first Development Candidate. Biotas
compound referenced as BTAS38 shall be the back up Lead Compound.

353 The Development Candidate shall progress promptly into Development in
accordance with the Development Plan,

3.5.4. If the first or a subsequent Development Candidate is not commercially viable as
determined by the PDC, the PDC shall select the back up Lead Compound. If the back up
Lead Compound is not commercially viable as dx:lg:_:rmimd by the PDC then the PDC may
sclect another Lead Compound &umAppcndix;'ﬁﬁ as a Development Candidate.

3.5.5. Due to the cost associated with Development, it is the intent of the Licensors that
only one Lead Compound will be developed at a time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
PDC may determine that more than one Development Candidate may progress into
Development at any one time.,

3.5.6. The Licensee shall ensure the integrity, quality and sccurity of all Information; any
technical, regulatory and clinical data, generated under the Development Plan, including
any laboratory notes, technical data or specifications, test results, and any other relevant

information or materials arising from the conduct of the Development Plan,

3.5.7. Clinical Trial Management: The Licensee shall prepare suitable applications for
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approval or consent of commencement clinical trials, management of trials, handle
reporting, analysis and all other aspects of the trial being conducted by it or on its behalf,

6. AP] uring Develo |
3.6.1. All direct and indirect costs andfor third party charges associated with API
Manufacturing Development shall be borne by the Licensce or its designee,

Regul 1t

3.7.1. The Licensee shall be responsible at its sole expense for filing, prosecuting, and
obtaining Marketing Approvals in each country in the Territory. Subject to the provisions
of this Agreement, the Licensors will use commercially reasonable efforts and reasonable
scientific judgment to assist in preparing documents for obtaining Marketing Approval
from a Regulatory Authority for each country in the Territory. The Licensors will, if
required by a Regulatory Authority, provide certain information concemning the
Manufacture of LANI Compound and/or Produet directly to such Regulatory Authority to
facilitate the Licensee’s application for Marketing Approvals. If a Regulatory Authority
requests that the Licensee conduct additional developmental activities to obdtain
Marketing Approval, the Licensee shall, after consultation with Licensors, conduet such
additional developmental activities at its own expense. In each country in the Licensee
Territory, the Licensee shall keep the Licensors reasonably informed as to the regulatory
status of Marketing Approval. In addition, Licensee may, at its own expense, conduct
developmental activities for promotional and marketing purposes upon securing the prior
wrilten consent of Licensors after obtaining Marketing Approval. The Licensee shall
inform the Licensors of the First Commercial Sale of the Product by the Licensee in cach
country or region in the Territory within seven (7) days thereof. The Licenses shall
promptly inform the Parties with respect to any regulatory action taken or notification
regarding the Products either during the approval process or marketing of the Products in
the Territory,

3.7.2. Regulatory Communications. Each Party agrees to provide the others with all
reasonable assistance and take all actions reasonably requested by the others that are
necessary or desirable to enable the others 1o comply with any Laws applicable to the
Product, including, without limitation, to meet reporting and other obligations to
() maintain and update the Marketing Approval and any filings under Section
31
(i) submit adverse event reporis to the appropriate Regulatory Authorities as
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required to fulfill obligations vnder Laws; and
(iii) submit or file promotional materials with Regulatory Authorities, as
appropriate.

2}

mnerciali

4.1. Commercialization Committees. The Parties agree that they may form
Co-Promotion Committees as necessary to coordinate the Co-Promotion of the Product in
any applicable country in the Territory. Such committees, if formed by the Parties will
allow for at least one voting representative from each of Biota and Sankyo, each at their
respective option. Attendance of members at meetings shall be at the respective expense
of the participating parties appointing such members.

4.1.1. Decisions of Commercialization Committees. All actions and decisions reserved
for the Co-Promotion Committees will require the unanimous consent of all of its voting
members. If the commitiee fails to reach unanimous agreement, the Parties shall attempt
in good faith to reach an agreement on the unresolved matter within thirty (30) days, but if
the issue cannot be resolved through good faith discussions, then the matter shall be
referred to the executives of the representatives of those Parties unable to reach unanimity
with authority to settle the matter within thirty (30) days. If the matter is not resolved
within the thirty (30) day period following submission of the matter to those executives,
then the Licenses will have the right to make the final decision.

4,2 Record Keeping: Reporting and Audit. The Licensee will provide Biota and Sankyo
with quarterly reports of the Net Sales of the Products by the Licensee or its Affiliates in

the Territory should Biota and/or Sankyo Co-Market or Co-Promote Products. The
Licensee shall keep and complete records of costs associated with marketing and
distribution costs, and expenses incurred for sale of the Product within the Territory
should Biota and/or Sankyo Co-Fromote Products. Such records shall be retained by the
Licensee and shall be made available for inspection, review and audit, at any time within
normal business hours during the applicable calendar year and for two (2) years thereafier,
at the request and expense of the Licensors, by an independent centified public accountant
appointed by the Licensors for the sole purpose of verifying the Licensee's accounting
reports and payments made or to be made pursuant 1o this Agreement. Such accountants
shall not reveal to the Licensors the details of its review, except for such information as is
required to be disclosed under this Agreement. This right to audit shall remain in effect
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throughout the life of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after the Term. If
an error in favor of the Licensors of more than five percent (59) is discovered, then the
Licensees shall pay the audit expenses that discovered such error. The Parties shall settle
all differences hercunder within thirty (30) days of notification.

4.3. The United States. Sankyo and Biota retain the right to designate a third party
(including, without limitation, Sankyo, Biota or one of their Affiliates) to Co-Market thc
Product in the United States with the Licensee and/or terminate the license to the
Licensee, if the Licensee does not meet reasonable annual minimum sales as agreed in
writing within the six (6) months of the Product launch by the Parties for that country.

4.4 Other Markets. In all other countries where Sankyo and Biota have granted an
exclusive license to the Licensee, Sankyo and Biota shall retain the right to terminate the
Licensee and/or grant additional licenses to a third party (including, without limitation,
Sankyo, Biota or one of their Affiliates), if the Licensce does not achieve reasonable
annual minimum sales as agreed in writing within the six (6) months of the Product
launch by the Parties for that country,

4.5 Non-Compete, During the term of this Agreement, unless otherwise agreed belween
the Parties, cach Party agrees that neither for itself or through its Affiliates will it develop,
Commercialize, or otherwise handle or deal with, dircctly or indirectly, or to enter into
any collaboration, license or development agreement or any other arrangement with any
party other than the other Parties to develop, Commercialize, or otherwise handle or deal
with any Competitive Product in any country. The restrictions in this Section 4.5 shall not
apply to Products already Manufactured, distributed, sold, bought or otherwise dealt with
by ecach Party or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date.

5. Payments; Records and Reports

3.1, Royalty Reports

5.1.1. Frequency of Royalty Reports. Within sixty (60) days of the end of each calendar
quarter after the First Commercial Sale of the Product by the Licensee in the Territory, the
Licensce shall deliver to the Licensors a royalty report containing information concerning
the immediately preceding calendar quarter. Each royalty report delivered by the
Licensee to the Licensors shall contain at least the following information, denominated in
local currency and US dollars as caleulated for each applicable country in accordance
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with the exchange rate published in the New York edition of the Wall Street Journal on the
last day of the calendar quarter for which such payment accrues:

(i) Net Sales for the applicable calendar quarter in each country;

(if) Amount of royalty earned for each country, and in total for the period;

(iii) Amaount of withholding taxes, if any, required by Laws o be deducted in respect
of such royalties; provided, however, that the Licenses will take reasonable action to
minimize any such withholding tax in each country.

5.1.2. The Parties agree to furnish reports, in a form to be agreed upon, showing,
among other things, (i) the gross sales and MNet Sales of cach Product sold and the
royalties that have accrued hereunder with respect thereto and (ii) the amount of
withhelding taxes on the royalty payments.

5.1.3. The Parties shall keep proper bocks of account with reference to their respective
sales of any Product under this Agreement and with reference 1o any sales by Licensees
which are reported to the Partics. 'When requested by the other Party, such books of
account shall be made available at reasonable times for audit by the other Party or its
agents (including the right to inspect, copy, and make abstracts therefrom), solely for the
purpose of verifying the royalties due or paid, or for determining compliance with other
provisions of this Agreement. Any expense incurred by a Party conducting such audit
shall be borne by said Party unless discrepancies attributable to the audited Party
excecding the cost of the audit are found, in which case the costs of the audit shall be
reimbursed by the other Party.

5.1.4. The Party owing the royalty (the “Payor™) shall permit its books of account or
records of sale to be inspected al any reasonable time during normal business hours by a
representative of the other Party (the “Payee”) solely for the purpose of verifying the
amounts due hercunder.

2 ayment
5.2.1. All payments under this Agreement shall be made payable in U.S. dollars and shall
be by appropriate ¢lectronic funds transfer in immediately available funds to such bank
accountant as the Payee shall designate and on a date no later than when royalty reports
are due under Section 5.1.1 above. Each payment shall reference this Agreement and
identify the obligation under this Agreement that the payment is to satisfy. Any and all
expenses for such payment incurred by the Payee shall be bome by the Pavee.
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52,2, Any payments due under this Agreement that are not paid on or before the date
such payments arc due shall bear interest, at the lower of one percentage point above the
Prime Rate of interest as reported in the New York edition of the Wall Street Journal on
the date the payment is due or the maximum allowed by law, compounded monathly until
such payment is made.

5.2.3. Any taxes or similar charges levied or assessed in a territory on the Payee on the
royalty payments shall be borne by Payor. However, Payor has the right to deduct from
the royalty payments such income taxes or charges paid thereon for which Payee is
entitled to receive a credit under income tax laws in effect as of the time payment is made.
In these cases, Payor will promptly provide Payee with an original receipt for such tax
payments (or a certified copy, if the original is not available). Payor's failure to provide
Payee with such documentation as Payee determines is acceptable for tax purposes shall
preclude Payor from deducting such taxes or charges from the gross royalty otherwise
due.

5.2.4. Payee may require such other account statements or reports from Payor as may be
reasonable,

. Trademarks

6.1. To the extent commercially reasonable and appropriate, a 'singic Trademark
worldwide to be selected by the Licensee and approved in writing by the Licensors shall
be used for each Product in all countries in the Territory, provided that Licensee shall
cooperate with Licensors and other licensees relating to the Products in order to select
said single Trademark for use on a worldwide basis. If the Trademark is not available in
or inappropriate for the Territory, the Licensee shall propose an aliernate Trademark io be
approved in writing by the Licensors, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld.
Each Trademark may be used by a Pany only in connection with the applicable Product
and shall not be used by any Party on, or in connection with, any other product. The
Licensee shall own each Trademark used 1o promote Products in the Licensee’s Territory
and shall be responsible for searching, clearing, filing, prosecuting and maintaining, and
all reasonable steps necessary in defending, each Product Trademark. In the case of
countries in which the Licensors and Licensees Co-Market and/or Co-Promote Products,
Sankyo and/or Biota, at their discretion, shall have the right to select and register
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additional trademarks for use with the Product.

6.2, Until the last-to-expirc Patent on a country-by-couniry basis within the Territory
expires, Licensee shall hereby grant to the Licensors under the Trademark owned by the
Licensee, an exclusive license, fully paid up, perpetal, royalty free, with the right to
grant sublicenses, Lo make, use, sell, offer for sale and import the Produet in any countries
which said Trademark is registered outside the Temitory. Upon any termination of this
Agreement or expiration of the last-to-expire Patent on s country-by-country basis within
the Territory , the Licenses shall, at the request of the Licensors, return all rights to and
eooperate in transferring registrations of all Trademarks to the Licensors. Any and all
costs and expenses necessary 1o transfer registrations of all Trademarks shall be borne by
the Licensee.

7. hip and t nventi

7.1.1. The Information and Inventions, and the rght to file patent applications and the

patents regarding the LANI Compounds or Products generated by the Licensors after the
Effective Date (collectively, the “Licensor’s Intellectual Properties™) shall be owned by
the Licensors.

7.1.2. The Information and Inventions, and the right to file patent applications and the
patents regarding the LANI Compounds or Products gencrated by the Licensee after the
Effective Date (collectively, the “Licensee’s Intellectual Properties™) shall be owned by
the Licensee. Each of the Licensor's shall have an equal, undivided perpetual, paid up
royalty free right to use Licensee's Intellectual Properties.

7.1.3. In the case of Inventions owned jointly by at least one employee of Biota or
Sankyo and one employec of the Licensee (“Joint Inventions™), the Partics shall agree on
whether or not to sccure patent protection and which Party shall bear the primary
responsibility for preparing, filing, prosecuting the Patents resulting thercfrom. The
Parties shall equally share all expenses related thercto. Each Party shall promptly render
all necessary assistance reasonably requested by the other Party in applying for and
prosecuting the patent applications. If any Party does not elect to participate in the
expense of filing for such Joint Inventions, the other Party or Partics may do so at its own
expense, excluding the declining Party from ownership.
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2.2, Maintepance of Patents

7.2.1. Each Party shall, at its own expense, diligently take all steps necessary to maintain
its own Patents, in full force and effect, including but not limited to a duty to diligently
file and pursue any reissues and re-examinations, if applicable. If any Party elects not to
maintain any of its own Patents, it shall promptly notify the others of that election and
shall, at the other Parties request, assign 1o the other Parties all right, title and interest in
and 1o such Patents of the assigning Party. In such case, the other Parties shall bear the
cost and responsibility for the maintenance of such Patents and the assigning Party shall
render all necessary assistance reasonably requested by the other Parties in maintaining
such Patents.

7.2.2. In the event that Joint Inventions are registered, the Party who bears the primary
responsibility for preparing, filing, prosecuting such Joint Inventions shall bear the
primary responsibility for performing the oblipation to maintain registered Patents
resulting from such Joint Inventions (“Joint Patents™) as set forth in Section 7.2.1. Each
Party shall promptly render all necessary assistance reasonably requested by the other
Parties in performing such obligation. Any and all costs and expenses reasonably
necessary and useful to perform such obligation on any and all Joint Patents shall be
borne by all Parties equally.

7.2.3. Notwithstanding the provision of Section 7.2.1, each Party shall be relicved from
its obligation to maintain its own Patents stipulated by Section 7.2.1, in the cvent that the
Licensors determine that any Products related to such Patents will not undergo
Development or be Commercialized as a Development Candidate.,

7.2.4. The Partics agree to cooperate to obtain, to the fullest extent allowed by Laws, an
extension of exclusivity beyond the full term expiry date of any Patents subject to this
Agreement which the Partics muteally agree may maximize commercial return of
Products. The Partics shall provide all relevant patent information to the Regulatory
Authority or other applicable agency as required by Laws.

7.3. Patent Infringement
73.1. In the event that the Licensee is charged with the infringement of a patent or other

intellectual properties, including but not limited to utility model, design or trademark
owned by any third party or receives any filing of any claim or suit by any third party
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related to the Products because of any of the activities necessary (o the performance of its
obligations under this Agreement, the Licensee shall notify the other Parties fully and
promptly in writing upon receipt of any knowledge or notice of the charge of
infringement, specifying its nature and by whom it was raised. The Licensors shall in
good faith offer the Licensee reasonable cooperation so that the Licensee may handle
such claim or suit at its own expense and for its own account. The Licensce shall
prosecute and control such claim or suit and periodically inform the other Parties of its
intended course of action and shall provide the other Parties with the opportunity to
comment on significant actions or elements of its course of action. The Licensee may not
settle any such claim or suit without the prior written consent of the other Parties, which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, except as provided hereafter. Any
costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Licensee in
defending against such claim or suit shall be borne by the Licensee. Either Licensor shall
have the option to take over the action at its discretion and its own expense, provided,
however, that failure by ithe Licensee to diligently defend the action shall not relieve
Licensee of responsibility for the expense of the action.

7.3.2. Infringement by Third Parties, In the cvent that any Party becomes aware that the
Patents or other intellectual property, including but not limited to utility model, design or
trademark (collectively, “Tntellectual Properties” in this Section) are threatened to be
infringed or disputed by any third party, such Party shall notify the other Partics fully and
promptly in writing, specifying the nature of the threat and by whom they are threatened
to be infringed or disputed. The Licensors shall in good faith offer the Licensee
reasonable cooperation so that the Licensee may handle such claim or suit at its own
expense and for its own account. The Licensee shall prosceute and control such claim or
suit and periodically inform the other Partics of its intended course of action and shall
provide the other Partics with the opportunity to comment on significant actions or
elements of its course of action. The Licensee may not settle any such claim or suit
without the prior written consent of the other Parties, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, cxcept as provided hercafter. Any costs and expenses,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Licensee in defending against such
claim ar suit shall be borne by the Licensee.  If the Licensce docs not exercise its right to
control the conduct of defense of any such action in response to any such claim within 33X
{(XX) days of becoming aware of or being notificd of such infringement, then the Party
owning or controlling such Intellectual Property shall have the right, but not the
obligation, to bring such action.
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ants. Each of the Licensors and the

ee o

Licensce cach hercby represents, warrants, covenants acknowledges and agrees that the
other is relying, and is entitled to rely, on the following representations, warranties, and
covenanis:

(a) Each Party has the corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this

(e

e

(d)

(€)

Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder, and the execution, delivery
and performance of this Agreement has been duly and validly authorized and
approved by proper corporate action on the part of such Party. Each Party has
taken all other action required to be taken by such Party under the Laws, its
certificate of incorporation, by-laws or any agreement to which it is a party with
respect to the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement. Assuming
due authorization, execution and delivery on the part of a Party, this Agreement
constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Party, enforceable against
such Party in accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may
be limited by applicable Laws or by bankruptey, insolvency, reorganization or
other similar Laws of general application relating to creditors’ rights; and

To the best of its knowledge as of the Effective Date, the execution and delivery
of this Agreement by a Party and the performance by such Party contemplated
hereunder shall not violate any Laws or any order of a court or a Regulatory
Authority; and

To the best of its knowledge as of the Effective Date, neither the execution and
delivery of this Agreement nor the performance hereof by a Party requires such
Party to obtain any permits, authorizations or consents from any governmental
authority other than a Regulatory Authority or from any other person; and

During the Term, each Party shall fulfill its obligations under this Agreement, in
acegrdance with the terms of this Agreement and 2]l applicable Laws; and

During the Term, each Party shall retain and maintain compliance with all

necessary government authorizations and permits necessary to Manufacture and
supply the Product and to otherwise perform each Party's obligations under this
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Agreement; and

(f) All of a Party's employees, officers and consultanis participating in the
performance of this Agreement are, to the extent permitted under applicable Laws,
under obligations (i) to assign to such Party all Inventions made during the course
of and as a result of their association with such Party, and (ii) to maintain as
confidential the Confidential Information received from or on behalf of the other
Party; and

(g) Each Party shall not knowingly employ any employee in performing the services
hereunder who has been debarred or disqualified by a Regulatory Authority or
any governmental agency.

entitled to rely, on the following representations, warranties, and covenants:

(2) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by each of the
Licensors shall not result in the breach of or give rise to any termination of any
agreement o contract relating to the Product to which each of the Licensors is a
party; and

(b) To the best of each of the Licensor's knowledge, as of the Effective Date, the
activities of the Licensee contemplated hereunder does not infringe any patent
rights or any other proprietary rights of any third party; and

{(c) As of and prior to the Effective Date, neither of the Licensors has granted to any
third party a license under any Pateat or [nformation owed or Controlled by each
of the Licensors to make, use, sell, offer to sell, and/or impont Product in the
Licensee's Territory; and

{d) The Licensed Patents are duly and validly registered ar applied for in the countries
in the Licensee Territory with respect to each Licensed Patent and each Licensor
agrees 1o continue to use commercially reasonable efforts 1o obtain and maintain
the registrations of the Licensed Patents in full force and effect during the Term
hereof at their sole cost and expense, taking into account the amount of revenues
received from such Licensed Patents on a country-by-country basis.
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83. Mo Other Warranty EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS
AGREEMENT, NEITHER LICENSOR MAKES ANY OTHER REPRESENTATIONS
OR WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO
THIS AGREEMENT. THE LICENSE 1S PROVIDED WITHOUT WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE,
WARRANTY AS TO THE ENFORCEABILITY OR SCOPE OF ANY LICENSED
PATENT IN THE FIELD, OR ANY OTHER WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED.
LICENSORS MAKE NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY THAT LICENSEE'S
ACTIVITIES UNDER THE LICENSE WILL NOT INFRINGE ANY PATENT OR
OTHER PROPRIETARY RIGHT OF A THIRD PARTY. LICENSOR WILL NOT BE
LIABLE FOR SUCH INFRINGEMENT, OR AN ALLEGATION THEREOF, NOR
SHALL THE SAME BE AN EXCUSE FOR NONFERFORMANCE OF THE
LICENSEE'S OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER. THE LICENSORS ASSUME NO
RESPONSIBILITIES OR LIABILITIES TOWARDS THE LICENSEE OR THIRD
PARTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT,
MANUFACTURE, USE, SALE OR DISPOSITION OF LICENSED PRODUCT IN
THE FIELD. THE ENTIRE RISK AS TO LICENSED PRODUCT IN THE FIELD IS
ASSUMED BY LICENSEE.

8.4. Limitation of Liability, SUBJECT TO ARTICLE XIII (13), NO PARTY SHALLBE
ENTITLED TO RECOVER FROM ANOTHER PARTY ANY SPECIAL,
INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES IN CONNECTION
WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY LICENSE GRANTED HEREUNDER, UNLESS
SUCH DAMAGES ARE INFLICTED AS A RESULT OF THE NEGLIGENCE OR
WRONGDOING OF THE OTHER PARTY.

8.3, Survival of Limitation of Liability. Sections 83 and 8.4 shall survive any
termination or expiration of this Agreement.

9. Term and Termination

2.1, Term

9.1.1. The Agreement will commence on the Effective Datc and, unless ecarlier
terminated as provided for hercunder, continue until the expiration of the last-to-expire
Patent within the Territory owned or Controlled by either or both of the Licensors
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claiming the Manufacture, use, importation or sale of the Products on a
country-hy-country basis, and theseafier shall automatically be renewed each year for one
(1) year periods unless either party gives at least six (6) months written notice of
termination of this Agreement to the other before the expiration of the term of this
Agreement. While this Agreement remains in force, the Licensee shall continue to have
the right to use the Information owned by Licensors.

9.2, Earli e
9.2.1. Either the Licensors or the Licensee may, without prejudice to any other remedies
available to it at law or in equity, terminate the Agreement on a country by country basis
prior to the end of the term, by giving the other sixty (60) days written notice (*Motice
Period”) upon occurrence of any of the following events:

9.2.1.1. “Material breach” defined as the default of any material obligation hereunder by
either the Licensor or the Licensee, which has not been remedied within sixty (60) days
after one Party sends written notice detailing the substance of the default to the defaulting
Party, ar

9.2.1.2. “Insolvency” meaning the insolvency, bankruptcy, dissolution or liquidation of
the other Party, where such Party is subject to the filing or consents to the filing of a
petition under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or has any such petition filed against it
which has not been dismissed within ninety (90) days of such filing, appointment of a
trustes, administrator, or receiver for all or substantially all of the assets of such Party, or
assignment of the assets of such Party for the benefit of creditors, or attachment or
expropriation of the business or assets of such Party, or

9.2.1.3. “Unresolved Differences” meaning that despite the commercially reasonable
efforts of the Parties, the Parties are unable to resolve disputes as provided herein.

9214 “Development neglect” meaning that the Licensee ceases Development of the
Produet for more than six (6) consecutive months for reasons within its control until any
Regulatory Authority grants Marketing Approval for the Product to the Licensce in the
Territory.,

9.2.1.5 “Marketing Failure” meaning that the Product may not be sold as a result of a
recall or market withdrawal and such inability to sell the Product continues for a period of
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twelve (12) months, provided, however, that if the Marketing Failure is applicable to a
certain Territory, the termination shall only apply to that Territory and shall not affect the
Agreement in other Territories.

9.2.1.6. The right of a Parly to terminate this Agreement as provided in this Section 9.2
shall not be affected in any way by its waiver or failure to take action with respect to any
previous default,

9.3, Rights on termination

9.3.1. If either Party terminates this Agreement pursuant to Scction 9.2, in those
countries where such termination takes effect:

(a) all rights to the LAN] Compounds and all relevant Patents including the
Licensor’s Intellectual Properties, Trademarks, licenses and other rights
granted or assigned to either Parly at any time under this Agreement
(collectively, “Rights™) shall revert to the Licensors; and

(b)  if this Agreement is terminated by the Licensors, the Licensors shall negotiate
in gnod faith 8 mechanism to allow the Licensee, should it so wish, to continue
to Develop, Manufacture, file for Marketing Approval, use, sell, offer for sale
the Product in such country.

9.3.1.1. Without prejudice to any exclusive license granted herein, a Party that granis a
license to a third party under a Joint Invention shall obtain the prior written consent of the
other Party to such a license, such consent not (o be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

9.3.2. The provisions of Section 9.3.1 and this Section 9.3.2 shall survive the termination
for any reason of this Agreement. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement,
neither Party shall be liable 1o the other based on, or as a resull of, the termination of this
Agreement as provided herein, whether in loss of good will, anticipated profits or
otherwise.

10. Confidentiality
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10.1. During the term of this Agreement and for a period of seven (7) years thereafter,
each Party (z) shall hold the Technology, the Information and any marketing and other
confidential information, whether in written, oral, visual, or machine readable form
disclosed by either Party to the other under this Agreement (the “Confidential
Information™) and the Substances supplied by either Party to the other under this
Agreement in confidence with the same degree of care it maintains the confidentiality of
its own Confidential Information and Substances, (b) shall not disclose such Confidential
Information and make Substances available to any third party without the prior written
consent of the disclosing Party, and (c) shall not use such Confidential Information and
Substances other than for exercising its rights and/or performance of its obligation under
this Agreement except for any information which is evidenced that:
(i)  was in the receiving party’s possession at the time of disclosure,
(iiy  was publicly known at the time of such disclosure,
(iii)  becomes publicly known through no default of the receiving party,
(iv)  was obtained legally by the receiving Party from a duly authorized third party,
or
(v) was independently discovered without the aid or application of the
information received.

10.2, Each Party may disclose the Confidential Information and make the Substances
available only to those of its cmployees, contraciors, and agents who have a need to know
such Confidential Information and the Substances to implement the terms of this
Agreement. The Parties agree to take reasonable precautions to preserve the confidential,
proprictary or secret status of the Confidential Information and Substances and shall
require that cach of their respective employees, contractors, and agents understand and
agree in writing to treat and to hold such Confidential Information and Substances in
confidence consistent with the provisions herein,

10.3. Within thirty (30) days of the date of termination of this Agreement for any reason,
the Partics shall provide each other with written notice specifying that through reasonable
care and to the best of its knowledge: () all Confidential Information embodied in whole
of in part in documents, materials, things, and copics thereof have been desiroyed or
returned to the other Party, (b) the originals and all copies of any machine-readable
documentation containing any portion of the Confidential Information have been
destroyed or returned to the other Party, (c) all remaining Substances supplied by the
either Party have been returned to the other Party or destroyed, unless otherwise agreed in
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writing between the Parties, and (d) all use of the Substances by the returning Party has
ceased.

104. No Party may issue any press release, publication, or any other public
announcement relating to this Agreement, the LANI Compounds or the Product without
obtaining the other Parties’ prior written approval, which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, The Parties shall in good faith prepare mutually
acceplable anmouncements prior to such release, publication or announcement.
Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, cach Party may use the substance of previously
approved public announcements and the substance of other public announcements of the
other Party without prior notice.

11.1. The Licensors shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Licensce, its
employees, agents, officers, directors, permitted licensees, successors and permitted
assigns (collectively, the “Licensee Indemnified Parties™), from and against any and all
costs, liabilities, judgments, obligations, losses, expenses and damages (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) of whatsoever kind or nature (collectively,
“Losses”) incurred by or imposed upon any Licensee Indemnified Party ss a result of any
claims, actions, suits or proceedings (collectively, “Claims™) arising out of or related to,
in any way, the licensing, Development, Manufacture, marketing, promotion, importation,
sale or other use (collectively, “Use”) of the Product in any country by the Licensor
pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, regardless of whether such Claims or Losses are
based upon theories of contract, tort, product liability, strict liability, infringement of any
patent, trademark, trade name, logo, service mark, trade dress, trade secret, or any other
legal or equitable theory; provided, however, that the Licensee shall indemnify the
Licensors for Losses proven to have been caused solely from an act or omission by

Licensee.

11.2 The Licensee shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each of the Licensors, and
each of their employees, agents, officers, directors, permitted licensees, successors and
permitted assigns (collectively, the “Licensor Indemnified Parties™), from and against any
and all costs, liabilities, judgments, obligations, losses, expenses and damages (including
reaspnable attomeys' fees and expenses) of whatsoever kind or nature (collectively,
“Losses™) incurred by or imposed upon any Licensor Indemnified Party as a result of any
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claims, sctions, suits or proceedings (collectively, “Claims™) arising out of or related to,
in any way, the licensing, Development, Manufacture, marketing, promotion, importation,
sale or other use (collectively, “Use”) of the Product in any country by the Licensee
pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, regardless of whether such Claims or Losses are
based upon theories of contract, tort, product liability, strict liability, infringement of any
patent, trademark, trade name, logo, service mark, trade dress, trade secret, or any other
legal or equitable theory; provided, however, that the Licensors shall indemnify Licenses
for Losses proven to have been caused solely from an act or omission by the Licensors.

11.3. Each Party shall give prompt written notice to the other of any Claim asserted
against such Party (in such capacity, the “Notifying Party™) arising from or relating to the
Product, regardless of whether the Notifying Party 15 entitled 1o seck indemnification
from the other Party pursuant to either Section 11.1 or 11.2. The Parties shall, subject to
the execution of an appropriate non-disclosure agreement, reasonably consult with, and
share information with, each other regarding such Claim and shall reasonably cooperate
and assist each other in the event that the Notifying Party wishes to pursue any claim
against any third party in connection therewith, in each case at the sole cost and expense
of the Motifying Party. Each sublicense agrecment entered into by a Party relating to any
Product in accordance herewith shall contain a provision substantially similar to that set
forth in this Section 11.3.

11.4. SUBJECT TO ARTICLE XIII {13), NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE ENTITLED
TO RECOVER FROM THE OTHER PARTY ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL,
CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES IN CONMECTION WITH THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY LICENSE GRANTED HEREUNDER, UNLESS SUCH
DAMAGES ARE INFLICTED AS A RESULT OF THE NEGLIGENCE OR
WRONGDOING OF THE OTHER PARTY.

12. Amendment

12.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Section, all amendments to this agreement
must be in writing and signed by authorized representatives of both parties.
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13. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

13.1. Any claim, dispute or controversy of whatever nature arising oul of or relating to
this Agreement, including without limitation, any action based on tort, contract or statute,
or coneerning the interpretation, effect, termination, validity, performance or breach of
this Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of New York without
regard to its conflict of law principles.

The Parties shall first negotiate in good faith to resolve any disputes which arise under
this Agreement, but failing amicable solution, all unresolved disputes shall, at the request
of either Party, be finally settled under the Rules of Arbitration of the International
Chamber of Commerce by three (3) arbitrators appointed in accordance with said
Rules. The venue of the Arbitration shall be New York. The language of the arbitration
shall be English.

Forc eure

14.1. Neither Party hercto shall be Liable for any failure or delay in performance of this
agreement oceasioned in whole or in part by acts of God, strike, lock-out, fire, earthquake,
epidemic, inability to obtain materials or shipping space, breakdown, delay of carrier or
regulation of any government or any other cause beyond its control, provided that said
Party has exercised due and reasonable care and its best efforts to avoid any of the
above-mentioned events,

15. Notices

15.1. Any notice or report pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed duly given if
delivered personally, sent by airmail, international recognized courier service, electronic
mail {provided such electronic mail is followed by facsimile confirmation in accordance
with this Section 15.1) or facsimile addressed to the other Party at the addresses facsimile
number set forth below, or to such other address or facsimile number a5 shall have
theretofore been fumished by one Party to the other in accordance with this Section, and
shall be deemed to have been given when sent.

ZE31




If to Sankyo: Sankyo Company, Limited

Attention: Director, Licensing Department
Fax: +81-3-5255-T086

Telephone: +81-3-5255-T054

e mail’ moriaki@hq.eankyo.cojp

If to Biota:

Attention:
Fax:
e-mail:

If to Licensee:

Altention:
Fax:
e-mail:

i t of Rights and Obligntions

16.1. Either Party may assign all or any part of this Agreement to any Affiliate. In all
other respects, neither Party shall voluntarily or by operation of law assign, hypothecate,
give, transfer, mortgage, sublet, license, or otherwise transfer or encumber all or part of
its rights, duties, or other interests in this Agreement or the proceeds thereof (collectively,
“Assignment™) in whole or in part to any third party without prior written consent of the
other, provided, however that the Licensors may assign this Agreement in the event of an
acquisition of the Licensor by a third party. In the event Licensee is acquired by a third
party, either Licensor may terminate this Agreement upen reasonable notice to the other
Parties. Any attempl to make an Assignment in violation of this provision shall be a
material default under this Agreement and any Assignment in violation of this provision
shall be null and void.

17. Entire Agreement

17.1. This Agreement, together with the Confidential Disclosure Agreement dated
EEET and the Appendices attached hereto, set forth the entire agreement and

understanding between the Parties as to the subject matter hereof, and supercedes all
agreements and understandings between the parties as to the subject matter, whether oral
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or in writing.
18. No Implied Waiver

18.1 No failure or delay on the part of either Party to exercise any right under this
Agreement or provided for by Laws shall impair, prejudice or constitute a waiver of such
right.

19. Severability.

19.1. If and to the extent that any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction holds any of
the terms, provisions or conditions of this Agreement or parts thereof, or the application
hereof to any circumstances, lo be illegal, invalid or unenforceable in a final
non-appealable order, (i) such provision shall be fully severable, (ii) this Agreement shall
be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision had never
comprised a part hereof, (iii) the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in
full force and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable
provision or by its severance herefrom, and (iv) in lien of such illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision, there shall be added automatically as a part of this Agreement, a
legal, valid and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision as may be possible.

20. No License,

20.1. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute the grant of any license or
other right in any Party to the other Party in respect of any product, patent, trademark,
confidential information, trade secret or other data or any other intellectual property of
the other Party except as expressly set forth herein.

21. Headings.

21.1. The headings for each anticle and section in this Agreement have been inserted for
convenience of reference only and are not inlended to limit or expand on the meaning of
the language contained in the particular article or section nor to be used in construing or
interpreting any of the provisions of this Agreement.
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22. Appendixes
22.1. All Appendixes to this Agreement are by this reference incorporated herein and
made a part of this Agreement.

23. Counterparis.

23.1. This Agreement may be execuled in three or more counterparts, each of which shall
be desmed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement 1o be executed and
effective as of the date first indicated above.

BIOTAHOLDINGSLTD.  SANKYO CO., LTD Licensee
By ' By By
Name Name Mame
Title Title Title
Date Date Date
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Exhibit 10.6

Certain information contained in this document, marked by ***, is filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

amended
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AMENDMEMNT #1
to
Collaboration and License Agreement
Between
Biota Holdings Limited,
Biota Scientific Management Pty. Ltd.
and

Sankyo Co., Ltd.

THIS AMENDMENT, effective as of June 30%, 2005 between Biota Holdings
Limited and Biota Scientific Management Pty. Litd. (jointly referred to as “Biota"),
both being corporations organized and existing under the laws of Victoria, Australia,
with offices at 616 St. Kilda Road Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, and Sankyo
Company Limited (“Sankyo™, a joint stock company organized and existing under
the laws of Japan, with offices at 3-5-1, Nihonbashihoncho, Chuo-ku, Tokyo, Japan
sets forth the agreement between the Parties as follows:

Recitals

1. Whereas, Biota Holdings Limited and Sankyo entered into a Collaboration
and License Agreement dated September 29, 2003 (hereafter referred to as the
“Apreement”);

2. Whereas, Biota desires to expedite the clinical development of the LANI
Compounds by providing funding of certain research and development work:

3. Whereas, Sankyo desires to cooperate with Biota in expediting such
development; and

4. Whereas, the Parties desive to add Biota Scientific Management Pty Lid. as
a Party to the Apreement

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises

contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the Parties hereto
agres to amend the Apreement as follows: C
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1. Definitions

1.1  Any capitalized terms set forth in this Amendment shall have the same
meanings as those set forth in the Agreement.

1.2 The “Activities” to be undertaken by Biota under this Amendment with
respect to the LANI Compounds (specifically CS-8958) may include the following:

(a})  Any Phase | studies with respect to the LANI Compounds,

(b}  Proof of Concept (POC) studies in preparation for Phase II
studies,

{z)  Pre-clinical studies for Phase II,
(d¥  Phase II studies for which Biota has adequate funding,

{e)  Development of the delivery device using a third party with
expertise in such devices,

(f) Evaluating, applving for, registering and maintaining the
Trademarks.

(g} Any other studies or development work agreed upon in writing
by the Parties.

1.3  The “Astivities” to be undertaken by Sankyo under this Amendment
with respect to the LANI Compounds (specifically C5-8958) may include providing
of API and its related compounds for the development and for the studies to be
performed under the NIH study and for any other Activity agreed in writing by the
Parties.

2, Funding of the Development

2.1  The Parties hereby agree that Biota may provide the funding for the
Activities in an amount not to exceed [=] It
Biota desires to invest more than  [=] in funding for the Activities, the Parties
will negotiate in good faith regarding the terms of such additional funding.

2.2  SBankvo may also provide funding toward the Activities in an amount
up to  [=] if it desires to do so. If Sankyo

desires to invest more than [ in funding for the Activities, the Parties will
negotiate in good faith regarding the terms of such additional funding.

¢
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2.3 Any Party providing funding for compensation under this Amendment
will keep accurate records of the nature and amount of all such expenses and will
send reports of such expenses to the other Party within thirty (30) days of the end of
each calendar quarter. Each Party shall have the right to audit the records of the
other Party in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.3.2 of the Agreement.
This right to audit shall remain in effect throughout the term of this Amendment
and for a period of two (2) years after the termination of this Amendment. The
Parties shall settle all differences arising from the audit within thirty (30) days
after notification of any errors discovered during the audit.

3. Compensation for the Funding

3.1  Any Party which provides funding for the Activities shall be
compensated as follows:

3.1.1 All funds for Activities shall be compensated to the Party
making the investment by repaying double the amount of the investment.

3.1.2 The compensation shall be paid in a preferential manner out of
procecds received from any Licenszee as upfront payments, milestone payments or
royalties (hereafter reforred to as “Licensee Payments”).

3.1.3 The compensation shall be made using two-thirds (2/3) of any
Licensee Payment which shall be paid in a preferential manner to the Party or
Parties providing the funding in proportion to the funding provided by each Party.
The remaining one-third (1/3) of any Licensee Payment will be considered as a
“Profit Sharing” fee and shall be paid to Biota and Sankyo in equal amounts (50:50)
as provided in the Agreement.

2.1.4 If the amount of the compensation to be paid to the Parties is
less than two-thirds (2/8) of the amount of the Licensee Payment, then the balance
of the Licenses Payment shall be paid as a Profit Sharing fee. If the amount of the
eompensation to be paid to the Parties is greater than two-thirds (2/3) of the amount
of the Licensee Payment available, then the remainder of the compensation shall be
carried forward until the next Licensee Payment is received. (See the attached
“Example.”)

8.1.5 The compensation will be paid within thirty (30) days of receipt
of any Licensee Payment with respect to expenses incurred and reported in
aceordance with paragraph 2.3 above.

3.1.6 The costs and expenses to be compensated shall include (i) any
third party expenses for the Activities paid after January 1=, 2005, (ii} the cost of

C

3 A ’




APT for the Activities including intermediate incurred prior to the effective date of
this Amendment, and (iii) the expenses for the NIH program as set forth in Section
5.1 below,

3.2 Inthe caze of Biota, funding will be provided by, and compensation will
be paid to, Biota Scientific Management Pty. Ltd.

3.3 The funding to be provided by the Parties, and which will be
compensated as provided herein, will be allowed as follows:

(a)  subcontract costs for clinical and pre-elinical studies performed by
third party investigators under contract with Biota,

(b}  the actual price charged by Sankyo’s Affiliate for manufacturing API,

(¢} the actual fees paid to consultants to help obtain the NIH grant,

(d)  the cost of contracting the dry powder inhaler feasibility studies,
including third-party consultants required to evaluate candidate inhalers,

(e}  any third-party expenses required to evaluate, apply for, register and
maintain the Trademarks,

(f)  out-of-pocket expenses for other outside professional services and any
other out-of-pocket expenses or costs required for the Activities or otherwise agreed
by the Parties.

3.4 Sankyo will provide the necessary API for the Activities in the amounts
and at a price to be agreed between the Parties. This price will be the actual price
charged to Sankyo by its manufacturing Affiliate and will include the salaries and
indirect costs of employees of the Affiliate, but will not inelude any profit margin for
Sankyo. These amounts will be compensated as provided above.

3.5 In the event that either Party terminates the Agreement pursuant to
Section 8.2 thereof, or the Agreement is terminated early upon mutual agreement,
and one of the Parties continues to Develop, Manufacture, license or sell any of the
LANI Compounds in any country (the “Continuing Party”), the Continuing Party
shall compensate the other Party any of the funding provided for in this section,
including the double funding provided for in Section 3.1.1 above. The compensation
shall be paid in full within thirty (30) days after the Continuing Party receives from
the other Party an invoice setting forth in detail the amount of any remaining
funding which has not already been compensated. After the funding is fully
compensated, the Continuing Party will pay the other Party (i) compensation, as
profit sharing, in a range of twenty to forty percent (20-40%) of any Licensee
Payments the Continuing Party may receive from Licensees, or (i} in case of direct
sales of the Product by the Continuing Party, a royalty on its Net Sales in a range of
twenty to forty percent (20-40%) of the highest rate paid by any Licensee under the
Agreement. The details of this arrangement shall be contained in a new agreement
to be negotiated in good faith between the Parties.
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3.6  Any disputes relating to the amount of the funding or the
compensation to be paid under this section shall be resolved through good faith
negotiations of the Parties. In the event of a failure to reach an agreement within
sixty (60) days, the matter shall be resolved in accordance with Section 13 of the
Agreement.

4, Management of Activities

4.1  Biota will take the lead in managing the Activities, provided, however,
that important issues related to the Activities, such as study plans and protocel and
the device selection, shall first be roferred to the Licensing Committee.

4.2 In order to defermine which izsues need to be submitted to the
Licensing Committes, each Party will submit an outline of any development plans
to the Licensing Committee prior to commencing the Activities together with a
proposed budget. If no objection is raised by a member of the Licensing Committee
within fifteen (15} business days of receiving the development plan, the plan will be
deemed to be approved. Urgent or emergency changes to the development plan may
be made by Biota if, in its discretion, it is determined that such changes are
required for medical or safety reasons or, based on study results, it is determined
that changes must be made to accomplish the purpose of the development plan.

5. Wational Institute of Health (NITH) Study

5.1 The Parties agree that each has expended substantial sums of money
to obtain the NTH grant and that each Party will be compensated under Section 3
above, Le double compensation, for any expenses paid to third parties to obtain the
NIH grant or to complete the activities contemplated thereunder, including the cost
of API provided by Sankye, which are not paid by the NIH grant.

5.2 The Parties agree that any nebulizer or other results achieved by this
MNIH study will be considered to be Joint Intellectual Property or Joint [nventions
under the Agreement and any proceeds arising from such Inventions will be shared
50:50 between the Parties.

6. Biota Scientific Management Pty. Ltd.
6.1 Biota Scientific Management Pty. Ltd. (BSM) is hereby added to the

Agreement as a Party. Wherever, the term “Biota" appears in the Agreement or this
Amendment, it shall apply to both Biota Holdings Limited and to BSM, unless the

context otherwise requires.
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6.2  Recital 1 of the Agreement shall be amended as follows: Biota
Secientific Management Pty. Ltd owns certain patents and, together with Biota
Holdings Limited, has expertise and know'how in the field of long-acting
neuraminidase inhibitors (LANI Compound[s]), and has synthesized and optimized
several LANI Compounds which may be suitable for preclinical and clinieal
development, and wishes to collaborate with a key partner in the development of
LANT Compounds for Commercialization (defined below) worldwide.

6.3 As the primary holder of the Biota Techmology, BSM shall be
responsible for carrving out Biota's responsibilities with respeet to the Biota
Technology under the Agreement and all payments to be made to Biota under the
Agreement and this Amendment shall be made to BSM.

6.4  Any Joint Intellectual Property or Joint Inventions arising out of the
Agroement (see Section 7 of the Agreement) may be, at Biota's option, owned or
applied for in the name of BSM.

6.5 Any notices to be given to Biota in accordance with Section 15 of the
Agreement shall be deemed to be given to both Biota Holdings Limited and to BSM
if given in the manner prescribed in Section 15 thereof.

T. Trademarks

7.1  Section 7.4.1 of the Agreement 15 hereby amended to read as follows:
T7.4.1 Itisthe intent of the Parties that, wherae possible, each Product ba sold under
a single trademark worldwide which shall be selected by Biota with the approval of
Sankyo and, where feasible, in consultation with Licensees, It is understood that in
some countries, other trademarks may be necessary or advisable or recommended
by the Licensee. All trademarks used on Products under this Agreement (hereafter
referred to as “Trademarks"™) will be owned and registered by Biota. Any royalties
or other payvments for the use of Trademarks paid by Licensee to Biota or Sankyo
shall be considered as Consideration and shared equally between Biota and Sankyo
during and following the term of this Agreement. Biota shall be responsible for
evaluating, applying for, registering and maintaining the Trademarks. The
expenses related thereto shall be a reimbursable expense under the Amendment
until License Agreements are negotiated, at which time the Parties will use their
best efforts to have Licensees take over the expenses related to the Trademarks,
Upon any termination of this Agreement under Section 3.5 of the Amendment, the
Parties shall cooperate with cach other to execute appropriate licenses to make the
Trademarks available to the Continuing Party royalty-free, unless otherwise agreed
by the Parties. At the end of the full term of this Agreement, and following the
termination of a License Agreement in any country in the Territory, either Party
may use the Trademarks to sell the Products on a royalty-free basis, unless
otherwise agreed by the Parties, because joint use of one Trademark is prohibited by




local law or customary practice. The Parties shall cooperate with each other,
including the execution of any necessary license agreements or other documents, to
make it possible for each Party to market or co-promote the Products using the
Trademarks. If co-marketing of the Products is not allowed under local law or not
feasible under lecal customs in a certain country in the Territory, the Parties shall
negotiate in good faith the use of the Trademarks and appropriate compensation
therefore. This Section 7.4.1 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

7.2  Appendix F of the Agreement (License Template Between Biota
Holdings Limited and Sankyo Co., Ltd.) shall be amended as shown in this
Amendment to Appendix F which is attached hereto and made a part of the
Agresment.

8. Term and Termination

8.1 The term of this Amendment shall commence on the date first above
written and shall remain in effect as long as the Agreement is in effect or until the
Parties otherwise agree in writing to terminate this Amendment, except the Parties
may not provide the funding as set forth in Sections 2.1 and 2.2 after a License
Agreement is executed unless the Parties agree otherwise.

9. Entire Agreement

9.1. This Amendment, together with the Agreement, as hereby amended
under Sections 6 and 7 referred to above and the Example attached hereto, set forth
the entire agreement and understanding between the Parties as to the subject
matter hereof, and supersedes all agreements and understandings between the
Parties as to the subject matter, whether oral or in writing.
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the Parties have caused this Amendment to be cxecuted
and effective as of the date first indicated abowve.

BIOTA HOLDINGS LTD.

BIOTA SCIENTIFIC
MANAGEMENT PTY. LTD.

w /L

MName: Andrew Macdonald
Title: Chief Financial Officer/Company
Secretary

Date: Juwg de oo

835093

SANKYO COMPANY LIMITED

5 \
Name: Akira Morita
Title: Director, Licensing Department

Corporate QOfficer

Date! jfm 30, z.#ﬂs'

cpe
/]




EXAMPLE
FOR ILLUSTRATION PURPOSES ONLY

The following example is provided as an illustration to demonstrate how compensation would
be handled under Section 3 of this Amendment.

In this examnle. the investment made bv the parties is capoed at [***] each.

Reimbursements will be in proportion to the investment made by each party at the time of the
paymant.

crq

*** Portions of this page have been omitted pursuant to a request for Confidential Treatment filed separately with the Commission.




APPENDIX F

License Template
Between
Biota Scientific Management Piy, Lid.

and

Sankyo Co., Lid.

This License Template sets forth the basic understanding of Sankyo and Biota
relating 1o the License Agreement to be executed with a Licensee or Licensees pertaining
1o the eo-licensing of a Produet or Products. This License Template shall be binding on
both Sankyo and Biota. The terms of any Co-Licensing Agreement shall be consistent
with the terms as described below,

THIS AGREEMENT, effective as of » 20 between Biota
Scientific Management Pty. Ltd. (“Biota™), a corporation organized and existing under
the laws of Victoria, Australia, with offices at 616 St. Kilda Road Melbourne, Victoria,
Australia, and Sankyo Co., Ltd. (*Sankyo™), a joint stock company organized and
existing under the laws of Japan, with offices at 3-5-1, Nihenbashi-honcho, Chuo-ku,
Tokyo, Japan {collectively Biota and Sankyo are referred to as the “Licensors™) on the one
hand; and

[Licensee Name], a corporation organized and existing under the laws of (the
“Licensee) sets forth the agreement between the Licensors and the Licensee as follows:

va /
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Recitals

1. Biota and Sankyo both have expertise, know-how and patents in the field of long-acting
neuraminidase inhibitors (LANI Compound(s]), and have synthesized and optimized
several LANI Compounds which may be suitable for clinical development and
commercialization worldwide as pharmaceutical products for human consumption.

2. Biota and Sankyo have executed a Collaboration and License Agreement under which
the Licensors have agreed to pool their respective LANI Compound patents and
technology and to collaborate and work together to license the LANI Compounds to one
or more third parties for development and marketing.

3. Licensee has expertise and knowledge in the area of commercializing and

marketing pharmaceutical products for human consumption and further desires to receive
a license to develop and commercialize the LANI Compounds for the treatment and
prevention of influenza or other viral infections.

MNOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises
contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, all of the Parties hercto
agree as follows:

Definitions

1. “Affiliate” of a Party hereto means any entity that controls, is controlled by or is under
common control with such Party. For purposes of this definition, a Parly shall be deemed
1o control another entity if it owns or controls, directly or indirectly, more than fifty
percent (50%) of the voting equity of the other entity {or other comparable ownership
interest for an entity other than a corporation) or if it has management control of the other
entity.

2. “Agreement” means this document between the Licensee and the Licensors together
with any exhibits, schedules or specifications which are attached hereto and made a part of
this document at the time of its execution, together with any amendments hereto which are

CPe
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signed by authorized representatives of the Parties and incorporated as a part of this
document.

3. “API" means the active pharmaceutical ingredient using LAN] Compounds and which
is incorporated into the Products.

4, “API Manufacturing Development” means any raw material acquisition, process
development and scale-up required to provide AP of suitable quantity and quality for the
agreed Clinical Development.

5. “Biota Technology™ means, to the extent necessary or useful for the Development,
Manufacture, use or sale of the LANI Compounds, (a) all Patents that Biota Controls as of
the E.ﬁhcuw Date or during the term of the Agreement and which shall be included in
Appendix ... and (b) Information thet is not included in the Patents described in the
pmcedmg clause (a) and that Biota Controls on the Effective Date or during the term of the
Agreement.

6. “Clinical Development™ means all clinical and regulatory work required from the
Development Phase and up to Marketing Approval.

7. “Commercialization Phase” means the period after Marketing Approval through the
term of the Agreement.

8 “Commercialize or Commercialization™ means to promote, sell, distribute, and
otherwise market or promote a Product or Products, and to engage in Product
Manufacturing for purposes of sale to a consumer.

9. “Competitive Product” means a product that is an antiviral agent targeted against
influenza.

10, “Control” means, with respeet to any Information or intellectual property right,
possession by a Party of the ability (whether by ownership, license or otherwise) to grant
access, a license or a sub-licenss to such Information or intellectual property right without
violating the terms of any agreement or other arrangement with any third party as of the
time such Party would first be required hereunder to grant the other Party such access,

license or sublicense.
CPq
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11. “Ce-Promotion™ means the relationship in a country or countries in which two or more
Parties to this Agreement collaborate in their promotional efforts to maximize sales of the
Product under the same Trademark and a consistent marketing strategy and one Party
books sales of the Product within that country.

12. *Co-Market™ means the relationship in a country or countries in which two or more
Parties to this Agreement market Products under different Trademarks, separate marketing
channels and separate distribution channels, and in which both Parties book sales of the
Product within that country.

13. “Development™ means both the pre-clinical and clindcal development of a LANI
Compound.

14, “Development Candidate” means a LANI Compound from Appendix EE‘] or another
LANI compound that is developed or optimized by the Licensee during the term of this
Agreement and that the Licensee determines is suitable for Clinical Development with the
consent of the Licensors, which conzent shall not be unreasonably withheld,

15. *Development Phase” means the period of this Agreement from the Effective Date to
filing of a registration dossier for Marketing Approval,

16, “Development Plan” means a plan for developing the Products which is created and
appraved by the PDC on behalf of the Parties and which will guide the Parties in giving
oversight and direction to the Licensees in developing the Products, The Development
Plan shall be included as Wppéndie /o] to this Agreement, which may be amended from
time to time as agreed by the Parties.

17. “Effective Date™ means the date shown in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

18. “Field” means the prevention and/or treatment of influenza virus types A and B and
other viral infections with a LANI Compound.

19, “First Commercial Sale™ means the date on which the Product is first shipped by a
Party to third parties for commercial sale in a country in the Territory.
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20, “Information” means all tangible and intangible techniques, technology, practices,
trade secrets, methods, knowledge, know-how, skill, experience, test data and results
(including pharmacological, toxicological and clinical test data and results), analytical and
quality control data, results or descriptions, software and algorithms relating to the LANI
Products.

21. “Invention™ means any idea, design, concept, technique, process, method,
composition of matter or discovery, whether or not patentable, copyrightable, or otherwise
protectable with intellectual property law which is conceived of, discovered, developed,
created, made or reduced to practice during the teem of this Agreement which is useful to
the activitics contemplated hereunder.

22. “LANI Compounds” means the less than once per day dosage neuraminidase
inhibitor compounds set forth in ppendixiy which may be amended from time to time as
agreed by the Parties,

23, “Laws™ means collectively all laws, rules and regulations as amended from time to
time applicable to the Development, Commercialization and Manufacture of LANI
Compounds and the Product.

24, “Lead Compounds” means the LANI Compounds selected by the Paries for
Development and marketing and shown in Appendix ﬁ to the Agreement, which may be
amended from time to time as agreed by the Parties.

25, “Licensors™ means Sankyo and Biota,

26. “Licensed Patents™ means those patents owned or Controlled by either Sankyo or
Biota, or Sankyo and Biota collectively as described on Appendix [20].

27, “Manufacture or Manufactured™ means with respect 1o each of API and Produet, all
the aciivities relating to production of API, LANI Compounds and/or Products, including,
but not limited to, purchasing and release of raw materials, manufacturing, milling, quality
contral and assurance of all production steps, finishing, filling, labeling, packaging,
release, holding and storage and the tests and analyses conducted in connection therewith.

28. “Marketing Approval™ means any and all approvals (including, if required, price and
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reimbursement approvals), licenses, registrations, or authorizations of any regulatory
agency, department, bureau or other government entity in a jurisdiction (or, if applicable,
the European Union as a whole) that is necessary to market a Product in such jurisdiction.

29, “Net Sales” means the gross amount invoiced by a Party, its Affiliates and any
respective Licensees to third parties that are not Affiliates or Licensees of the selling party
{(unless such Affiliate or Licensee is the end user of such Product, in which case the
amount billed therefore shall be deemed to be the amount that would be billed to a third
party in an arm’s length transaction) for sales of Products to third parties, less the
following items, as allocable to such Produet (if not previcusly deducted from the amount
invoiced): (i) trade discounts, credits or allowances; (ii) credits or allowances additionally
granted upon returns, rejections or recalls (except where any such recall arises out of a
Party's, ils Affiliate's or Licensee's gross negligence, willful misconduet or frand);
(iii) freight, shipping and insurance charges; (iv) taxes, duties or other governmental
tariffs (other than income taxes); and (v) government mandated rebates.

30. “Party™ means Biota, Sankyo or a Licensee. “Parties™ mean Biota, Sankyo and the
Licensee.

31. “Patent[s]" means (a) patents filed in the country of origin, re-examinations, re-issues,
renewals, extensions and term restorations, and including foreign counterparts of any of
the foregoing, and (b) pending applications for patents filed in the country of origin,
including,  without  limitation,  provisional  applications,  continuations,
continuations-in-part, divisional and substitute applications, including, without limitation,
inventors® certificates, and foreign counterparts of any of the foregoing in each case to the
extent they are applicable to the LANI Compounds and the Field that are owned or
Controlled by a Party that either exist as of the effective date or claim Inventions owned or
Controlled by a Party and that arise cut of the activitics contemplated under this
Agreement. Existing Patents are set forth in Appendix 11 to this Agreement. Any new
Patents which come into existence during the term of this Agreement shall be added to
Appendix E@;.

32. “Product[s]” means a finished pharmaceutical product that contains a LANI
Compound.

33. “Product Development Committee” (PDC) means the joint committee established by
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the Parties in accordance with this Agreement which will oversee the Development of the
LAMNI Compounds and Products in accordance with Article 3.

34, “Regulatory Authority™ means any health regulatory authority(ies) in any country that
holds responsibility for approving applicalions or granting authorization to commence
human clinical testing of a drug andfor for granting regulatory Marketing Approval for a
Product in such country, and any successor(s) thereto,

35, “Sankyo Technology™ means, to the extent necessary or useful for the Development,
Manufacture, use or sale of LANI Compounds, (a) all Patents that Sankyo Controls as of
the Effective Date or during the term of the Agreement and which shall be included in
Appendix [}, and (b) Information that is not included in the Patents described in the
preceding clause (2) and that Sankyo Controls on the Effective Date or during the term of
the Agreement.

36. “Substance[s]” means compounds, compositions of matter, cells, cell lines, assays,
animal models and physical, biological or chemical material relating te the LANI
Compounds.

37, “Territory” means the countries listed in Mﬁﬁ :

38. “Trademark™ means the trademark or trademarks sclected by the Licensors and for use
in connection with the commercialization, promotion and marketing of the Product in one
or any of the countries in the Territory,

1. License Grant

1.1. Grant of Patent License, Until the last-to-gxpire Patent within the Territory expires
the Licensors hereby grant to the Licensce under the Patents and Information owned by
the Licensors, an exclusive license to develop, make, use, scll, offer for sale, and import
the Product in the Ficld in cach country in the Territory. For purposcs of this Scction 1, the
term “exclusive” means to the exclusion of all other parties in the Territory, including
Licensors, unless the Parties agree to a co-marketing or eo-prometion arrangement in the
Temitory.

1.2. Grant of Trademark License. After the last-to-expire Patent within the Territory
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expires, the Licensors may grant to the Licensee under the Trademark owned by the
Licensors, an exclusive license to use sell, offer for sale and import the Product in cach
country in the Territory.

1.3, Sublicenses. The licenses granted to the Licensee in Section 1.1 shall include the
right to grant sublicenses to its Affiliates, in whole or in part; provided, however, that the
Licensse shall be strictly liable for the performance of its Affiliates. The licenses granted
to the Licensee in Section 1.1 and Section 1.2 shall not include the right to grant
sublicenses to any third parties (other than a Licensee Affiliate) without the prior written
consent of the Licensors.

1.4, Licensee Diligence. The Licensee shall diligently work to develop the LANI
Compounds and to market the Product in such a way as to maximize MNet Sales and
operating income through the safe and effective use of the Product in compliance with all
applicable Laws. The Licensee shall twice a year provide the Licensors with Development
progress updates and, when requested by either of the Licensees, provide other material
information relating to the Licensee’s progress in Development and the eventual
marketing of the Product.

on ration

2.1. License Fee, In consideration for the Licensors’ grants 1o the Licensee of the right to
sell, market, and distribute Preduct, all pursuant to Section 1.1, the Licensors shall receive
from the Licensee a one time nor-refundable and non-creditable license feeof [ ] .S,
Dallars ([ ] within seven (7} days of the Effective Date. Such License Fee shall be net of
any taxes that might be payable in Japan or Australia to the Licensors,

2.2. Milestones. The Licensce will make the following payments to the Licensors in US
Dollars upon the oceurrence of the listed event in the Territory for each Product:
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Event Payment

Submission of TND
Initiation of Phase I1 clinical trials (or equivalent)
Tnitiation of Phase 11 clinical trials (or equivalent pivotal trial)

Approval of an NDA (or equivalent)
Launch of Licensed Product

Date on which Net Sales of the Licensed Product exceed USDS____
12-month period
Date on which Net Sales of the Licensed Product exceed USD &
1 2-month period

2.3, Rovaliies. In consideration for the license granted under Section 2.1, the Licensee
shall pay in U.S. dollars to the Licensors during the Term a royalty in each country in the
Territory comprising XX percent (XX%) of Net Sales until this Agreement expires in
accordance with its terms. In consideration for the license which may be granted under
Saction 1.2, the Licensee shall pay in U.5, dollars to the Licensors after the expiration of

. . . . e S
the last Licensed Patent a royalty in each country in the Territory comprising m
(B6X54) of Net Sales.

3. Development of the Products

3.1 lishmen: m i Produ lopment Committee,

3.1.1. Upon cxecution of the License Agreement with the Licensee, the Licensors and
Licensee shall establish a Product Development Committee (the “PDC") to provide
oversight of the Development, and implementation of the Development Plan which is
outlined in im;ﬁ and which, when agreed upon and executed by representatives
of the Licensors and Licensce, shall become a part of this Agreement.

3.1.2. The PDC shall be formed by the Licensee(s) and will allow for at least one voting
representative of Biota and Sankye, each at their respective option. The PDC formed
under this Agreement shall cooperate with any PDC formed under other license
agreements with other licensees relating to the Products in order to ensure maximum
coordination in the development of the Products on a worldwide basis.

3.2, Duties of the PDC G
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3.2.1. The PDC shall provide oversight and governance of the Development Plan and
monitor, manage and administer, as required, the Licensee Development of the Products.
In general, the PDC will be respensible for project management.

3211, Project management. The PDC shall (i) approve specific lasks, aclivities,
resources, and expenditures under the Development Plan; (i) establish objectives and
milestones, and determine when and if objectives and milestones are met; and (iii) review
progress made under the Development Plan and implement necessary changes o the
Development Plan. It is the intention of the Parties that the PDC will review and discuss
research plans, the design of studies, study protocols, selection of sites for preclinical and
other Development studies, and other such matters that the Parties may deem necessary
for the Development of the Products by the Licensees,

32,12, The PDC shall discuss regulatory strategy and the preparation, filing and
prosecution of applications for Marketing Approvals and other regulatory issues.

3.3, Mee | Decisi { the PDC
33.1. Meetings. Unless atherwise determined by the PDC, the PDC shall meet at least
twice per year alternately at locations to be determined through negotiations between
partics whose representatives participate in the PDC. At other times, the location or
manner of the meeting (e.g., telephone conferences) will be determined by the PDC,
Casts for representatives of the Parties to attend PDC meetings will be for each Party's
account.

3.3.2. Decisions. All actions and decisions reserved for the PDC under Section 3.2 will
require the unanimous consent of all of its voting members. If the PDC fails to reach
unanimous agreement, the Parties shall attempt in good faith to reach an agreement on the
unresolved matter within twenty (20) days, but if the issue cannot be resolved through
good faith discussions, then the Licenses will have the right to make the final decision.

3.4. PDC Reporting and Information Sharing

3.4.1. Following ench twice yearly meeting of the PDC, a representative of the PDC
juintly appointed by its members shall prepare and deliver to all Parties a written report
recording the issues, decisions, conclusions, recommendations and other actions taken by
the PDC, as well as the general status of the Development Plan at that time. Any
exceptions or dissents from the report may be noted in writing by the dissenting Party.

CPCVI

10531




3.4.2. The Parties shall nominate one person in cach of their organizations to act as
primary recipient for said written reports.

3.4.3. Except for confidential business information, the Parties agree to share with the
PDC all clinical and regulatory data available to them from their Clinical Development
activities that could assist the PDC in carrying out its responsibilities.

3.5, Development Phase
3.5.1. Development Expenses. All direct and indirect costs and expenses associated with
Development of the Product will be borme by the Licensee.

3.5.2. Development Candidates. The Partics hereby agree that Sankyo’s R-118958 shall
be the Lead Compound and is nominated as the first Development Candidate. Biota's
compound referenced as BTA938 shall be the back up Lead Compound.

3.53. The Development Candidate shall progress promptly into Development in
accordance with the Development Plan.

3,54, If the first or a subsequent Development Candidate is not commercially viable as
determined by the PDC, the PDC shall select the back up Lead Compound. I the back up
Lead Compound is not commereially viable as determined by the PDC then the PDC may
select another Lead Compound from Appendix [ as a Development Candidate.

3.5.5. Due to the cost associated with Development, it is the intent of the Licensors that
only one Lead Compound will be developed at a time. Notwithstanding the foregaing, the
PDC may determine that more than one Development Candidate may progress into
Development at any one time.

3.5.6. The Licensce shall ensire the integrity, quality and security of all Information; any
technical, repulatory and clinical data, generated under the Development Plan, including
any laboratory notes, technical data or specifications, test results, and any other relevant
information or materials arising from the conduct of the Development Plan,

3.5.7. Clinical Trial Management: The Licensee shall prepare suitable applications for
approval or consent of commencement clinical trials, management of trials, handle
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reporting, analysis and all other aspects of the trial being conducted by it or on its behalf,

3.6, API Manufacturing Development Costs
6.0 All direct and indirect costs andfor third party charges associated with API
Manufacturing Development shall be borne by the Licensee or its designee.

4.7, Regulatory Malers

3.7.1. The Licensee shall be responsible at its sole expense for filing, prosecuting, and
abtaining Marketing Approvals in each country in the Territory. Subject to the provisions
of this Agreement, the Licensors will use commercially reasonable efforts and reasonable
scientific judgment to assist in preparing documents for oblaining Marketing Approval
from a Regulatory Authority for each country in the Territory, The Licensors will, if
required by a Regulatory Authority, provide certain information concerning the
Manufacture of LANI Compound and/or Product directly to such Regulatory Authority to
facilitate the Licensee’s application for Marketing Approvals. If a Regulatory Authority
requests that the Licensee conduct additional developmental activities to obtain Marketing
Approval, the Licensee shall, after consultation with Licensors, conduct such additional
developmental activities at its own expense. In each country in the Licensee Temitory, the
Licenses shall keep the Licensors reasonably informed as to the regulatory status of
Marketing Approval. In addition, Licensce may, at its own expense, conduct
developmental activities for promotional and marketing purposes upon securing the prior
written consent of Licensors after obtaining Marketing Approval. The Licensee shall
inform the Licensors of the First Commercial Sale of the Product by the Licensee in cach
country or region in the Territory within seven (7) days thereof. The Licensee shall
promptly inform the Parties with respect to any regulatory action taken or notification
regarding the Preducts either during the approval process or marketing of the Produets in
the Territory.

3.7.2. Regulatory Communications. Each Party agrees to provide the others with all
reasonable assistance and take all actions reasonably requested by the others that are
necessary or desirable to enable the others to comply with any Laws applicable to the
Product, including, without limitation, to meet reporting and other obligations to
(i) maintain and update the Marketing Approval and any filings under Section
R A
(i) submit adverse event reports to the appropriate Regulatory Authorities as
required to fulfill obligations under Laws; and
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(iif) submit or file promotional materials with Regulatory Authorities, as appropriate.

4. Commercialization

4.1. Commercialization Committees. The Parties agree that they may form
Co-Promotion Committees as necessary 1o coordinate the Co-Promotion of the Product in
any applicable country in the Territory. Such committees, if formed by the Parties will
allow for at least one voling representative from each of Biota and Sankyo, cach at their
respective option.  Attendance of members at meetings shall be at the respective expense
of the participating parties appointing such members.

4.1.1. Decigions of Commercialization Committees. All actions and decisions reserved
for the Co-Promotion Committess will require the unanimous consent of all of its voting
members, If the committee fails 1o reach unanimous agreement, the Partics shall attempt
in good faith to reach an agreement on the unresolved matter within thirty (300 days, but if
the issue cannot be resolved through good faith discussions, then the matter shall be
referred to the executives of the representatives of those Parties unable to reach unanimity
with authority to settle the matter within thirty (30) days. If the matter is not resolved
within the thirty (30) day period following submission of the matter to those executives,
then the Licensee will have the right to make the final decision.

4.2 Record Keeping: Reporting and Audit, The Licensee will provide Biota and Sankyo
with quarterly reports of the Net Sales of the Products by the Licensee or its Alliliates in
the Territory should Biota and/or Sankve Co-Market or Co-Promote Products. The
Licensee shall keep and complete records of costs associated with marketing and
distribution costs, and expenses incurred for sale of the Product within the Territory
should Biota and/or Sankyo Co-Promote Products. Such records shall be retained by the
Licensee and shall be made available for inspection, review and audit, at any time within
normal business hours during the applicable calendar year and for two (2) years thereafier,
at the request and expense of the Licensors, by an independent certified public accountant
appointed by the Licensors for the sole purpose of verifying the Licensee’s accounting
reports and payments made or 10 be made pursuant 1o this Agreement, Such accountants
shall not reveal to the Licensors the details of its review, except for such information as is
required 1o be disclosed under this Agreement. This right to audit shall remain in effect
throughout the life of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after the Term. Ifan
error in favor of the Licensors of more than five percent (5%) is discovered, then the
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Licensees shall pay the audit expenses that discovered such error. The Parties shall settle
all differences hereunder within thirty (30) days of notification.

4.3. The United States, Sankyo and Biota retain the right to designate a third party
(including, without limitation, Sankyo, Biota or one of their Affiliates) to Co-Market the
Product in the United States with the Licensee and/or terminate the license to the Licensee,
if the Licensee does not meet reasonable annual minimum sales as agreed in writing
within the six (6) months of the Product launch by the Parties for that country.

44  Other Markets. In all other countries where Sankyo and Biota have granted an
exclusive license to the Licensce, Sankyo and Biota shall retain the right to terminate the
Licensee and/or grant additional licenses to a third party (including, without limitation,
Sankyo, Biota or one of their Affiliates), if the Licensee does not achieve reasonable
annual minimum sales as agreed in writing within the six (6) months of the Product launch
by the Parties for that country.

4.5 Won-Compete. During the term of this Agreement, unless otherwise agreed between
the Parties, each Party agrees that neither for itself or through its Affiliates will it develop,
Commercialize, or otherwise handle or deal with, directly or indirectly, or to enter into any
collaboration, license or development agreement or any other arrangement with any party
ather than the other Parties to develop, Commercialize, or otherwise handle or deal with
any Competitive Product in any country. The restrictions in this Section 4.5 shall not apply
to Products already Manufactured, distributed, sold, bought or otherwise dealt with by
each Parly or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date.

L nd oris

5.1. Rovalty Reports
5.1.1. Freguency of Rovalty Reports. Within sixty (60) days of the end of each calendar

quartze after the First Commercial Sale of the Product by the Licensee in the Temitory, the
Licensee shall deliver to the Licensors a royalty report containing information concerning
the immediately preceding calendar quamer. Each royalty report delivered by the
Licensee to the Licensors shall contain at least the following information, denominated in
local currency and US dollars as caleulated for each applicable country in accordance with
the exchange rate published in the New York edition of the Wall Street Journal on the last
day of the calendar quarter for which such payment accrues:
€t
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(i) Met Sales for the applicable calendar quarter in each country;

(if) Amount of rovalty eamed for each country, and in total for the period;

(iii) Amount of withholding taxes, if any, required by Laws to be deducted in respect
of such royalties; provided, however, that the Licensee will take reasonable action 1o
minimize any such withholding tax in each country,

5.1.2. The Partics agree to furnish reports, in a form to be agreed upon, showing, among
other things, (i} the gross sales and Net Sales of each Product sold and the royalties that
have accrued hereunder with respect thereto and (i) the amount of withholding taxes on
the royalty payments.

5.1.3, The Parties shall keep proper books of account with reference to their respective
sales of any Product under this Agreement and with reference to any sales by Licensees
which are reported to the Parties. When requested by the other Party, such books of
account shall be made available at reasonable times for audit by the other Party or its
agents (including the right to inspect, copy, and make abstracts therefrom), solely [or the
purpose of verifying the royalties due or paid, or for determining compliance with other
provisions of this Agreement. Any expense incurred by a Party conducting such audit
shall be bome by said Party unless discrepancies attributable to the audited Party
exceeding the cost of the audit are found, in which case the costs of the audit shall be
reimbursed by the other Party.

5.1.4. The Party owing the royalty (the “Payor™) shall permit its books of account or
records of sale to be inspected at any reasonable time during normal business hours by a
representative of the other Party (the “Payec™) solely for the purpose of verifying the
amounts due hereunder.

5.2. Method of Payment
5.2.1. All payments under this Agreement shall be made payable in U.S. dollars and shall

be by appropriate electronic funds transfer in immediately available funds to such bank
accountant as the Payee shall designate and on a date no later than when royalty reports are
due under Section 5.1.1 above. Each payment shall reference this Agreement and identify
the obligation under this Agrecment that the payment is to satisfy. Any and all expenses
for such payment incurred by the Payee shall be borne by the Payee.

5.2.2. Any payments due under this Agreement that are not paid on or before the date such
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payments are due shall bear interest, at the lower of one percentage point above the Prime
Rate of interest as reported in the New York edition of the Wall Street Journal on the date
the payment is due or the maximum allowed by law, compounded monthly until such
payment is made,

5.2.3. Any taxes or similar charges levied or assessed in a territory on the Payec on the
rayalty payments shall be bome by Payor. However, Payor has the right to deduet from
the rovalty payments such income taxes or charges paid thereon for which Payee is
entitled to receive a credit under income tax laws in effect as of the time payment is made,
In these cases, Payor will promptly provide Payee with an original receipt for such 1ax
payments (or a certified copy, if the original is not available). Payor’s failure to provide
Payee with such documentation as Payee determines is acceptable for tax purposes shall
preclude Payor from deducting such taxes or charges from the gross royalty otherwise
due.

5.2.4. Payee may require such other account statements or reports from Payor as may be
reasonable.

6. Trademarks

6.1, To the extent commercially reasonable and appropriate, a single Trademark
worldwide to be selected and registered by the Licensors shall be used for each Product in
all couniries in the Territory, provided that Liccnsee shall cooperate with Licensors and
other licensees relating to the Products in order to select said single Trademark for use on
a worldwide basis, If the Trademark is not available in or inappropriate for the Territory,
the Licensee shall propose an alternate Trademark to be approved in writing and registered
by the Licensors, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, Each Trademark may be
used by a Party only in connection with the applicable Product and shall not be used by
any Party on, or in connection with, any other product, The Licensors shall own each
Trademark used to promote Preducts in the Licensee’s Territory and shall be responsible
for searching, clearing, filing, prosecuting and maintaining, and all rcasonable steps
neceszary in defending, cach Product Trademark, provided, however, that the actual
expenses of maintaining the Trademarks in the Temitory shall be borne by Licensee from
the Effcctive Date. Such expenses shall be billed to Licensee by Licensors during the first
quarter of each calendar yvear and shall be paid by Licenses within thirty (30) days of
receipt of Licensors' invoice. In the case of countries in which the Licensors and
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Licensees Co-Market and/or Co-Promote Produets, Sankyoe and/or Biota, at their
discretion, shall have the right to select and register additional trademarks for use with the
Product.

T.0wnership and Treatment of Inventions

71G hip of I .
7.1.1. The Information and Inventions, and the right 1o file patent applications and the
patents regarding the LANI Compounds or Products generated by the Licensors afier the
Effective Date (collectively, the “Licensor’s Intellectual Properties™) shall be owned by
the Licensors.

7.1.2, The Information and Inventions, and the right 1o file patent applications and the
patents regarding the LANI Compounds or Products generated by the Licensce after the
Effective Date (collectively, the “Licensee’s Intellectual Properties™) shall be owned by
the Licensee. Each of the Licensor's shall have an equal, undivided perpetual, paid up
royalty free right 1o use Licensee’s Intellectual Properties.

7.1.3. Inthe case of Inventions owned jointly by at least one employee of Biota or Sankyoe
and one employee of the Licensee (“Joint Inventions™), the Parties shall agree on whether
or not to secure patent protection and which Party shall bear the primary responsibility for
preparing, filing, prosecuting the Patents resulting therefrom. The Parties shall equally
share all expenses related thereto. Each Party shall prompily render all necessary
assistance reasonably requested by the other Party in applying for and prosecuting the
patent applications, If any Party does not elect to participate in the expense of filing for
such Joint Inventions, the other Party or Parties may do so at its own expense, excluding
the declining Party from ownership.

7.2. Maintenance of Patents

7.2.1. Each Party shall, at its own expense, diligently take all steps necessary to maintain
its own Patents, in full force and effect, including but not limited to a duty to diligemtly file
and pursue any reissues and re-examinations, if applicable. If any Party elects not to
maintain any of its own Patents, it shall promptly notify the others of that election and
shall, at the other Parties request, assign to the other Parties all right, title and interest in
and to such Patents of the assigning Party. In such case, the other Partics shall bear the
cost and responsibility for the maintenance of such Patents and the assigning Party shall
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render all necessary assistance reasonably requested by the other Parties in maintaining
such Patents.

7.2.2. In the event that Joint Inventions are registered, the Party who bears the primary
responsibility for preparing, filing, prosecuting such Joint Inventions shall bear the
primary responsibility for performing the obligation to maintain registered Patents
resulting from such Joint Inventions (“Joint Patents™) as set forth in Section 7.2.1. Each
Party shall promptly render all necessary assistance reasonably requested by the other
Parties in performing such obligation. Any and all costs and expenses reasonably
necessary and useful to perform such obligation on any and all Joint Patents shall be borne
by all Parties equally.

7.2.3. Notwithstanding the provision of Seetion 7.2.1, ¢ach Party shall be relieved from its
obligation to maintain its own Patents stipulated by Section 7.2.1, in the event that the
Licensors determine that any Products related to such Patents will not undergo
Development or he Commercialized as a Development Candidate.

7.2.4. The Parties agree 10 cooperate 1o obtain, to the fullest extent allowed by Laws, an
extension of exclusivity beyond the full term expiry date of any Patents subject to this
Agreement which the Parties mumally agree may maximize commercial retum of
Products. The Parties shall provide all relevant patent information 1o the Regulatory
Authority or other applicable agency as required by Laws,

L3, Patent Infringement

7.3.1. Inthe event that the Licensee is charged with the infringement of a patent or other
intellectual properties, including but not limited to wtility model, design or trademark
owned by any third party or receives any filing of any claim or suit by any third party
related to the Products because of any of the activities necessary to the performance of its
obligations under this Agreement, the Licensee shall notify the other Parties fully and
prompily in writing upon receipt of any knowledge or notice of the charge of infringement,
specilying its nature and by whom it was raised. The Licensors shall in good faith offer
the Licensee reasonable cooperation $o that the Licensee may handle such claim or suit at
its own expense and for its own account. The Licensee shall prosecute and control such
claim or suit and periodically inform the other Parties of its intended course of action and
shall provide the other Parties with the opportunity to comment on significant actions or
elements of its course of action. The Licensee may not settle any such claim or suit
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without the prior written consent of the other Parties, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delaved, except as provided hereafter. Any costs and expenses,
including reasonable attorneys® fees, incurred by the Licensee in defending against such
claim or suit shall be borne by the Licensee, Either Licensor shall have the option to take
over the action at its discretion and its own expense, provided, however, that failure by the
Licensze to diligently defend the action shall not relieve Licensee of responsibility for the
expense of the action,

7.3.2. Infringement by Third Parties, In the event that any Party becomes aware that the
Patents or other intellectual property, including but not limited to utility model, design or
trademark (collectively, “Intellectual Properties™ in this Section) are threatened to be
infringed or disputed by any third party, such Party shall notify the other Parties fully and
prompily inwriting, specifying the nature of the threat and by whom they are threatened to
be infringed or disputed. The Licensors shall in good faith offer the Licensee reasonable
cooperation so that the Licensee may handle such claim or suit at its own expense and for
its own account. The Licensee shall prosccute and control such claim or suit and
periedically inform the other Parties of its intended course of action and shall provide the
other Parties with the opportunity to comment on significant actions or elements of its
course of action. The Licensee may not settle any such claim or suit without the prior
written consent of the other Parties, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or
delayed, except as provided hereafter. Any costs and expenses, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Licensee in defending against such claim or suit shall be
bome by the Licensee. If the Licensee does not exercise its right to control the conduct of
defense of any such action in response to any such claim within XX (XX) days of
becoming aware of or being notified of such infringement, then the Party owning or
Controlling such Intellectual Property shall have the right, but not the obligation, to bring
such action.

8. Representations, Warranties, and Covenants

Tutug sentations, Warrs a ants. Each of the Licensors and the
Llcens:e each hﬂehjl' rcprcscnts warrants, covenants acknowledges and agrees that the
other is relying, and is cntitled to rely, on the following representations, warranties, and
covenants:
{a) Each Party has the corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder, and the execution, delivery
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(b)

©

(d)

(&

(£

and performance of this Agreement has been duly and validly authorized and
approved by proper corporate action on the part of such Party. Each Party has
taken all other action required (o be taken by such Parly under the Laws, its
eertificate of incorporation, by-laws or any agreement to which it is a party with
respect 1o the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement. Assuming
due authorization, execution and delivery on the part of a Pary, this Agreement
constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Party, enforceable against
such Party in accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be
limited by applicable Laws or by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other
similar Laws of general application relating to creditors’ rights; and

To the best of its knowledge as of the Effective Date, the execution and delivery of
this Agreement by a Party and the performance by such Party contemplated
hereunder shall not violate any Laws or any order of a court or a Regulatory
Authority; and

To the hest of its knowledge as of the Effective Date, neither the execution and
delivery of this Agreement nor the performance hereof by a Party requires such
Party to obtain any permits, authorizations or consents from any governmental
authority other than a Regulatory Authority or from any other person; and

During the Term, each Party shall fulfill its obligations under this Agreement, in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement and all applicable Laws; and

During the Term, each Party shall retain and maintain compliance with all
necessary government authorizations and permits necessary to Manufacture and
supply the Product and to otherwise perform each Party’s obligations under this
Agreement; and

All of a Panty’s employees, officers and consultants participating in the
performance of this Agreement are, to the extent permitted under applicable Laws,
under obligations (i) to assign to such Party all Inventions made during the course
of and as a resull of their association with such Party, and (ii) to maintain as
confidential the Confidential Information received from or on behalf of the other

Party; and e
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{g) Each Party shall not knowingly employ any employee in performing the services
hereunder who has been debarred or disqualified by a Regulatory Authority or any
governmental ageney.

8.2, Licensors’ Representations, Warranties, and Covenants, Each Licensor for ftself,
hereby represents, warrants, covenants acknowledges and agrees that the Licensee is

entitled to rely, on the following representations, warranties, and covenants;

{(a) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by each of the
Licensors shall not result in the breach of or give rise to any termination of any
agreement or contract relating to the Product to which each of the Licensors is a
party; and

() To the best of cach of the Licensor's knowledge, as of the Effective Date, the
activities of the Licensee contemplated hereunder does not infringe any patent
rights or any other proprietary rights of any third party; and

{c) As of and prior to the Effective Date, neither of the Licensors has granted to any
third party a license under any Patent or Information owed or Controlled by each of
the Licensors to make, use, sell, offer to scll, andfor import Product in the
Licensee's Territory; and

(d) The Licensed Patents are duly and validly registered or applied for in the countries
in the Licensce Territory with respect to each Licensed Patent and cach Licensor
agrees to continug 1o use commercially reasonable efforts 1o obtain and maintain
the registrations of the Licensed Patents in full foree and effect during the Term
hereaf at their sole cost and expense, taking into account the amount of revenues
received from such Licensed Patents on a country-by-country basis,

83, Mo Other Warranty EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS
AGREEMENT, NEITHER LICENSOR MAKES ANY OTHER REPRESENTATIONS
OR. WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO
THIS AGREEMENT. THE LICENSE IS PROVIDED WITHOUT WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE,
WARRANTY AS TO THE ENFORCEABILITY OR SCOPE OF ANY LICENSED
PATENT IN THE FIELD, OR ANY OTHER WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED,
LICENSORS MAKE NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY THAT LICENSEE'S
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ACTIVITIES UNDER THE LICENSE WILL NOT INFRINGE ANY PATENT OR
OTHER PROPRIETARY RIGHT OF A THIRD PARTY. LICENSOR WILL NOT BE
LIABLE FOR SUCH INFRINGEMENT, OR AN ALLEGATION THEREOF, NOR
SHALL THE SAME BE AN EXCUSE FOR NONPERFORMANCE OF THE
LICENSEE'S OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER. THE LICENSORS ASSUME NO
RESPONSIBILITIES OR LIABILITIES TOWARDS THE LICENSEE OR THIRD
PARTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT,
MANUFACTURE, USE, SALE OR DISPOSITION OF LICENSED PRODUCT IN THE
FIELD. THE ENTIRE RISK AS TO LICENSED PRODUCT IN THE FIELD IS
ASSUMED BY LICENSEE.

8.4. Limitation of Liabilitv. SUBJECT TO ARTICLE XIII (13), NO PARTY SHALL BE
ENTITLED TO RECOVER FROM ANOTHER. PARTY ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL,
CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES TN CONNECTION WITH THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY LICENSE GRANTED HEREUNDER, UNLESS SUCH
DAMAGES ARE INFLICTED AS A RESULT OF THE NEGLIGENCE OR
WRONGDOING OF THE OTHER PARTY.

8.5, Survival of Limitation of Liability. Sections 8.3 and 8.4 shall survive any termination

or expiration of this Agreement.
9. Term and Termination

9.1. Term

4.1.1. The Agreement will commence on the Effective Diate and, unless earlier terminated
as provided for hereunder, continue until the expiration of the last-to-expire Patent within
the Territory owned or Controlled by either or both of the Licensors claiming the
Manufacture, use, importation or sale of the Products on a country-by-country basis, and
thereafter shall automatically be renewed each vear for one (1) year periods unless either
party gives at least six (6) months written notice of termination of this Agreement to the
other before the expiration of the term of this Agreement. While this Agreement remains
in. force, the Licensee shall continue to have the right to use the Information owned by
Licensors,

9.2, Earlier termination
9.2.1. Either the Licensors or the Licensee may, without prejudice to any other remedies
available 1o it at law or in equity, terminate the Agreement on a country by country basis
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prior to the end of the term, by giving the other sixty (60} days written notice (“Notice
Period™) upon occurrence of any of the following events:

9.2.1.1. “Material breach” defined as the default of any material obligation hereunder by
either the Licensor or the Licensee, which has not been remedied within sixty (60) days
after one Party sends written notice detailing the substance of the default to the defaulting

Party, or

9.2.1.2. “Insolvency™ meaning the insolvency, bankruptey, dissolution or liguidation of
the other Party, where such Party is subject to the filing or consents to the filing of a
petition under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or has any such petition filed against it
which has not been dismissed within ninety (90) days of such filing, appointment of a
trustee, administrator, or receiver for all or substantially all of the assets of such Party, or
assignment of the asscts of such Party for the benefit of creditors, or attachment or
expropriation of the business or assets of such Party, or

9.2.1.3, “Unresolved Differences”™ meaning that despite the commercially reasonable
efforts of the Parties, the Parties are unable to resolve disputes as provided herein,

9.2.1.4 “Development neglect™ meaning that the Licensee ceases Development of the
Product for more than six (6) consecutive months for reasons within its contro] until any
Regulatory Authority grants Marketing Approval for the Product to the Licensee in the
Temtory.

92,15 “Marketing Failure™ meaning that the Product may not be sold as a result of a
recall or market withdrawal and such inability to sell the Product continues for a period of
twelve (12) months, provided, however, that if the Marketing Failure is applicable to a
certain Territory, the termination shall enly apply to that Territory and shall not affect the
Agreement in other Territories.

9.2.1.6. The right of a Party to terminate this Agreement as provided in this Section 9.2
shall not be affected in any way by its waiver or failure to take action with respect to any
previous default,
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9.3.1. Ifeither Party terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.2, in those countries
where such termination takes effect:

(a}  all rights to the LANI Compounds and all relevant Patents including the
Licensor’s Intellectual Properties, Trademarks, licenses and other rights
granted or assigned to either Party at any time under this Agreement
(collectively, “Rights") shall revert to the Licensors; and

(h) if this Agreement 15 terminated by the Licensors, the Licensors shall negotiate
in good faith a mechanism to allow the Licensee, should it so wish, to continue
to Develop, Manufacture, file for Marketing Approval, use, sell, offer for sale
the Product in such country.

9.3.1.1. Without prejudice 1o any exelusive license granted herein, a Party that granis a
license to a third party under a Joint Invention shall obtain the prior written consent of the
other Party to such a license, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

9.3.2, The provisions of Section 9.3.1 and this Section 9.3.2 shall survive the termination
for any reason of this Agreement. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement,
neither Party shall be liable to the other based on, or as a result of, the termination of this
Agreement as provided herein, whether in loss of good will, anticipated profits or
otherwise.

10. Con tiali

10.1. During the term of this Agreement and for a period of seven (7) years thereafter, each
Party (a) shall hold the Techmology, the Information and anmy marketing and other
confidential information, whether in written, oral, visual, or machine readable form
disclosed by either Party to the other under this Agreement (the “Confidential
Information™) and the Substances supplied by e¢ither Party to the other under this
Agreement in confidence with the same degree of care it maintains the confidentiality of
its own Confidential Information and Substances, (b) shall not disclose such Confidential
Information and make Substances available to any third party without the prior written
consent of the disclosing Party, and (¢} shall not use such Confidential Information and
Substances other than for exercising its rights and/or performance of its obligation under
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this Agreement except for any information which is evidenced that:

(i) was in the receiving party’s possession at the time of disclosure,

(i)  was publicly known at the time of such disclosure,

(iii}  becomes publicly known through no default of the receiving party,

{ivy was obtained legally by the receiving Party from a duly authorized third party,
or

(vl  was independently discovered without the aid or application of the information
received.

10.2. Each Party may disclose the Confidential Information and make the Substances
available only to those of its emplovees, contractors, and agents who have a need to know
such Confidential Information and the Substances to implement the terms of this
Agreement. The Parlies agree (o lake reasonable precautions to preserve the conlidential,
proprietary or secret status of the Confidential Information and Substances and shall
require that cach of their respective employees, contractors, and agents understand and
agree in writing to treat and to hold such Confidential Information and Substances in
confidence consistent with the provisions herein.

13, Within thirty (30) days of the date of termination of this Agreement for any reason,
the Parties shall provide each other with written notice specifying that through reasonable
care and to the best of its knowledge: (a) all Confidential Information embodied in whole
or in part in documents, materials, things, and copies thereof have been destroyed or
returned to the other Party, (b) the originals and all copies of any machine-readable
documentation containing any portion of the Confidential Information have been
destroyed or returned to the other Party, (c) all remaining Substances supplied by the
gither Party have been retumned to the other Party or destroyed, unless otherwise agreed in
writing between the Parties, and (d) all use of the Substances by the returning Party has
ceased.

104, WNo Party may issuc any press release, publication, or any other public
announcement relating to this Agreement, the LANI Compounds or the Product without
obtaining the other Parties’ prior written approval, which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed. The Parties shall in good faith prepare mutually
acceptable announcements prior te such release, publication or announcement.
Motwithstanding any of the foregoing, cach Party may use the substance of previously
approved public announcements and the substance of other public announcements of the
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other Party without prior notice.

11. Liability and Indemnity

11.1.  The Licensors shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Licensee, its
employees, agents, officers, directors, permitted licensees, successors and permitted
assigns (collectively, the “Licensee Indemnified Parties™), from and against any and all
costs, labilities, judgments, obligations, losses, expenses and damages (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) of whatsoever kind or nature (collectively,
“Losses™) incurred by or imposed upon any Licensee Indemnified Party as a result of any
claims, actions, suits or proceedings (collectively, “*Claims™ arising out of or related to, in
any way, the licensing, Development, Manufacture, marketing, promotion, importation,
sale or other use (collectively, “Use™) of the Product in any country by the Licensor
pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, regardless of whether such Claims or Losses are
based upon theories of contract, tort, product liability, sriet liability, infringement of any
patent, trademark, trade name, logo, service mark, trade dress, trade secret, or any other
legal or equitable theory; provided, however, that the Licensee shall indemnify the
Licensors for Losses proven to have been caused solely from an act or omission by
Licensee.

11.2 The Licensee shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each of the Licensors, and
each of their employees, agents, officers, directors, permitted licensees, successors and
permitied assigns (collectively, the “Licensor Indemnified Partics™), from and against any
and all costs, liabilities, judgments, cbligaticns, losses, expenses and damages (including
reasonable attormeys’ fees and expenses) of whatsoever Kind or nature {collectively,
“Losses™) incurred by or imposed upon any Licensor Indemnified Party as a result of any
claims, actions, suits or proceedings (collectively, *Claims™) arising out of or related to, in
any way, the licensing, Development, Manufacture, marketing, promotion, importation,
zale or other use (collectively, “Use™) of the Product in any country bv the Licensee
pursuant te this Agreement or otherwise, regardless of whether such Claims or Losses are
based upon theories of contract, tort, product liability, strict liability, infringement of any
patent, trademark, trade name, logo, service mark, trade dress, trade secrct, or any other
legal or equitable theory; provided, however, that the Licensors shall indemnify Licensee
for Losses proven to have been caused solely from an act or omission by the Licensors.

11.3, Each Party shall give prompt written notice to the other of any Claim asserted
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against such Party (in such capasity, the “Notifying Party™) arising from or relating 1o the
Product, regardless of whether the Notifying Party is entitled to seek indemmification from
the other Party pursuant 1o either Section 11.1 or 11.2. The Parties shall, subject to the
execution of an appropriate non-disclosure agreement, reasonably consult with, and share
information with, each other regarding such Claim and shall reasonably cooperate and
assist each other in the event that the Notifying Party wishes to pursue any claim against
any third party in connection therewith, in each case at the sole cost and expense of the
Motifying Party. Each sublicense agreement entered into by a Party relating to any
Product in accordance herewith shall contain a provision substantially similar to that set
forth in this Section 11.3.

11.4. SUBJECT TO ARTICLE XIIT (13), NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE ENTITLED TO
RECOVER FROM THE OTHER PARTY ANY SPECIAL, IMNCIDENTAL,
CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY LICENSE GRANTED HEREUNDER, UNLESS SUCH
DAMAGES ARE INFLICTED AS A RESULT OF THE WEGLIGENCE OR
WRONGDOING OF THE OTHER PARTY.

12, Amendment

12.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Section, all amendments to this agreement
must be in writing and signed by authorized representatives of both parties.

13. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

13.1. Any claim, dispute or controversy of whatever nature arising out of or relating to
this Agreement, including without limitation, any action based on tort, contract or statute,
or concerning the interpretation, effect, termination, validity, performance or breach of
this Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of New York without
regard to its conflict of law principles.

The Parlies shall first negotiate in good faith to resolve any disputes which arise under this
Agreement, but failing amicable solution, all unresolved disputes shall, at the request of
either Party, be finally settled under the Rules of Arbitration of the International
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Chamber of Commerce by three (3) arbitrators appointed in accordance with said
Rules. The venue of the Arbitration shall be New York. The language of the arbitration
shall be English.

14. Force Majeure

14.1. Meither Party hereto shall be liable for any failure or delay in performance of this
agreement eccasioned in whole or in part by acts of God, strike, lock-out, fire, earthquake,
epidemic, inability to obtain materials or shipping space, breakdown, delay of carrier or
regulation of any government or any other cause beyond its control, provided that said
Party has exercised due and reasonable care and its best efforts to avoid any of the
above-mentioned events.

15. Notices

15.1. Any notice or report pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed duly given if
delivered personally, sent by airmail, international recognized courier service, electronic
mail (provided such electronic mail is followed by facsimile confirmation in accordance
with this Section 15.1) or facsimile addressed to the other Party at the addressee facsimile
number set forth below, or to such other address or facsimile number as shall have
theretofore been furnished by one Party to the other in accordance with this Section, and
shall be deemed to have been given when sent.

If to Sankyo: Sankvo Company, Limited
Tokyo 103-8426, Japan
Attention: Director, Licensing

Fax: +81-3-52556-T086
Telephone: +81-3-52656-T084
e-mail’ moriaki®hq.sankvo.co.ip

If to Biota:

Attention:
Fax:
e-mail:

If to Licensee:

Attention;
Fax:
CPG
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e-mail;
16. Assignment of Ri a li

16.1. Either Party may assign all or any part of this Agreement to any Affiliate. In all
other respects, neither Party shall voluntarily or by operation of law assign, hypothecate,
give, transfer, mortgape, sublet, license, or otherwise transfer or encumber all or part of its
rights, duties, or other interests in this Agreement or the proceeds thereof (collectively,
“Asgsignment™) in whole or in part to any third party without prior written consent of the
other, provided, however that the Licensors may assign this Agreement in the event of an
acquisition of the Licensor by a third party. In the event Licensee is acquired by a third
party, either Licensor may terminate this Agreement upon reasonable notice to the other
Parties. Any attempt to make an Assignment in violation of this provision shall be a
material default under this Agreement and any Assignment in violation of this provision
shall be null and void.

17. Entire Agreement

17.1. This Agreemcnt, together with the Confidential Disclosure Agreement dated
B0 and the Appendices attached hereto, set forth the entire agreement and
understanding between the Parties as to the subject matter hereof, and supercedes all
agreements and understandings between the parties as to the subject matter, whether oral
or in writing,

18. No Implied Waiver

18.1 No failure or delay on the part of either Party to exercise any right under this
Agreement or provided for by Laws shall impair, prejudice or constitute a waiver of such
righ,

19. Severability.

19.1. If and to the extent that any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction holds any of
the terms, provisions or conditions of this Agreement or parts thereof, or the application
hereof to any circumstances, to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable in a final
non-appealable order, (1) such provision shall be fully severable, (ii} this Agreement shall
he construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision had never
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comprised a part hereof, (iii) the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in
full force and effect and shall not be affecled by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable
provision or by its severance herefrom, and (iv) in licu of such illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision, there shall be added automatically as a part of this Agreement, a
legal, valid and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision as may be possible.

20. Mo License.

20.1. Mothing in this Agreement shall be deemed 1o constinue the grant of any license or
other right in any Party to any other Party in respect of any product, patent, trademark,
confidential information, trade secret or other data or any other intellectual property of the
other Party except as expressly set forth herein.

21. Headings.

21.1. The headings for each article and scction in this Agreement have been inserted for
convenience of reference only and are not intended to limit or expand on the meaning of
the language contained in the particular article or section nor to be used in construing or
interpreting any of the provisions of this Agreement,

22, Appendixes

a4

301




22.1. All Appendixes to this Agreement are by this reference incorporated herein and
made a part of this Agreement.

23, Counterparis.

23.1. This Agreement may be executed in three or more counterpans, each of which shall
be deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same

instriment.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed and
effective as of the date first indicated above.

BIOTA SCIENTIFIC MANAGEME

SANKYO CO,, LTD Licensee
By By By
Name Mame Name
Title Title Title
Date Date Date

DocsOpen ID#772911
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AMENDMENT #2
to
Collaboration and License Agreement
between
Biota Holdings Limited,
Biota Seientific Management Pty Litd.
and
Daiichi Sankyoe Company, Limited

THIS AMENDMENT #2, affective ag of March 27, 2008 ("Effective Date
Amendment #27) between Biota Heldings Limited ("BHL") and Biota Scientific
Management Pty. Ltd. ("BSM") (BHL and BSM being jointly referred to as
“Biota”), both being corporations organized and existing under the laws of
Victoria, Australia, with offices at 10/585 Blackburn Road, Motting Hill, 3168
Anstrabia, and Daiichi Sankye Company, Limited ("Daiichi Sankyo”), a joint
stock company organized and existing under the laws of Japan, with offices at 3-
§-1, Mihonbashi-honcho, Chuo-ku, Tokyo, Japan sets forth the agreement
between the Parties as follows:

Recitals

1. Whereas, Biota Holdings Limited and Sankyo Company, Limited
(“Sankyo") entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement dated September
29, 2003 ("CLA"); and,

2. Whereas, Biota and Sankyo executed an Amendment #1 to the CLA dated
June 30, 2005 "Amendment #17); and,

3. Whereas, Daiichi Sankyo acquired all rights and obligations of Sankyo
under the CLA and Amendment #1 as a result of merger dated April 1, 2007; and,

4. Whereas, the Parties have agreed to further amend the terms and
conditions of the CLA and to replace Amendment #1 with this Amendment #2;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual eovenants and
promises contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the
Parties hereto agree to amend the CLA, and specifically to replace Amendment
#1 with this Amendment #2, as follows:

1. Definitions for this Amendment #2

1.1  Any capitalized terms set forth in this Amendment #2 shall have
the same meanings as those set forth in the CLA.

lobal
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2. Definitions in CLA

2.1  Any capitalized terms set forth in the CLA using “Sankyo” shall be
hereby replaced with the equivalent terms using “Daiichi Sankyo.”

2.2 The CLA shall be amended by inserting the following new
definitions:

"C5-8958" means the LANI Compound listed under the heading "Daiichi
Sankyo Compounds” in Appendix D as of the Effective Date Amendment
#2,

"FLUNET Compounds" means the LANI Compounds listed under the
heading "Biota Compounds” in Appendix D as of the Effective Date
Amendment #2.

"FLUNET Option Deadline” means the earlier of (i) three (3) months after
the cessation of CS-8258 Development, or (1) six (6) months after the first
launch date of CS-8958 in Japan.

"Third Party Licensee” means a Licensee other than one of the Parties.

3. Amendment# 1

3.1 Biota and Daiichl Sankyo agree that the amendments to the CLA
effected by Amendment #1 will be regarded as having never been made, with the
effect that the CLA, in the form executed by BHL and Sankyo on September 29,
2003, will be regarded by the Parties as in force between them from that date up
until the time immediately before the Effective Date Amendment #2.

4. Biota Scientific Management Pty, Lid,

4.1  BSM is hereby added to the CLA as a Party. Wherever, the term
“Biota™ appears in the CLA or this Amendment #2, it shall apply to both BHL
and BEM, unless the context otherwise requires. For clarity, any statement like
“shared equally between the Parties” in the CLA or this Amendment #2 refers to
fifty-fifty sharing hetween BHL and BSM on the one hand and Daiichi Sankyo on
the other hand.

4.2 Recital 1 of the CLA shall be amended as follows:

“1l.  Biota Scientific Management Pty Ltd owns certain patents and,
together with Biota Holdings Limited, has expertise and know-how in the
field of long-acting neuraminidase inhibitors and has synthesized and
optimized several LANI Compounds (defined below) which may be
suitable for preclinical and clinical development, and wishes to eollabarate
with a kev partner in the development of LANI Compounds for
Commercialization (defined below) worldwide."

4.3 Daiichi Sankyo agrees that BSM, as the primary holder of the Biota
Technology, shall be responsible for carrving out Biota's responsibilities with
respect to the Biota Technology under the CLA and all payments to be made to
Biota under the CLA and this Amendment #2 shall be made to BSM.
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4.4 Any notices to be given to Biota in accordance with Section 15 of the
CLA shall be deemed to be given to both BHL and to BSM if given in the manner
prescribed in Section 15 thereof.

5. Collaboration and Licenses
51 Section 3 of the CLA is hereby deleted and veplaced by the
following:

"3,  Collaboration and Licenses
3.1  Collaboration

3.1.1 The Parties will collaborate in the Development of LANI
Compounds and the licensing of Biota Technology and Daiichi Sankyo
Technology to appropriate licensees on a worldwide basis.

3.1.2 The Parties will endeavour to incorporate into any license with a
Third Party Licensee a reguirement that a committee comprizsed of
representatives of the Parties and the Third Party Licensee (and any other
Third Party Licensee) ("Global Development and Commercialization
Committee”) be established. The Global Development and
Commercialization Committee shall be a forum to:

(1} exchange information concerning Dewvelopment and
Commercialization activities: and

(i) facilitate the co.ordination of activities in the wvarious
jurisdictions.

3.2  Licensing Committee

3.2.1. Establishment of LC. To facilitate the licensing of Biota Technology
and Daiichi Sankyo Technology and the supervision and eversight of Third
Party Licensees, the Parties will establish a joint committee (“Licensing
Committee" or "LC".

3.2.2 Responsibilities of the LC. The L.C shall be responsible for:

(i) overseeing the selection of Third Party Licensees and the
development of license terms within the scope of the License Template;

(i)  overseeing the performance of Third Party Licensees under
the relevant License Agreements, liaising with Third Party Licensees and
providing Third Party Licensees with a point of contact with the Parties;
and

(iii) organizing meetings of the Global Development and

Commereialization Committee and discussing the issues to be addressed
by that Committee prior to its meetings.
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3.2.3 Membership of LC. The LC shall be comprised of two (2)
representatives from each of Biota and Daiichi Sankyo, Each Party's
representatives, of which one (1) will be from the license or business
development department and the other from the research and
development or product development department, will have appropriate
licensing and technical experience and knowledge, and ongoing familiarity
with the LANI Compounds. Additional third party representatives,
consultants or other employees representing technical or non-technical
functional areas of a Party may from time to time, by mutual consent of
the Parties, which eonsent shall not be unreasonably withheld, be invited
to attend LC meetings (on a non-voting basis), subject to such
representative’s or consultant's written agreement to comply with the
confidentiality requirements of Section 9. Unless otherwise agreed by the
Parties, the LC shall have at least one representative with relevant
decision-making authority from each Party such that the LC is able to
effectuate all of its decisions within the scope of its responsibilities as
described in Section 3.2.2 above. The representatives from each Party
shall (i) eoordinate and prepare the agenda and ensure the orderly conduct
of the LC, (ii) attend (subject to below) each meeting of the LC, and (iii)
prepare and issue minutes of each meeting within ten (10) business days
thereafter accurately reflecting the discussions and decisions of the LC.
Such minutes from each LC meeting shall not be finalized until the
applicable representatives from each Party has reviewed and confirmed
the aceuracy of such minutes in writing. The representatives from each
Party shall solicit agenda items from other LC members and provide an
agenda along with appropriate information for such agenda reasonably in
advance (to the extent possible) of any meeting. It is understoad that such
agenda shall include all items requested by either Party for inclusion
therein.

3.3  Joint Project Team.

3.3.1. Eatablishment of JPT. To facilitate the collaboration referred to in
Section 3.1.1 the Parties will establish a joint project team (“Joint Project
Team" or "JPT").

3.3.2 Responsibilities of the JPT. The JPT shall be responsible for:

{1} providing strategic direction to the Parties' activities relating
to the Development of LANI Compounds;

{ii}  overseceing, reviewing and monitoring such activities and the
progress thereof,

(iii) facilitating the exchange of information related to LANI
Compounds between the Parties;

{iv) reporting regularly to the LU on the progress of the
Development of LANI Compounds; and
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(v)  any other activities agreed to by the Parties from time to fime.

3.3.3 Membership of JPT. The JPT shall be comprised of such number of
representatives from Biota and Daiichi Sankyo as they agree from time to
time.

3.4  Meetings of LC and JPT

The LC and JPT shall meet in accordance with the schedules established
by mutual written agreement of the Parties, but no less frequently than
once every six (6) months, with the loeation for in-person meetings
alternating between Biota and Daiichi Sankyo facilities (or such other
location that may be determined by the LC or the JPT as the ease may he).
Alternatively, the LC and the JPT may meet by means of teleconference,
videoconference or other similar communications equipment. Each Party
shall bear its own travel and lodging expenses related to the attendance of
such meetings by its representatives. Each Party shall alternate the
responsibility for the preparation of written minutes of the meetings of the
LC and JPT, which shall become official only upon unanimous approval of
the LC or the JPT as the case may be,

3.5  Decision Making of LC and JPT

Each of Biota and Daiichi Sankyo shall have collectively one (1) vote in all
decisions within the purview of the LC and JPT (as specified in Sections
3.2.2 and 3.3.2) and the Parties shall attempt to make decisions by
consensus. In the event that the LC or the JPT is unable to reach
consensus with respect to a decision within its purview, either Party shall
have the right, by written notice to the other Party, referencing this
Section 3.5 and clearly stating the matter in dispute, to refer such dispute
to the Parties’ respective executives, in the case of Daiichi Sankyo, Vice
President of the Licensing Department, and in the case of Biota the Chiefl
Executive Officer for resolution. Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, the LC and the JPT shall not have any authority to amend,
modify or waive compliance with any term or condition of this Agreement.

3.6  Relationship with Third Party Licensees

The Parties agree that negotiations with Third Party Licensees will be
conducted on the basis of the license plans and policies determined by the
LC and within the terms and spirit of the License Template. The LC will
oversee the conduct of negotiations with potential Third Party Licensees
but, to avoid confusion in dealing with Third Party Licensees, the Party
who introduces the Third Party Licensee will take the lead in conducting
negotiations with that Third Party Licensee, unless otherwise agreed by
the Parties.”

6. Intellectual Property
6.1  Section 7.1.1 of the CLA is hereby deleted and replaced by the
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following:

"7.1.1 The Inventions, patent applications and the patents regarding the
LANI Compounds or Produets generated by or on behalf of a Party, either
solely or jointly with third parties, after the Effective Date of the CLA
shall be owned by such Party. Such patent applications and patents shall
be regarded as such Party's Patents and included in Appendices A (Biota
Patents) or B (Daiichi Sankyo Patents) to the CLA. The Parties confirm
that the Inventions, patent applications and the patents referred to in this
Section 7.1.1 generated by or on behalf of Daiichi Sankye fall within the
Biota License and the Inventions, patent applications and the patents
referred to in this Section 7.1.1 generated by or on behalf of Biota fall
within the Daiichi Sankyo License."

6.2  Bections 7.1.2, 7.1.3 and 7.2.2 of the CLA are hereby deleted.
6.3  Section 7.3.5 of the CLA is hereby deleted and replaced by:

"7.3.3 Notwithstanding the provision of Section 7.2.1 and Section 7.3.2, if
the Patents or Intellectual Properties that are threatened to be infringed
or disputed by any third party are (i) any and all Patents related to the
LANI Compounds or Products developed and Commercialized that is
determined  conclusively by the Licensing Committee to be the
Development Candidate, or (ii) any and all Patontz related to the Product
for which the Regulatory Authority grants Marketing Approval, the
Parties shall discuss and agree in geod faith how such third party claim or
suit against the Patents or Intellectual Properties should be defended and
which party shall initiate the defence of said claim or suit. The initiating
Party designated by said discussion ("Initiating Party") shall prosecute
and control such claim or suit and periodically inform the other Party of
its intended course of action and shall provide the other with the
opportunity to comment on significant actions or elements of the Initiating
Party. Neither Party shall settle any such claim or suit without the prior
written consent of the other, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed, except as provided hereafter. Any costs and expenses,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by Initiating Party in
defending against such claim or suit shall be borne by both Parties equally.
In the event the Parties cannot agree on the strategy for such action,
including settlement, ete., the Initiating Party shall make the final
determination.”

7. FLUNET
7.1 Anew Section 4.4 shall be inserted into the CLA as follows:

“4.4 TFLUNET

4.4.1 The Parties acknowledge that subject to Section 4.4.2 below, Daiichi
Sankyo may elect to have the exclusive right to develop and market the
FLUNET Compounds in Japan prior to the FLUNET Option Deadline,
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4.4.2 If Daiichi Sankyo exercises its right of election in accordance with
Section 4.4.1, the Partics will negotiate in good faith a license agreement
that would confer such a right on Daiichi Sankyo and, if such negotiations
result in agreement on the content of a license agreement, the Parties will
execute such license agreement.

4.4.3 If, upon the expiration of three(3) months from Dajichi Sanlyo
giving Biota notice of its election under Section 4.4.1, Daiichi-Sankyo and
Biota have not exeeuted a FLUNET License Agreement the Parties' rights
and obligations under Sections 4.4.1 and 4.4.2 will cease at that point,

4.4.4 In the event that Daiichi Sankyo does not exercise its right of
election under Section 4.4.1 or the FLUNET License Agreement is not
executed within three (3) months from Daiichi Sankyo giving Biota notice
of its election under Seetion 4.4.1, the Parties will endeavour to enter into
a license agreement with a potential Third Party Licensee to develop and
market the FLUNET Compounds in Japan.”

8. Non-compete
81 Section 2.4.1 of the CLA is hereby deleted and replaced by the
following:

“2.4.1.During the term of this Agreement, unless otherwise agreed
between the Parties, each Party agrees that neither for itself or through
its Affilintes will it develop, commercialize, or otherwise handle or deal
with, directly or indirectly, or enter into any collaboration, license or
development agreement or any other arrangement with any party other
than the other Party to develop, Commercialize, or otherwise handle or
deal with any product for the Field (“Competitive Product”) in any country.
The restrictions in this Section 2.4.1 shall not apply to:

(1) products already manufactured, distributed, sold, bought or
otherwise dealt with by each Party or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date;

{ii)  arrangements entered into with Third Party Licensees in
accordance with this Agreement; or

(i) arrangements entered into by Datichi Sankyo in accordance
with any license or commercialization agreement entered intc by Biota
and Daiichi S8ankyo in relation to any Produet.”

9. Term and Termination

8.1 The term of this Amendment #2 shall commence on the date first
above written and shall remain in effect as long as the CLA is in effect or until
the Parties otherwise agree in writing to terminate this Amendment #2.

10. Entire Agreement
10.1 Thiz Amendment #2, together with the CLA, as hereby amended,
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set forth the entire agreement and understanding between the Parties as to the
subject matter hereof, and supersedes all agreements and understandings
between the Parties as to the subject matter, whether oral or in writing. As
provided in Section 2, the Amendment #1 is hereby deemed by the Parties to be
of no effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Amendment #2 to
be executed and effective as of the date first indicated above.

BIOTA HOLDINGS LTD. DAITICHI SANEYQ COMPANY, LIMITED
By: /j% By: Gk et

Name: Peter Cook Mame: Noriaki Ishida

Title: Chief Executive Officer Title: Viee President, Licensing

Date: 357779

Date: Jo "%‘“‘:’ ‘M

BIOTA SCIENTIFIC MANAGEMENT PTY. LTD.

w M

MName: Pater Cook
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Date: i M M
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Certain information contained in this document, marked by ***, is filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended
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Commercialization Agreement
Between
Biota Scientific Management Pty. Ltd.
and
Biota Holdings Limited
and
Daiichi Sankyo Company, Lid.

THIS AGREEMENT, effcctive as of March 27% 2009 between Biota Scientific
Management Pty. Ltd. (“BSM"™) and Biota Holdings Limited (“BHL") (BSM and BHL
being jointly referred to as “Biota™), both being corporations organized and existing under the
laws of Victoria, Australia, with offices at 10/585 Blackburn Road, Notting Hill, 3168, Victoria,
Australia, and on the one hand; and Daiichi Sankyo Company, Ltd. (“Daiichi Sankyo™), a
joint stock company organized and existing under the laws of Japan, with offices at 3-5-1,
Nihonbashi-honcho, Chue-ku, Tokyo, Japan sets forth the agreement between Biota and
Daiichi Sankyo as follows:

Recitals

l. Biota and Daiichi Sankyo both have expertise, know-how and patents in the field of
long-acting ncuraminidase inhibitors, and have synthesized and optimized several LAMI
Compounds (defined in the CLA) which may be suitable for clinical development and
commercialization worldwide as pharmaccutical products for human consumption.

2. Biota and Dajichi Sankyo have executed a Collaboration and License Agreement, as
amended and restated on March 27", 2009 (*CLA"), under which Biota and Daiichi
Sankyo have agreed 1o pool their respective LANI Compound patenis and technology and
to collaborate and work together to license the LANI Compounds to one or more third
parties for development and marketing.

3. Daiichi Sankyo wishes to develop and commercialize in Japan C5-8958 (defined below)
for the treatment and prevention of influenza or other viral infections.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained
herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, all of the Parties hereto agree as follows:

224

1/35




Definitions and Interpretation

Unless clearly set forth herein otherwise, any capitalized terms set forth in this
Agreement shall have the same meanings as those set forth in the CLA, provided where
those definitions in the CLA refers “LANI Compound”, it shall read “C&-8958" as
appropriate,

“Agreement” means this document between Daiichi Sankyo and Biota together with
any exhibits, schedules or specifications which are attached hereto and made a part of
this document at the time of its execution, together with any amendments hereto which
are signed by authorized representatives of the Parties and incorporated as a part of this
document.

“Biota” means BSM and BHL.

“Commercialize or Commercialization” means to promote, sell, distribute, and
otherwise market or promote a Product or Products, and to engage in Product
Manufacturing for purposes of sale to a consumer.

“Commercially Reasonable Efforts”™ means with respect to a Party, the efforts and
resources normally applied by such Party to its other programs, lead candidates and
pharmaceutical products of similar commercial potential at a similar stage in its product
life, but no less than a sustained, continued and active commitment of efforts and
resources (financial and otherwise) consistent with those normally applied in the
pharmaceutical industry for a novel, high-priority program and product of similar
commercial potential at a similar stage in its product life. Without limiting the
foregoing, Commercially Reasonable Efforts shall require the applicable Party to: (i)
promptly assign responsibilities for activities for which it is responsible to specific
employee(s) who are held accountable for the progress, monitoring end completion of
such activities, (i) sel and consistently seck to achieve meaningful objectives for
carrying out such activities, and (iii) consistently make and implement decisions and
allocate the full complement of resources necessary or appropriate to advance progress
with respect to and complete such objectives in an expeditious manner. In considering
a pharmaceutical product's commercial potential, a Party shall not consider (A) any
other pharmaceutical product such Party is then researching, developing or
commercializing, alone or with one or more collahorators or (B) any payment required
1o be made by such Party hereunder.
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“C5-8958" means the LANI Compound listed under the heading “Sankyo
Compounds” in Appendix D 1o the CLA.

“Development Plan™ means Daiichi Sankyo's plan in respect of Development activities
and timelines which is included as Appendix A to this Agreement and which may be
amended from time to time as reported to the REC.

“Effective Date” means the date shown in the first paragraph of this Agreament.

“First Commercial Date” means the date on which the Product s first shipped by
Datichi Sankyo to third parties for commercial sale in Japan.

“Generic Equivalent™ means with respect to the Product, a product containing as its
active pharmaceutical ingredient CS-8958 (or any organic or inorgaric ester or salt of
CS-B958).

“HIL™ means Hovione International Limited.

“Hovione License Agreement”™ means the license relating to inhalation devices entered
into by HIL, Daiichi Sankyo and BHL dated 25 January 2007,

“Manufacture” means with respect to each of API and Product, all the activities relating
to production of APl CS-8958 and/or Products, including, but not limited to,
purchasing and release of raw materials, manufacturing, milling, quality control and
assurance of all production steps, finishing, filling, labeling, packaging, release,
holding and storage and the tests and analyses conducted in connection therewith.

“Marketing Plan” means Daiichi Sankyo's plan in respect of Commercialization
activities, which plan is to be developed in accordance with Section 5.1,

“Met Sales” means the gross amount invoiced by Daiichi Sankyo, its Affiliates and any
third party collaboration as set forth in Section 1.2.1 below (“Collaborator”) to third
parties that are not Affiliates or Collaborator (unless such Affiliate or Collaborator is
the end user of such Produet, in which case the amount billed therefare shall be deemed
to be the amount that would be billed to a third party in an arm’s length transaction) for
sales or other dispositions of Products o third parties, less the following items, as
allocable to such Product (if not previously deducted from the amount invoiced):
(i) trade discounts, credits or allowances commissions, rebates, chargebacks;
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(ii) credits or allowances additionally granted upon returns, rejections or recalls (except
where any such recall arises out of a Party’s, its Affilizte’s or Collaborator's gross
negligence, wilful misconduct or fraud); (iii) freight, shipping and insurance charges;
(iv) taxes, duties or other governmental tariffs (other than income taxes); and (v)
government mandated rebates. For the aveidance of doubt, the Parties agree that Net
Sales includes sales of the Product not sold under the Pricing and Reimbursement
Approval, which includes but is not limited to sales to a governmental agency as
inventory for a pandemic. Furthermore, Net Sales for a calendar quarter will be less
any Product returned in that calendar quarter but sold in the preceding calendar quarter
in Japan.

“Party” means BSM, BHL or Daiichi Sankyo. “Parties”™ mean BSM, BHL and Daiichi
Sankyo,

“Pricing and Reimbursement Approval” means all approvals from any Pricing and
Reimbursement Body necessary to enable sales of Products in Japan and, if applicable,
for such sales to be the subject of valid claims for reimbursement.

“Pricing and Reimbursement Body” means any body with authority over granting
approvals for the pricing and/or reimbursement of a Product in Japan.

“Review and Exchange Committee” or “REC™ means the joint committee established
by the Parties in accordance with this Agreement which will exchange information
concerning, and in certain circumstances monitor, the Development and
Commercialization of CS-8938 in accordance with Section 3,

“Term” means the period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on the later of (a)
the expiration of the last-to-expire of Patents covering C5-8958 in Japan, and (b)
twelve (12) years from the launch of such Product in Japan, unless sooner terminated
pursuant to Section 8.2

In this Agreement, the following rules apply unless the context requires otherwise:

(a)  Thesingular includes the plural, and the converse also applies.

(b)) Agender includes all genders.

() If a word or phrase is defined, its other grammatical forms have a corresponding
meaning.

(d) A reference to a person includes a corporation, trust, parinership,
unincorporated body or other entity, whether or not it comprises a separate legal
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entity.

(e} A reference to a Section or Appendix is a reference to a sectiom of or an
appendix of this Agreement.

(f) A reference to an agreement or document (including a reference to this
Agreement) is to the agresment or document as amended, supplemented,
novated or replaced, except 1o the extent prohibited by this Agrecment or that
other agreement or document.

{g) A reference to writing includes any method of representing or reproducing
words, figures, drawings, or symbels in a visible or tangible form.

(h) A reference to a party to this Agreement or another agreement or docuiment
in¢ludes the party's successors, permitted substitutes and permitted assigns (and,
where applicable, the party’s legal personal representatives).

(i) Avreference to legislation or to a provigion of legislation includes a modification
or re-enactment of it, a legislative provision substituted for it and a regulation or
statutory instrument issued under it

{j) A reference to dollars and $ is to United States currency.

ik} A reference 1o a right or obligation of any two or more people comprising a
single party confers that right, or imposes that obligation, as the case may be, on
each of them severally and each two or more of them jointly, A reference to that
party is a reference to each of those people separately (so that, for example, a
representation or wamanty by that party is given by each of them separately).

(n Mentioning anything after includes, including, for example, or similar
expressions, does not limit what else might be included.

{(m)  Mothing in this Agreement is to be interpreted against a party solely on the
ground that the party put forward this Agreement or any part of it.

1. Commercialization in Japan

[.1.  Exclusive Marketing. In accordance with Section 4.1.1 of CLA, Daiichi Sankyo
hereby elects to have the exclusive right to market the Product in Japan. For the purposes of
this Section 1, the term “exclusive” means to the exclusion of all other parties in Japan,
including Biota. Daiichi Sankye may undertake Clinical Development outside Japan for the
sole purpose of obtaining a Marketing Approval in Japan, provided however, that except for
Clinical Development ongoing as of the execution of this Agreement, Daiichi Sankyn shall
obtain prior written confirmation from Biota that such Clinical Development does not conflict
with the license agreement entered into with any Third Party Licensee,

1.2, Selection of Collaboration Partners.
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1.2.1. The rights exercised by Daiichi Sankyo under Section 1.1 shall include the right to
choase a third party collaborator for Development and/or Commercialization of the Product, in
whole or in part; provided, however; thar:
(i) Daiichi Sankyo shall continue to be strictly liable to Biota for the performance
of Daiichi Sankyo's obligations under this Agreement, including, in particular
Daiichi Sankyo’s payment obligations under this Agreement; and
(ii)y  Daiichi Sankyo shall not grant a sublicense to any third party (other than a
Licensee AlMbate) unless Bita is notified in advance of the proposed grant of
sublicense and provided with an executive summary of the commercial terms of
the proposed sublicense agreement,

.22 If] in accordance with Section 1.2.1, Daiichi Sankyo grants a sub-license to a third
party and the potential financial benefits that the sub-license provides Daiichi Sankyo are
materially greater than the potential financial benefits that this License provides Biota, the
Parties agree that they will negotiate in good faith amendments to the financial terms of this
Agreement,

1.3, Daiichi Sankyo Diligence, Daiichi Sankyo shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts
to!

(1) implement the Development Plan and otherwise undertake all activities
neceggary for one or more Products to obtain Marketing Approval as soon as
practicable;

(iiy  implement the Marketing Plan and otherwise undertake all activities necessary
to launch one or more Products in the Field in Japan as soon as practicable; and

{iii}  market, promote and sell such Products in the Field in Japan with a view to
maximizing Net Sales in accordance with the Marketing Plan.

Daiichi Sankyo shall twice a year (within a reasonable period prior to the twice yearly meetings
of the REC envisaged by Section 3.3.1) provide Biota with comprehensive written (in English)
Development and Commercialization progress updates and, when requested by Biota, provide
other material information relating to the Daiichi Sankyo's progress in Development and
Commercialization.

2. Consideration
2.1.  Royalties. Notwithstanding Section 5.2 of CLA, Daiichi Sankyo shall pay in
Australian dellars to Biota during the Term a royalty equivalent to the higher of

(1} four percent (4%) of Net Sales; and
(ii)  the lower of six percent (6%) of Net Sales or the rovalty rate determined in
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sccordance with the following formula:
RPB = 50% x (GRR - HRR}

where:

RPB = Royalty payable to Biota by Daiichi Sankyo

GRER = Highest gross royalty rate paid by a Third Party Licensee to Biota and
Daiichi Sankyo

HRR = Royalty rate payable to Hovione by that Third Party Licensee

For the avoidance of doubt, the rovally payable to Biota under this Section 2.1 is separate to
any rovalties or other amounts payable to HIL under any arrangements with HIL.

2.2, Donatigns. If, in any 12 month period from the First Commercial Date, or an
anniversary thereof, Daijichi Sankyo and its collaborators (if any) make donations of Products
which, by the number of units sold, represents in excess of 30% of the Products sold by Daiichi
Sankyc in that period, then the number of units of Products equal to that excess will be deemed
to have been sold by Daiichi Sankyo and its collaborators for the purposes of the definition of
"Met Sales™. The Partics agree to negotiate in good faith the deemed unit price of such sales for
the purpose of the royalty calculation pursuant to Section 2.1,

23, Generic Competition, The royvalty otherwise due under Section 2.1 shall be reduced in
the event of generic competition in Japan in accordance with this provision. In the event that a
Generic Equivalent has achieved more than twenty percent {20%) but less than fifty percent
(50%) market share of the combined market share of Product and such Generic Equivalent (on
a units sold basis) in Japan in any calendar quarter, the rovalty rate for such calendar quarter
shall be reduced to one-half (0.5) of the applicable royalty rate specified in Section 2.1 above
for so long as such market share is within such thresholds. In the event that a Generic
Equivalent has achieved equal o or more than fifty percent (50%) market share of the
combined market share of Product and such Generic Equivalent (on a units sold basis) in Japan,
the rovalty rate shall be zero (1) of the applicable royalty rate specified in Section 2.1 above for
so long as such market share exceeds such threshold. The measure of the marker share will be
made using data generated by IMS Health,

24 Sales Milestones Daiichi Sankyo will make the following payments to Biota in US
Daollars upon the occurrence of the listed event in Japan for each Produet:

Event Payment

I. The annval Net Sales of 10 billion Yen is first [
achieved.
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2. The annual Met Sales of 20 billion Yen is first =]
achieved.

3 The annuval Net Sales of 30 billion Yen is first i |
achieved.

kR Review and Exchange Committee

3.1.  Establishment and Membership of the Review and Exchange Committes.

3 L1 Upon execution of this Agreement, Biota and Daiichi Sankyo shall establish a Review
and Exchange Committes (the “REC") to exchange information and discuss matters relevant to
Development and Commercialization sctivities and progress, including the obtaining of
Marketing Approvals and Pricing and Reimbursement Approvals,

3.1.2. The REC formed under this Agreement shall cooperate with the Licensing Committes
formed under the CLA and any product development committes formed under other license
agreements entered into by Biota and Daiichi Sankye with other licensees relating 1o products
containing LANI Compounds in order to ensure maximum coordination in the development
and commercialization of such products on a worldwide basis.

3.1.3. The REC shall be comprised of two (2) representatives of Biota and two (2)
representatives of Daiichi Sankyo. Each of Biota and Daiichi Sankyo shall make its
designation of its representatives no later than thirty (30) days after the Effective Date. These
representatives shall have appropriate technical credentials, experience and knowledge and
each of Biota and Daiichi Sankyo may substitute one or more of its representatives, in its sole
diseretion, effective upon notice to the other of such change. Additional third party
representatives, consultants or other emplovees representing technical or non-technical
functional areas of a Party may from time to time, by mutual consent of the Parties, which
consent shall not be unrcasonably withheld, be invited to attend REC meetings (on a
non-voting basis), subject to such representative’s or consultant’s written agreement to comply
with the confidentiality requirements of Section 9.

3.2. Roleofthe REC.

3.2.1. The REC shall be a forum for:

(1 Biota and Daiichi Sankyo to exchange information concerning the development
of C5-8958 and the Products,

(ii)  Daiichi Sankyo to repomt to Biota on its progress in camrying out the
Development Plan and Marketing Plan, its timing expectations for achievement
of the milestones set out in both plans, obtaining Marketing Approvals and
Pricing and Reimbursement Approvals,
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(iii)  review and approval of the proposed Development Plan and Marketing Plan as
prepared by Datichi Sankyo,

(iv)  review af any proposal to make material changes to the Development Plan or
the Marketing Plan, including any changes 1o the target dates for achievement
of milestones set out in such plans,

(v)  discussion of issues raised by Reguletory Authorities or Pricing and
Reimbursement Bodies, and

ivi)  discussion of any activities or proposed activities of Daiichi Sankyo in Japan in
respect of the development of CS-8958 or the Products that, in the view of Biota,
may have a material negative impact on the development of LANI Compounds
outside Japan.

3232, The REC shall discuss regulatory strategy and the preparation, filing and prosecution of
applications for Marketing Approvals and Pricing and Reimbursement Approvals and other
regulatory issues. Following any significant meeting with Regulatory Authorities or Pricing
and Reimbursement Badies, Daiichi Sankyo shall promptly provide Biota's representatives on
the REC with a written update of the outcomes of the meeting.

3.3, Meetings of the REC.

331 Meetings. Unless otherwise determined by the REC, the REC shall mect at least twice
per year at lecations mutually agreed, including teleconferences or video conferences. Costs
for representatives of the Parties to attend REC meetings will be for each Party's account.

332 Decisions.

3.32.1.  Each of Biota and Daiichi Sankyo shall have collectively one (1) vote in all

decisions within the purview of the REC (as specified in Section 3.2.1) and the Parties shall
endeavour to make decisions by consensus.

3322, If Biota and Daiichi Sankyo are unable to reach a consensus in respect of the
content of the Development Plan or the Marketing Plan provided to the REC for review and
approval under Section 3.2, 1(iii) and (iv), Daiichi Sankyo will have the casting vote in addition
to the vote o which it is already entitled. For the avoidance of doubt, in all circumstances,
Daiichi Sankyo shall continue to comply with Section 1.3,

34, REC Reporting and [nformation Sharing,

3.4.1. Following each twice vearly meeting of the REC, a representative of the REC jointly
appointed by its members shall prepare and deliver to all Parties a written report recording the
issues, decisions, conclusions, recommendations and other actions taken by the REC, a5 well as
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the general status of the Development Plan and the Marketing Plan at that time. Any
exceptions or dissents from the report may be noted in writing by the dissenting Party.

3.4.2. The Parties shall nominate one person in each of their organizations to act as primary
recipient for said written reports.

34.3. The Partics agree to share with the REC all clinical, regulatory, pricing and
reimbursement data available to them from their Development, Clinical Development and
Commercialization activities that could assist the REC m carrying out its responsibilitics,

4. Development

4.1.  Development Flan. By no later than March 31" of each vear, Daiichi Sankyo must
submit to the REC, for review and approval, the Development Plan and any proposed
amendments. Motwithstanding this, if at any time, Daiichi Sankyo becomes aware that there is
likely to be a material change to the Development Plan, Daiichi Sankye must immediately
notify the REC of such material change.

4.2, Development Expenses.  All direct and indirect costs and expenses associated with
Development of the Product will be bome by Daiichi Sankyo,

43  Ioformation Quality. Daiichi Sankyo shall ensure the integrity, quality and security of
all Infermation; any technical, regulatory and clinical data, generated under the Development
Plan and Marketing Plan, including any laboratory notes, technical data or specifications, test
results, and any other relevant information or materials arising from the conduct of the
Development Plan and Marketing Plan,

44, Clinical Trial Management. Daiichi Sankvo shall prepare suitable applications for
approval or consent to commencement of clinical trials and management of trials, and handle
reporting, analysis and all other aspects of the trial being condueted by it or on its hehalf.
Daaiichi Sankyo shall undertake all Clinical Development activities in aceordance with all Laws,
regulations and generally accepted standards or guidelines applicable to clinical trials of new
dirugs.

4.5 Development Delay, [f Datichi Sankyo becomes aware that there 15 ikely to be a delay
in the First Commercial Date, Datichi Sankyo must immediately notify Biota of such delay.

4.6, APl Manufacturing Development Costs. All direct and indirect costs and/or third party

charges associated with any raw material acquisition, process development and scale-up
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required to provide AP of suitable quantity and quality for the agreed Clinical Development
shall be borne by Daiichi Sankyo or its designee.

4.7. ici i it hiart

4.7.1. Daiichi Sankyo shall be responsible at its sole expense for filing, prosecuting, and
obtaining Marketing Approvals and Pricing and Reimbursement Approvals in Japan. Subject
to the provisions of this Agreement, Biota will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts and
reasonable scientific judgment to assist in preparing documents for obtaining Marketing
Approvals from Regulatory Authorities and Pricing and Reimbursement Approvals from
Pricing and Reimbursement Bodies in Japan. Biota will, if required by a Regulatory Authority
or a Pricing and Reimbursement Body, provide certain information concerming the
Manufacture of C5-8958 and'or Product directly to such Regulatory Authonty or Pricing and
Reimbursement Body to facilitate Daiichi Sankyo's application.  If a Regulatory Authority
requests that Daiehi Sankyo conduet additional developmental activities te obtain Marketing
Approval, Daiichi Sankyo shall, after consultation with Biota, conduct such additional
developmental activities at its own expense. Daiichi Sankyo shall keep Biota reasonably
informed as to the regulatory status of Marketing Approval and Pricing and Reimbursement
Approvals. In addition, Daiichi Sankyo may, at its own expense and after consultation with
Biota, conduct developmental activities for promotional and marketing purposes after
abtaining Marketing Approval. Daiichi Sankyo shall inform Biota of the First Commercial
Date within seven (7) days thereof. Daiichi Sankyo shall promptly inform Biota with respect to
any regulatory action taken or notification regarding the Products either during the approval
process or marketing of the Products in Japan.

4,72, Regulatory Communications. Each Party agrees to provide the others with all
reasonable assistance and take all actions reasanably requested by the others that are necessary
or desirable to enable the others to comply with any Laws applicable to the Produet, including,
without limitation, to meet reporting and other obligations to:
(1) maintain and update the Marketing Approval and any filings under Section
47.1;
(i)  submit adverse event reponts to the appropriaste Regulatory Authorities as
required to fulfill obligations under Laws; and
(iii)  submit or file promotional materials with Regulatory Authorities, as
appropriate.

4.7.3. Without limiting the foregoing, Daiichi Sankyo must immediately provide 1o Biota any
serious or unexpected adverse event report submitted to a Regulatory Authority in respect of
C5-8958 or a Product.
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A, Commercialization

5.1 Annual Sales Forgcast. Daiichi Sankyo must submit o the REC, within three (3)
months of the Pricing and Reimbursernent Approval for the first calendar vear and by no later
than 30 September of every year thereafter, the Marketing Plan for review and approval. The
Marketing Plan shall state the annual sales forecast, in Yen (¥) and number of units, for the
fiscal year ending March including the First Commercial Date. The Marketing Plan must
inchede a detailed deseription of the activities proposed to be undertaken by Daiichi Sankyo in
respect of oltaining Pricing and Reimbursement Approvals and manufacturing, marketing,
promoting, distributing and selling Products in Japan, incleding sales and marketing budgets,
sale force numbers and timetables, All steps necessary to achieve Commercialization will be
described in the Marketing Plan as milestones and a target date for achievement of the
milestone will be included in the Marketing Plan.

5.2,  Trademarks. Motwithstanding Section 7.4.1 of the CLA, Daiichi Sankyo may evaluare,
select, apply, register, own and maintain any trademark for the Products in Japan at its expense,
provided such trademarks conform 1o the global rademark strategy, 1o the extent possible, as
determined by the Global Development and Commercialization Committee, if established at
that time.

a. FPavments: Records and Reporis

6.1,  Rovalty Reports.

6.1.1. Frequency of Royalty Reports,. Within sixty (60) days of the end of each calendar
quarter after the First Commercial Date, Daiichi Sankyo shall deliver to Biota a royalty report
containing information conceming the immediately preceding calendar quarter. Each royalty
report delivered by Daiichi Sankyo to Biota shall contain at least the following information,
denominated in local currency and Australian dollars as caleulated using the average of the
prevailing buy and sell rates at the end of the calendar quarter for which such payment accrues
as published by the Westpac Banking Corporation:
(1) Met Sales for the applicable calendar quarter in Japan;
(1) Amount of rovalty earned for the period;
(iii}  Amount of withholding taxes, if any, required by Laws to be deducted in respect
of such royalties; provided, however, that Daiichi Sankyo will take reasonable
action to minimize any such withhalding tax,

6.1.2. Daiichi Sankyc agrees to furnish reports in English, in the form of a worksheet,
showing, among other things:
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{i) Gross sales (including sales of the Product not sold under the Pricing and
Reimbursement Approval);

() All permitted deductions {as set out in the definition of Met Sales) itemized
separately;

(ii))  Credits relating to Products sold in the preceding calendar quarter but returned
in the calendar quarter being reported;

(iv)  Met Sales of each Produet sold;

(v} Mumber of units and gross sales of the Product shipped not for reimbursement
under the Pricing and Reimbursement Approvals detailed by subcategories for
() government stockpiles, (b) corporate stockpiles, (c) other private sales, and
(d) donations;

(vi)  Royaltics that have accrued; and

(vii)  The amount of withholding taxes on the royalty payments.

6.1.3. Daiichi Sankyo shall keep proper books of sceount with reference to its sales of any
Product under this Agreement. When requested by Biota, such books of account shall be made
available at reasonable times for audit by Biota or their agents (including the right to mspect,
copy, and make abstracts therefrom), solely for the purpose of verifying the royalties due or
paid, or for determining compliance with other provisions of this Agreement. Any expense
incurred by Biota conducting such audit shall be bome by Biota unless discrepancies
attributable to Daiichi Sankyo exceeding the cost of the audit are found, in which caze the costs
of the audit shall be reimbursed by Daiichi Sankyo.

6.2.  Method of Payment.

6.2.1. All payments under this Agreement shall be made payable in Australian dollars and
shall be by appropniate electronic funds transfer in immediately available funds to such bank
account as the payvee shall designate and on a date no later than when rovalty reports are due
under Section 6.1.1 above, Each payment shall reference this Agreement and identify the
abligation under this Agreement that the payment is to satisfy. Any and all expenses for such
payment incurred by the payee shall be bome by the payee.

6.232. Any payments due under this Agrecment that are not paid on or before the date such
payments are due shall bear interest, at the lower of one percentage point above the Prime Rate
of interest as reported in the Mew York edition of the Wall Street Journal on the date the

payment is due or the maximum allowed by law, compounded monthly until such payment is
made.

6.2.3. Any taxes or similar charges levied or assessed in a territory on the payee on the royalty
paymenis shall be borne by payor. However, payor has the right to deduct from the royalty
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payments such income taxes or charges paid thereon for which payee is entitled to receive a
credit under income tax laws in effect as of the time payment is made. In these cases, payor
will premptly provide payee with an original receipt for such tax payments (or a certified copy,
if the original is not available). Payor's failure to provide payee with such documentation as
payee determines is acceplable for tax purposes shall preclude payor from deducting such taxes
or charges from the gross royalty otherwise due.

6.2.4. Payee may require such other account statements or reports from payor as may be
reasonable,

6.3, Payments due to HIL.

6.3.1. Where sales of Products or the achievement of other objectives set ouwt in this
Agreement result in BHL and Daiichi Sankyo having obligations to make payments to HIL
under the Hovione License Agreement, Daiichi Sankyo shall netify BHL of those payment
obligations, and provided BHL agrees with the payments, Daiichi Sankyo shall pay the
amounts due to HIL and deduct BHL's share of such amounts from payments due to Biota
under this Agreemant.

7. Representati W i Vi
7.1, Mutual Representations, Warranties, and Covenants. Each of Biota and Daiichi Sankyo

cach hereby represents, warrants, covenants, acknowledges and agrees that the other is relying,
and is entitled to rely, on the following representations, warranties, and covenanis:

(a) Each Party has the corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder, and the execution, delivery
and performance of this Agreement has been duly and validly authorized and
approved by proper corporate action on the part of such Party. Each Party has
taken all other action required to be taken by such Party under the Laws, its
certificate of incorporation, by-laws or any agreement to which it is a party with
respect to the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement.
Assuming due authorization, execution and delivery on the part of a Party, this
Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Party,
enforcezble against such Pary in accordance with its terms, except as the
enforceahility thereof may be limited by applicable Laws or by bankruptey,
insolvency, reorganization or other similar Laws of general application relating
o ereditors” rights; and

(b)  Tothe best of its knowledge as of the Effcctive Date, the execution and delivery
of this Agreement by a Party and the performance by such Party contemplated
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hereunder shall not violate any Laws or any order of a coun or 2 Regulatory
Authority; and

{c) To the best of its knowledge as of the Effective Date, neither the execution and
delivery of this Agreement nor the performance hereof by a Party requires such
Party to obtain any permits, authorizations or consents from any governmental
authority other than a Regulatory Authority or from any other person; and

(d) During the Term, each Party shall fulfill its obligations under this Agreement, in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement and all applicable Laws; and

() During the Term, cach Party shall retain and maintain compliance with all
necessary government authorizations and permits necessary to Manufacture and
supply the Product and to otherwise perform cach Party's obligations under this
Agreement; and

(f) All of a Pany's employees, officers and consultants participating in the
performance of this Agreement are, to the extent permitted under applicable
Laws, under obligations (i) to assign to such Party all Inventions made during
the course of and as a result of their asscciation with such Party, and (i) to
maintain as confidential the Confidential Information received from or on
behalf of the other Party; and

{g)  Each Party shall not knowingly employ any employes in performing the
services hereunder who has been debarved or disqualified by a Regulatory
Authority or any governmental agency.

7.2.  Biota" Representations, Warranties, and Covenants. Biota hereby represents, wamrants,
covenants acknowledges and agrees that Daiichi Sankyo is entitled to rely, on the following
representations, warranties, and covenants:
(a) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by each of Biota
shall not result in the breach of or give rise o any termination of any agreement
or contract relating to the Preduct to which each of Biota is a party.

7.3.  No Other Waranty, EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT,
NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY OTHER REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF
ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT. THE
RIGHTS GRANTED HEREUNDER ARE PROVIDED WITHOUT WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR ANY OTHER
WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. BIOTA MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR
WARRANTY THAT DAIICHI SANKYO'S ACTIVITIES UMDER THIS AGREEMENT
WILL NOT INFRINGE ANY PATENT OR OTHER PROPRIETARY RIGHT OF A THIRD
PARTY. BIOTA WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR SUCH INFRINGEMENT, OR AN
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ALLEGATION THEREOF, NOR SHALL THE SAME BE AN EXCUSE FOR
MON-PERFORMANCE OF DAIICH] SANKYO'S OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER. BIOTA
ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITIES OR LIABILITIES TOWARDS DAIICHI SANKYO
OR THIRD PARTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE RESEARCH, DEVELOFMENT,
MANUFACTURE, USE, SALE OR DISPOSITION OF THE PRODUCT IN THE FIELD.
THE ENTIRE RISK AS TO THE PRODUCT IN THE FIELD I3 ASSUMED BY DAIICHI
SAMENYO,

74.  Limitation of Liability. SUBJECT TO SECTION 10, NO FARTY SHALL BE
ENTITLED TO RECOVER FROM ANOTHER PARTY ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL,
CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES IN CONMNECTION WITH THIS
AGREEMENT, UNLESS SUCH DAMAGES ARE INFLICTED AS A RESULT OF THE
MEGLIGENCE OR WRONGDOING OF THE OTHER. PARTY.

7.5, Survival of Limitation of Liability. Sections 7.3 and 7.4 shall survive any termination

or expiration of this Agreement.
8. Term and Termination

8.1. Term.

8.1.1. This Agreement will commence on the Effective Date and, unless earlier terminated as
provided for hereunder, continue for the Term. While this Agreement remaing in force, Daiichi
Sankyo shall continue to have the right to use the Information owned by Biota,

8.2  Earlier termination.

8.2.1. The Parties agree that provided the dispute resolution procedure under Section 12 is
exhausted either Biota or Daiichi Sankyo may, without prejudice to any other remedies
available to it at law or in equity, terminate this Agreement prior to the end of the term, by
giving the ather sixty (60 days writtén notice (“Motice Period™) upon oceurrence of any of the
following events:

8.2.1.1.  “Material breach” defined as the default of any material obligation hereunder by
either Biota or Danchi Sankyo, which has not been remedied within sixty (60) days after onc
Party sends written notice detailing the substance of the default to the defaulting Party, or

8.21.2.  “Insolvency” meaning the insolvency, bankruptey, dissolution or liquidation of the
other Party, where such Party is subject to the filing or consents to the filing of a petition under
any bankruptey or insolvency law or has any such petition filed against it which has not been
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dismissed within ninety (90) days of such filing, appointment of a trustee, administrator, or
receiver for all or substantially all of the asscts of such Party, or assignment of the assets of
such Party for the benefit of creditors, or attachment or expropriation of the business or assets
of such Party.

8.3, The right of a Party to terminate this Agreement as provided in Section 8.2 shall not be
affected in any way by its waiver or failure (o take action with respect to any previous defaulr.

8.4, Rights on termination.

8.4.1. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, none of the Parties shall be liable to
the others based on, or as a result of, the termination of this Agreement as provided herein,
whether in loss of good will, anticipated profits or otherwise. This Section 8.4.1 shall survive
the termination for any reason of this Agreement.

9. Confidentiality

9.1.  During the term of this Agreement and for a period of seven (7) years thereafier, each
Party (a) shall hold the Information and any marketing and other confidential information,
whether in written, oral, visual, or machine readable form disclosed by either Party to the other
under this Agreement (the “Confidential Information™) in confidence with the same degree of
care it maintains the contidentiality of its own Confidential Information, (b) shall not disclose
such Confidential Information without the prior written consent of the disclosing Party, and (c)
shall not use such Confidential Information other than for exercising its rights and/or
performance of its obligation under this Agreement except for any information which is
evidenced that:

(i} was in the receiving Party's possession at the time of disclosure,

(i) was publicly known at the time of such disclosure,

(ili)  becomes publicly known through no default of the receiving Party,

{iv)  wasobtained legally by the receiving Party from a duly authorized thicd party, or

(v)  was independently discovered without the aid or application of the information

received.

9.2.  Each Party may disclose the Confidential Information available only to thosc of its
employees, contractors, and agents who have a need to know such Confidential Information to
implement the terms of this Agreement. The Partics agree to take reasonable precautions to
preserve the confidential, proprietary or secret status of the Confidential Information and shall
require that each of their respective employees, contractors, and agents understand and agree in
writing to treat and to hold such Confidential Information in confidence consistent with the

17735 QZ?%/




provisions herein,

9.3, Within thirty (30) days of the date of termination of this Agreement for any reason, cach
Party shall provide each other Party with written notice specifying that through reasonable care
and to the best of its knowledge: (a) all Confidential Information embodied in whole or in part
in documents, materials, things, amd copies thereof have been destroyed or retumed to the
relevant Party, and (b) the originals and all copies of any machine-readable documentation
containing any porten of the Conflidential Information have been destroyed or retumed to the
relevant Party,

9.4. The Parties shall be entitled to issue a press release relating to this Agreement or
activities conducted hereunder, as approved by the Parties. A Party may issue any subsequent
press releases or other written public disclosures relating o this Agreement or activities
conducted hereunder (each a ‘Proposed Disclosure) upon prior written approval of the other
Parties, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, that each Party will
use Commercially Reasonably Efforis 1o submit to the other Parties a draft of such Proposed
Disclosure for review and comment by the other Parties at least five (5) full business days prior
to the date on which such Party would like to release such Proposed Disclosure. Biota will
make good fith efforts o adhere to the five (5) day notice period, but Daiichi Sankyo
acknowledges that there may be situations where under Australian laws or stock market listing
rules Biote are required to immediately issue a disclosure concerning this Agreement or
activilies hereunder.  In all situations, Biota will promptly inform Daiicki Sankyo of any
required disclosure. No approval of the other Parties shall be required if a subsequent press
release solely discloses information that has previously been approved. None of the Parties
shall use the name, trademark, trade name or logo of the other Parties or their employees in any
publicity or news release relating to this Agreement or its subject matter, without the prior
express written permission of the other Parties.

10. Liability and Indemnity

10.1.  Biota shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Daiichi Sankyo, its employess, agents,
officers, directors, permirted licensees, successors and permitted assigns (collectively, the
“Daiichi Sankyo Indemnified Parties™), from and against any and all costs, liabilitics,
judgments, ohligations, losses, expenses and damages (including reasonable attormeys’ fees
and expenses) of whatsoever kind or nature (collectively, “Losses™) mcurred by or imposed
vpon any Daiichi Sankyo Indemnified Party as a result of any ¢laims, actions, suits or
proceedings (collectively, “Claims™) arising out of or related to, in any way, the Development,
Manufacture, marketing, promotion, importation, sale or other use (collectively, “Use”) of the
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Product in Japan by Biota pursuant to this Agreement, regardless of whether such Claims or
Losses are based upon theories of contract, tort, product liability, strict lizbility, infringement of
amy patent, trademark, trade name, logo, service mark, trade dress, trade scoret, or any other
legal or equitable theory; provided, however, that Daiichi Sankyo shall indemnify Biota for
Losses proven to have been caused solely from an act or omission by Daiichi Sankya,

10.2.  Daiichi Sankyo shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Biota, and cach of their
employees, agents, officers, directors, permitled licensees, successors and permitted assigns
(collectively, the “Biota Indemnified Parties™), from and against any and all costs, liabilities,
Judgments, obligations, losses, expenses and damages (including reasonable altoreys’ fees
and expenses) of whatsoever kind or nature (collectively, “Losses™) incurred by or imposed
upcn any Biota Indemnified Party as a result of any claims, actions, suils or proceedings
(collectively, “Claims"™) arising out of or related to, in any way, the Development, Manufacture,
marketing, promotion, importation, sale or other use (collectively, “Use™) of the Product in
Japan by Daiichi Sankyo pursuant to this Agreement, regardless of whether such Claims or
Losses are based upon theories of contract, tort, product liability, strict liability, infringement of
any patent, trademark, trade name, logo, service mark, trade dress, trade secret, or any other
legal or equitable theory; provided, however, that the Biota shall indemnify Daiichi Sankyo for
Losses proven to have been caused solely from an act or omission by Biota.

10.3.  Each Party shall give prompt written notice to the other of any Claim asserted against
such Party (in such capacity, the “Motifying Party”™) arising from or relating to the Product,
regardless of whether the Notifying Party is entitled 1o seek indemnification from the other
Party pursuant to either Section 10.1 or 10.2. The Parties shall, subject 1o the execution of an
appropriate non-disclosure agreement, reasonably consult with, and share information with,
each other regarding such Claim and shall reasonably cooperate and assist each other in the
event that the Notifying Party wishes to pursue any claim against any third party in connection
therewith, in each case at the sole cost and expense of the Notifying Party. Each sublicense
agreement entered into by a Party relating to any Product in aceordance herewith shall contain
a provision substantiaily similar to that set forth in this Section 10.3.

10.4. SUBJECT TO SECTION 13, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE ENTITLED TCG
RECOVER FROM THE OTHER PARTY ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL,
CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES [N CONNECTION WITH THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY LICENSE GRANTED HEREUNDER, UMLESS SUCH
DAMAGES ARE INFLICTED AS A RESULT OF THE NEGLIGENCE OR
WRONGDOING OF THE OTHER PARTY.
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1. Amendment

1.1, All amendments to this Agreement must be in writing and signed by authonzed
representatives of both Parties.

12.  Dispute Resolution

12.1. Disputes. Ifthe Parties are unable to resolve any dispute or other matter arising out of
or in connection with this Agreement, a Party may, by written notice to the other Parties (except
as otherwise expressly provided herein), have such dispute referred to a panel consisting of the
Head of Licensing of Daiichi Sankyo and the Chief Executive Officer of BHL or their senior
delegates, Such persons shall be designated with plenary authority for attermpted resolution by
good faith negotiations within thirty (30} days after such notice is received. In such event,
Biota and Daiichi Sankyo shall cause its member of that panel to meet (face-to-face or by
teleconference) and be available to attempt to resolve such issue. If the Parties should resolve
such dispute or claim, a memorandum setting forth their agreement and referencing this
Section 12,1 will be prepared and signed by the Parties if requested by a Party. The Parties
shall cooperate n an effort to limit the issues for consideration in such manner as narrowly as
reagonably practicable in order to resolve the dispute.

12,2, Arbitration. 1f the Parties do not fully settle a dispute or other matter by the processes
referred o in Section 12.1 and a Party wishes to further pursue the matter, each such dispute,
controversy or claim shall be finally resolved by binding arbitration m accordance with the
applicable rules of the American Arbitration Association by three (3) independent arbitrators in
accordance with its Commercial Arbitration Rules. The arbitrators shall have substantial
experience in commercial disputes in the pharmaceutical industry. Each of Biota and Datichi
Sankyo shall name one (1) arbitrator within thirty (30) days after the final closure of the
process described in Section 12,1, The arbitration panel shall be headed by a partner practicing
in an international law firm and who ghall be selected by the two (2) chosen arbitrators. 1 the
head of the arbitration panel is not nominated within thirty (30) days of the date of nomination
of the later of the two (2) party-nominated arbitrators, he shall be selected according to the
Commercial Arbitration Rules, Place of such arbitration shall be New York City, the State of
Mew York, United States of America and the language (including of all testimony, evidence and
written documentation) shall be English. In such arbitration the govemning law to be applied is
as described in Section 13.1. The Parties acknowledge that they desire for any arbitration to be
conducted in an efficient, speedy and economical manner. [norder to effectuate this desire, the
arbitrators shall establish procedures to facilitate such goals and complete such arbitration as
soon and efficiently as practicable. Unless the arbitrators otherwise expressly determine
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otherwise, none of the Partics shall be required to give gencral discovery of documents, but
may be requwed only to produce specific, identified documents which are relevant to the
dispute.  Further unless the arbitrators otherwise designate, cach of Biota and Daiichi Sankyo
shall bear fifty percent (30%) of the costs of any arbitration under this Section 12.2 and the
arbitrators and all of s own costs (including attormney and expert fess) incurred with respect
thereto.

12.3.  Final Award, The award For arbitration under Section 12.2 shall be final and binding
and may be enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction against any of the Partics.
Motwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties shall each be entitled prior 1o or during any dispute
resolution process under this Section 12 1o sesk and oblain injunctive or other equitable reliel
in any court of competent jurisdiction to preserve the status quo pending arbitration or 1o
prevent the breach of this Agreement.

12.4. Mo Termination During Arbitration. The Parties agree that, in the event of a dispute
over the nature or quality of performance under this Agreement, neither Party may terminate
this Agreement until final resolution of the dispute through arbitration or other judicial
determination. The Parties further agree that any payments made pursuant to this Agreement
pending resolution of the dispute shall be refunded if an arbitrator or count determines that such
payments were not due,

12.5. Confidentiality. The Parties and the arbitrators, as applicable, shall maintain the fact of
any dispute resolution proceeding and any settlement or award made to a Party under this
Section 12 in strict confidence.

13. Governing Law

13.1.  Any claim, dispute or controversy of whatever nature arising out of or relating to this
Agreement, including without limitation, any action based on tort, contract or statule, or
concerning the interpretation, effect, termination, validity, performance or breach of this
Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of New York without regard to any
conflict of law principles.

14. Force Majeure
14.1, Mo Party shall be liable for any failure or delay in performance of this Agreement

occasioned in whole or in part by acts of God, strike, lock-out, fire, carthquake, epidemic,
inability to obtain materials or shipping space, breakdown, delay of carrier or regulation of any
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government or any other cause beyond its control, provided that said Party has exercised due
and reasonable care and its best efforts to avoid any of the above-mentioned events,

15, Notices

15.1.  Any notice or report pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed duly given if delivered
personally, sent by airmail, international recognized courier service, electronic mail (provided
such electronic mail is followed by facsimile confirmation in accordance with this Section
15.1) or facsimile addressed to the other Pany at the addressee facsimile number set forth
below, or to such other address or facsimile number as shall have theretofore been furnished by
one Party to the other in accordance with this Section, and shall be desmed to have been given
when sent.

If to BSM: Attention: Mr Peter Cook
Chief Executive Officer
Biota Scientific Management Pry Lid
11/585 Blackburn Road
Motting Hill, 3168
Victoria, Australia
Fax: +61 3 9915 3702
Telephone: +61 9915 3720
e-mail: p.cookEbiota.com.au

Copy to be sent to:

Attention: Mr Damian Lismore
Company Secretary

Biota Scientific Management Pty Lid
107585 Blackburn Road

Motting Hill, 3168

Victora, Australia

Fax; +61 3 9915 3702

Telephone: +61 3 9915 3721

e-mail: d.lismore@biota.com.au
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Ifto BHL: Attention: Mr Peter Cook
Chief Executive Officer
Biota Scientific Management Pty Lid
10/585 Blackburn Road
Notting Hill, 3168
Victoria, Australia
Fax: +61 3 9915 3702
Telephone: +61 9915 3720
e-mail; p.ecooki@biota com.au

Copy to be sent to:

Attention: Mr Damian Lismare
Company Secretary
Biota Scientific Management Pty Lid
10/585 Blackburn Road
Motting Hill, 3168
Victoria, Australia
Fax: +61 3 9915 3702
Telephone: +61 3 9915 3721
e-mail: d.lismore@@biota.com.au

If to Daiichi Sankyo: Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited
3-5-1 Mihonbashi-Honcho, Chuo-ku,
Tokyo 103-8426, Japan
Attention:  Vice President, Licensing
Fax: +81-3-6225-1903
Telephone: +81-3-6225- 1007
e-mail:ishida. noriaki. xe@daiichisank
¥o.c0.jp

16.  Assignment of Rights and Obligations

16.1. A Party may assign all or any part of this Agreement to any Affiliate. In all other
respects, no Party shall voluntarily or by operation of law assign, hypothecate, give, transfer,
mortgage, sublet, license, or otherwise transfer or encumber all or part of its rights, duties, or
other interests in this Agreement or the proceeds thereof (collectively, “ Assignment™) in whole
or in part to any third party without prior written consent of the other, provided, however that
cither Party may assign this Agreement in the event of an acquisition of such Party by a third
party. Any attempt to make an Assignment in vielation of this provision shall be a material
default under this Agreement and any Assignment in violation of this provision shall be null
and void.

17.  Entire Agreement

17.1.  This Agreement, together with the Appendices attached hereto, set forth the entire
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agreement and understanding between the Parties as to the subject matter hereof, and
supercedes all agreements and understandings between the Parties as to the subject matter,
whether oral or in writing.

18. ied Waiv

18.1. No failure or delay on the part of a Party to exercise any right under this Agreement or
provided for by Laws shall impair, prejudice or constitute a waiver of such right.

149, verabilit

19.1.  Ifand to the extent that any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction holds any of the
tenms, provisions or conditions of this Agreement or parts thereof, or the application hereof to
any circumstances, to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable in a final non-appealable arder, (i)
such provision shall be fully severable, (ii) this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if
such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part hereof] (iii) the
remainmg provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be
affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision or by its severance herefrom, and (iv)
in liew of such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision, there shall be added automatically as
a part of this Agreement, a legal, valid and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such
illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision as may be possible.

20. Mo License
20.1.  Mothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute the grant of any license or
other right in any Party to any other Party in respeet of any product, patent, trademark,

confidentizl information, trade secret or other data or any other intellectual property of the
other Party except as expressly set forth herein.

21. Headings

21.1.  The headings for each article and section in this Agreement have been inserted for
convenience of reference only and are neither intended to limit or expand on the meaning of the
language contained in the particular article or section nor to be used in construing or
interpreting any of the provisions of this Agreement.

22, Appendices
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22.1.  All Appendices to this Agreement are by this reference incorporated herein and made a
part of this Agreement,

13.  Counterparts
231, This Agreement may be executed in three or more counterparts, each of which shall be

deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument.

IN WITMESS WHEREOF, the Parlies have caused this Agreement to be executed and
effective as of the Effective Date.

BIOTA SCIENTIFIC

MANAGEMENT PTY. LTD. DAIICHI SANKYO CO., LTD.
Mame: Peter Cook Mame: Moriaki 1shida

Title: Chief Executive Officer Title: Vice President, Licensing
Date 5o Aesist W Date .3 /77/249

BIOTA HOLDINGS LTD.

ol

MName: Pme? (.-?odk
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Daie 7o
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Exhibit 10.9

Certain information contained in this document, marked by ***, is filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as




SECTION B--SUPPLIES OR SERVICES AND PRICES/COSTS

ARTICLE B.1. BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF SUPPLIES OR SERVICES

The objective of this contrect is to develop domestically manufaciured antiviral drugs, oligomers, biclogicals, antibody ar

immunoglobulins, hameral immues respense modulaiors, Fab fragments or derivatives thereof, keading towards FDA-

licensure amd human usage. The scope of activities for which the Comtractor may request fimds may include manufacturing,
limical evaluation of pilot and inl scale lots of drugs or hinlogicals, including but not limited 1o small molecules,

enzymes, polypeptides, proteins and natural or synthetic antibodies and nucleic acids or derivatives thereof, Funds may alse
e wsed for scale-up development and manufacturing facility design but not facility constrection,

ARTICLE B2 CONTRACT LINE ITEM NUMBERS {CLINs)
ARTICLE B.L1. Coniract Type
This is o multiple year, Cost Flus Fixed Fee type contmet,

ARTICLE B.22 Camsideration and Payvment (CPFF)

This is & cost phus fixed fise (CPFF) contraet. In consideration for completion of work in d with the 5 of
Wark (Seciien C), the Contractor shall b« paid on amount ned to exceed $231,252,675 of which  [**] represents the
estimated reimbursable costs and  [++%] represents the fixed fee, The amount currently allotted for the contract shall
cover a Ml-month performance period.

I
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ARTICLE B3, PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO DIRECT COSTS

“This section prohibits or resiricts the use of contract fands, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Comracting Officer
fior the following:

&)  Acquisition, by purchase or lease, of any interest in resl property;

by Rearrangement or alieration of fhcilitics;

€] Purchase or lease of any item of gencral purposs office furniture or office equipmont rogardleas of Sollar value,

d}  Travel Costs;

o)  Consullam Coats;

) Subcontract Costs;

£} Patient Care Costs; and

b} Accountable Government Property (defined as both real and personal property wilh an scquisition cost of
51,000 or more and a life expectancy of more than two years) and “sensitive items™ (defined and listed in the
Contractor's Guide of Government Property), regardless of acquisition value

ARTICLE Bd. ADVANCE UNDERSTANDINGS

ARTICLE BAL Accounting System

The Contractor shall have an approved accounting system in position within gix (5) months after confract award_ 1f the
Contractor falls fo have a ding approved ding system within zix (6) months after contract award, the Government
has the rght to l.\dlh'hnhdpayrwm il mmmmﬂmmmg syatem is in place andfor terminate the contract in its
enlirely.

ARTICLE BA2, Dadichi-Sankyo Data and [P eights

HHS undersiands that Biota has free and unencumbersd use of any data genesated during the Daiichi-Sankyo—manapged
clinical trials for laninamivir registration in Japan, and that this data can be included to support an NDA submission for US
registration. Biota shall obtain and use this dats as needed for US FDA licensuse,

ARTICLE B4.3, In Process Review

In Process Reviews (IPR) will be conducted at the discostion of the Government 1o discuss the progression of the milestones,
The Governmeond reservies the eight (o revise the milestones and budget pending program development status. Deliverables
mmay be required when the IPRs are conducted and may include, but ned be limited to, the following:

Initial 24 maonths: The completion of the CMC-generated clinical kot and initintion of the Phase 2 adult clndcal trial, that will
canclude at the end of Year 2 in the contrect and deliverables required will be the analytical or QA/QC reponis or related
documents on drug :uhuwg,, J.rus pwd.wu, device ar linal lin.lg pmdud.arhl any Clinical M hpnm {CSR&} associated
with pre-clinical and elinical stodies completed by end of Year 2.

: The completion of the adult Phase 2 clinical trial and initiation of the Phase 3 adult clinical trials, The
deliverables required at the end of Year 3, 40), are the adult Phass 2 stody report, the Phase 2 pediatric CSR and any other
study reponts expected 1o be compleded by the end of Year 3.

Months 37 throwgh 60; The completion and qualificetion of the mamufeciuring validation lots ead completion of the Phass 3
adult clinical trials, The deliverables required af the eod of Year 5, 10, aro the adult Phase 3 Clinkcal Study Reports and any
olher study reparts expecied to be completed by the end of Year 5, and the reports and documents associated with
manulacturing lol qualification.

ARTICLE BA4. Termination of Contract

The Contrucior's filure, in any material respect, to meet the mil within the specified iime periods s staled in the
statement of work shall constiiuie an event of defaull entitling the Government io exereise its right o terminate the contract
for default, in sccordance with FAR 52.249-6, Termination (Cest-Reimbursement) (May 2004)

ARTICLE BAS5. Consultant Rates

The Contractor agrees that the hourly rate of any individual, hired a5 a consultant against this contract, skall not exceed the
federal Executive Schedule Level [ kourdy rate. I here is a need o pay a consultam in excess of this capped rate, the
Contractor ghall submit a request for Contracting Offieer’s approval which includes a justifieation for the higher hourly mte
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and the number of hours for which this higher rate will be charged, along with backup documentation where the consulint
heas charged the higher rate on a regalar bagis, The Contracting Officer has the sole discretion to approve the higher rate fora
limited number of hours.

SECTION C - STATEMENT OF WORK

Definitions —For the parpose of this Section

“Freedom to (perate”™ — ensures that the commercinl production, marketing and use of the Contractor’s new product, process
and serviee do not infringe the intellectual property rights of others,

ARTICLE C.1. BACKGROUND

ARTICLE C.1.1. Introduction and Rationale

Preparedness for public health threats is a major goal of the U.E, Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). An
influenza pandemic has a great potential 1o cause large numbers of deaths and illsesses over a short time perisd. A pandemic
oceurs when there is an antigenic shift in influenza A virus and trassmizsion of a new strain o which mest or all of the
warld's population is suscepiible. Three pandemics eccurred during the 20% century and one in the 21 century, the most
severe of which, in 1918, caused aver S00,000 LS, deaths and mare than 20 million deaths sorldwide, Within the scientific
communiry, it ks generally believed that the cocurrence of anotler infl pandlemic is most Hikely. Recent owthreaks of
buman diseass caused by swine-origin HIN1in 2009 and avian HS, H9, and HY influcnza strains in Asla, Europe, amsd Naorth
Americn highlight the potential of new strains to be introduced into the papulstion. Estimates for the next pasdende,
extrapalsting from those of the 20 and 21" centuries, range from aboul 100,000 to over 2 million deaths in the U5, alone.

Influceza antiviral drugs and infl ines are idered a primary means to decrease the mortality and morbidity
asaoclated with the Ma{mﬂmﬂn HHS 15 pqu:sm'ng mn[ﬁ[ﬂu amml 'pqn||:| s'l.rul:gi:u o close the AP hetween current
antiviral drug ard influenza vaccine supply and the HIIS goal of stockpiling licensed and new antiviral drugs and pre-
pandemic vaccines a8 part of the strategic plan for pandomic preparedness.

Although vaccination is the primary strategy for the prevention of infleenza, there are 8 number of likely scenarios for which
vacoination will be unavailable or inadequaie and effective antivirl sgenis would be of critical imporiunce, Antivirul drugs
form an important part of a stratogy for dealing with an influcnza pandemic with a new influenza virus of any origin,
including avian influenza. In the event of a pandemic outhrenk the infection will spread very quickly and the affective
vaccing production and availability could be delayed several months, furthermaore, the current classes of marketed products
have limitations, contraindications and possible viral resistance development. New influenza compounds can target cells,
insuste imanunity, o7 oiber imaunity meshanism of the bost or ean act o different stages of the inflwenea virus life cycle and
replication. HHS sees the advanced development of new influenea antivirels agents designed to affest different targets of
influerza virus infection or 1o enbance effects of present classes of influenza antiviral drugs as necessary steps 10 counteract
the limited supply, limited domestic production capacity, and rising possibility of resistant virs sirains to Heensed antivirals
in the event of a pandemic outbreak.

ARTICLE C.1.2, Parpase

The purpase of this contract is to support advanced stage developneent of new antiviral agemts for the freaiment and
prophylaxis of pandemic and scasonal influenza leading ioward submission of & US FDA licensure application and
development of required industrial capacity to support implementation of the infleenzs antivirals ar full production capacity
at or before the onset of a pandemic. Ut by, these infl antivirals shall be produced at one or more Food and Drug
Admiristration (FDA)-spproved manufictaring facilities and shall provide sufficient surge capacity to contribute
substantinlly to U.S. and ideally global antivimal needs during an iflusenea pandemic.

ARTICLE C.1.3, Objectives

Using intellectual property to which the compary has ed, dio ted access and & iz “fresdom to
operate,” the successful Contractor shall accomplish the following objectives associated with advanced development of 8
new, influenea antiviral.
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n)  Cemduet toxicology and clinical testing 1o assess the safery, of the pew antivieal agest. The Contractor shauld
consider the Fast Track Drug Development Programs — FDA's Guidance for Industry. Antiviral agents may be
manufsctured by the Contractor or subcontmetor & & ficility in compliance with current Good Manufcturing
Proctices (eGMP) guidolines,

b} Develop a clinical manufacoring and testing plan with the suppontive regulatory development plan that wdill lead 1o
submission of a licensure application. The Comractors should seek guidance from the FDA on the clinieal
development plan for their antiviral products and should indicate whether ihe clinical development plan reflects
FDA's guidance.

€] Develop a plan to manufacture the antiviral drugs or products in an approved Facility based in the U8, (o1, for a
product with long-term stability that is suitable for nnciplllng at afn FDA-approved Eacility in the U8, or at a foreign
site with a capacity to support rapid steckpile p e with U5, pandemic influenza antiviral
needs),

Activities that may be supported by this contract shall include drug toxicology studies in animals, clinical evaluation studies
of the antiviral for eafety process and manufacturing scale up development, product lot release assay development and
process validation. U. 8. Gov t (USG) support shall not be provided for building a manufacturing facibity or
purchasing an cxisting facility.

ARTICLE .2, DESCRIFTION OF WORK

Indcp:ndcml_l,' and im0l as an agent of ke government, the Conlractor shall furmzh all the MLCERSArY mﬁ:n,qﬂuﬂiﬁ:ﬂ
personne], materinle, equipment, and fazilities ot otherwise provided by the govemment as nosded to perform the work
described below,

The Contractor Work Flan (CWF) that describes the aclivitics to be performed and the Gantt chart to include all activitics
described inthe CWP with a time-phased and task-linked budget (submitted in response (o the RFF), The level of detail
contained in the CWE and the cormespanding Ganit chant must be sulficient 1o facilitate management and excoution of the
contract by the Contractor,

ARTICLE C.2.1.  Milestones

L Milsstone 1: Within thees (3) months of contract award, the Contractor shall provide to HIIS for review and
acceplance & comprebenaive milestone-driven L for un influenza antiviral drug or
therapeatic. The Plan should be inclusive of pre-clinical and clinical activities performed and completed prior to
contract award and those clinical and manufacturing aclivities 1o be performed post-contract awarding. The Flan
stull be o high=level overview and inclede the following:

A, A Ganit chant timeline or equivalent
B. A description of the process development and scale-up of drug/therapeutic manufactaring.

€. A description of clinical and consistency lot manufacturing for FDA Canter for Biologics/Dirugs Evaluation and
Reseurch (CBER/CDER) product licensure,

D. A description of the general clinical development plan including development and validstion of clinical sample
ARAYE,

E. A description of product lot release assay development inchiding lot release product assay specifications and

F. A regulatory masier plan that focuses on the crifical pathway (o product licensure.

G. A cost-secounting system based on original budget estimates (that includes earmed value management) to
manitor all costs related to the contract award for both prime- and sub-contractors on a real time bagis,

1L Milestone 2: Within six (§) months of contract award, the Contractor ghall submit to HHS for review and

acceplance, a comprehensive, integrated Clinieal Development and Regulatory Plan. The fallowing issues shall
be addressed in the Plan;
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A, A summary of pre-clinical stwdies including consultation{s) with Center for RiologicaTrrugs Evaluation and
Research (CBER/CDER) it FDA which should be incorparated as an appendix to the milestone report.

B. A detailed description of clinical evaluation shall be integrated with the manufacturing plans using the most
current and available infarmation including consultation with CBER/CDER. Clinical trials parformed as a
result of this contract shall inchude any Phase 1, Phase 2, and Fhage 3 trals needed 1o achieve U8, FDA
licensure, Trinks should include adults and the elderly. Given the duration, cost, and impontance of ¢linical
triaks, the plan for each clinical trial should clearly indicate key oulcomes, populaiions, study sites and
w]hhﬂ!‘lﬁm analytic strategy, sample size, timelines, and other key components. A summary of clinical lot

[ g results, provisional lot release specifications, toxicology data, completed Phase | trials and any
additional st:gwufp«ﬂnldwe!npmam that have been completed should be incorporated as an appendix fo
the milestome report.

C. A detailed deseription of regulatory nctivities shall be integrated with all products, clinical testing and
manufachormg schivities using the most current and nvlilnb.emﬁm'uhm including consultation with
CHER/CDER. A rigk i and mitigation plan add fiscturing, clinical and
regulatory obstacles that might prevent or delay licensure as l.v¢IJ ak 2 plan for the production and distnbation of
drug/therapeutic in the case of Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) should be included. Issues suitable for
risk nssessment include pre-clinical and clinical roxicology and safety stodies, process yields and facility
managernént, Mitigation plans should include decision trees where applicable.

Many of the requited clements may be satisfied by inclusion of the Contractor's Investigaional New Drag (IND7}
application and relevant supplements.

I, Milestene 3: Within nine (9) months of contract award, the Contractor shall provide HHS for review and
& plan i establish n Manufaeturing Facility Plan describing the design, constraction, commissioning,
qa.ullﬂna.ll.m and validatbon of a facility 1o produce the Contractor’s antiviral drag or biological. The Plan shall
contain appropriste information concerning the fsllowing elements:

A. Bite sclection eriteria, including site user requinement specifications, descriptions of site utilitics and
infrastruciure, descriptions of local, state and federal permitting issucs and security planning comsiderations.

B, A facility regulatory compliance plan that addresses oGME standards, USDA animal testing standards,
Nutionul Fire Protection Agency siandards, DHS security issues and OSHA compliznce.

C. Manufacturing processes that inchedes descriptions of upstream and downstream processing, formulation,
filling aned finishing unit operations, bulk and finished product acceplance specifications, overall capacity
nezded to meet contract requirements, manufachoring support operations such as solwion preparation, slorage
and distribuation, glassware washing and sterilization, clean-in-place and sicam-in-place aperations, a risk
mamagement plan ol euch stage of production, process flow dingrams, equipment capacity calculations, an
antormation plan and an cquipment list detailing sizing capacity criteria, utility requirements, dimensions,
clearances weights, mousting and purchasing lead times,

I, Architectural! structural plans that inchude concept functional designe, deseriptions, and diagranss of space
requirements, adjncency plans, floor plans, equipment layouts, material, product and persarme] flows, solid,
liquid contaminated and other waste flows, and an air balence description or disgram detiling soning,
pressurization, air Dows and air quality classification.

E. Progess and building mechanieal engineering including enerpy balanees, utility flow diagrams, sutamation
plan, equipment lists and a preliminary layout.

F. A proposed eonstruction sehedule including installation, commissioning and insallation'operational/
performance qualification and a risk mitigation analysis.

ee including quality

A1)

ayxl:ms.. mc wlldmnn wumu' plmmd uprmury milesiones.

The facturing facility and p shall be maintained in compliance with current Good Manufachuring
Pructices
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v, Milestong 4; Within twelve (12) menths of contruct award, the Contractor shall provide FHS for review and
#cceptance a Feaslbility Plan wo manufsciure, test, and release product containing antiviral drag. The Plan should
include the following elements:

A. A process deseription, including a summary of process datn that describes the yield of API and final product,
addition of any excipients and panfication efficiencies of key process steps.

B. A comparison of process data that describes the significance of process scabe-up and yield/purity
comparisons sfter scale-up.

€. Proposed production schedubes including detailed timelines for each developmant step, conception of a

facturing schems, facture of proposed clinical lols, deseriplion of scale-up plans and manofacturing

plant peeds, receipt timelines for any vins strains that need importation clearance, (ASQC paidance and
timelines, FDA inspection and clesrance of manufacturing facilities and building or retrofitting schedules for
manufazturing facility(s).

D, A bulk and All-Anish manufaetu ClpbE

E. A description of process optimization sctivites.
F. Dose calewlations and contingency plans to address tbhe need for higher dosages of the active pharmacewtical
ingredient.

G, Agrﬂnd:.ﬂzﬂdlhuugmnl!hn' sl g ap demi ST ed p|nnu|d:b¢rﬂ'!pl1h|g
continganeles of key ingreds

H. A pandembe facility management plan including change procedures for pest-pandemic operations and
operation under Emergency Use Authorization (EUA).

V. Milestone 5: Contractor-defined Milestones, The Contractor shall provide a work breakdown structure including
comprehensive and integrated rimelines (Gantt chan) and major milestones to complete the remaining scope of
wuork a3 relevant given the stage of drug development and evalustion towsrd product licensure. The Contracior
shall propose milestones, at which time data will be presented, summarizing results of prior sctivities and new
plans and protocals that will be submitied for review and approval in arder to guide all subsequent activities,
Potentinl milestones may include manufacturing of an investigational lot of APL, validation of facilities, systems
and equipment, validation of Quality Control product Lot redease methods, validation of manufsciuring processes,
stability study programs, consi v lot 1 facturing, completion of a clinical trial and progress (o a new phase
of drug evabuation, submission of a license application, ete.

ARTICLEC.2.2.  Praject Management and Risk Management Objectives

The Contractor shall (deliver as a part of the Techiical Propesal) and implement 2 Management Flan that explaing how the
Contractos will provide for the effective and efficient management of the technical, administrative, logistical, and suppont
functions described in this statement of work, and shall use an Earned Value Management System (EYMS) in the
management of this contract that is consistent with ANSUEIA-STD-748 guidelines. The Contructor shall develop and
implement a Risk Management Plan highlighting potential problens andor issues that may arise during the life of the
contract, their impact on cost, perfarmance and timelines, and appropriste remediation plans. This plen should reference
relevant WHS elesnents, where appropriaie.

Integrated Baseline Review: The Contractor shall submit a plan for post-oward Integrated Baseline Review {IBR) fo oceur
within 90 days of contract award. At the [BR, the Contractor and HHS shall mutually agree upon cost, schedule and
technical plan baseline (Performance Measurement Baseling). This baseline shall be the basis for monitaring and reporting
progress throughout the life of the contract. The IBR is conducted to provide a mutual understanding of the inherent risks in
Contracior’s performance plans and the umlcr'gnr!s nmnaaemmlqmn'ul syslems, and il should formulate a plan io handle
these rigks.

Contract Performance Report: The Contractor ghall deliver 2 Contract Performance Report (CPR) on 2 monthly busis
consistent with the instraction in Départment of Defense Data Tem Description (DID) DI-MGMT-81466A, Contractor shall
provide Farmat 1, Format 3 andfor Format 5 as negotiated. Format 1 will be reporied at the Work Breakdown Structure level
agreed to by HHS and the Contractor, Contractor ghall provide preliminary CPR on the 15th day after end of Contractar
reporting period and final CPR on the 2ith day after contract end. EV Variance thresholds will be negotiated with the
Contracior post-award but for planning purposes will likely he 55 10%.
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Integrated Master Schedule: The Contractor shall deliver (as a part of the Technical Proposal) a program leve! Integrased
Master Schedule (IMS) that rolls up all time-phased WBS elements down {o the activity level, This IMS shall inclde the
dependencies that exist between tasks. The Contractor shall provide monthly delivery of the IMS status with performance
dats and should inclode actial stan'finish and projected startfinish dates. The statss schedule should be delivered 5 days
after reporting manth end.

Waork Breakdown Structure: Work Breakdown Struclures (WEBS) shall be discernable and consistent, For example, HHS
may require a contractor to furmish WBS datn at the cost account level ar at the work package level or at a lower bovel if there
iz significant complexity and rigk fated with the task,

ARTICLE C.2.3. Security of Contract Operations and Information Technology

The wark performed for development, manufacture, tmnsport, storage snd distribution will be performed under e detailed
security plan that ensures against thefl, tampering or destruction of the specific pertinent product-related material, equipment,
dacaments, infarmation, and data. The Contractor skall develop a written Draft Seeurity Plan, for the prolection of physical
facilities, using, for example, fencing, controlled socess, surveillance equipment, 2-person integrity rule, tamper evident
packaging, and armed guards.

This plan hall ensure confidentiality, integrity of, and timely access by authorized individuals to data, information and
information technology systems, consistent with OMB Cireular A-130, Appendix 11, This plan should aleo address the
Contractor's security-related due diligence on public information, marketing, advertising, including use of web site(s)
impacting product and supply chain security,

This plan shall also inclade the security measures to be used to protect the medical coantermeasure to be stored at the
Contractor's facility (e.g., refriperntion/freezer alarm systems, backup clectrical power generator systems, efe.), and the
contingency plan to sccommodate any manuficturing and storage problems caused by natural or man-mede disasters, power
Bess, refrigerant loss, equipment Bailures, ets,

The Contractor shall revise the Secarity Plan and submit a Final Security Plan to the Government within 30 days of
natification. The COTR and the Information Protection and Systema Security (IPASS) Cocrdinator will review the plan and
submit comments to the © within 10 business days afier receipt. Upen completion of all the required secanty
measures, he Contractor shull supply 1o the COTR a ledter cerfilying compliance, Performance of work under (his coatract
shall be in accordance with this wrilten Sccurity Plan. The Final Security Plan will be incorporated as Attachmient 5.

ARTICLE C.24, Mectings and conferences

The Contracior shall participate in regular meetings o coordinate snd oversee the contract effort as direeled by the COTR.
Such mestings may include, but are not limited to, mectings of all Contractors and subcontrectors to discuss clinical
manufacturing progress, product development, product assay development, scale up manufacturing development, clinical
sample assays development, preclinicaliclindcal study designs and regulatory isswes; meetings with individual contractors and
olher HHS officials to discuss the technical, regulatory, and ethical aspects of the program; and mectings with technical
consultunts to discuss technical data provided by the Contractor, Monthly teleconferences with the Contracior and
subcontrociors with HES officials will be held at times and dates to be determined to review technical and prochsct
development progress, except during clinical lot manufacturing when meetings shall be held on a weckly basls. The
Contracior’s Principal Investigntor will discuss the activities during the reporting period, any problens thal have arisen and
the aclivitbes pl d for the i porting period.

ARTICLE C.3. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

In addition to those reports required by other terms of this contract, the Contracior(s) shall submit to the Contracting
Officer and the COTE technical progress reports covering the work sccomplished during each reponing period on a
periodic bazis as establisbed by the COTR. These reports are subject to the technical inspection and requests for
clarification by the COTR. These reporis ghall be brisl and factual and prepared in accordsnce with the following fiormat:

. Technical Progress Reparts: On the fifteenth day of each month for the previous calendar month or within ffteen days

past the achievenvent of prescribed project milestones, the Contractor shall submit to the COTR and the Contracting
Officer & Technical Progress Report, The frequency of Technical Progress Reporting will be determined by the
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1L

Contracting Officer and COTR during negotiations of the contract, The format and type of Technical Progress Report
and Executive Summary will be provided by the COTR. Technical Progress Repons will inclsde project timelines and
mflestones and summarses of product masufscturing, testing, and clinieal evalustion. A Technical Progress Report will
nst be required for the period when the Final Report is dwe. The Contractor shall submit one copy of the Technical
Progress Report electronically via e-mail. Any attnchments to the c-mail report skall be submitted in Microsoft Word or
Word Pesfect, Microsoft Excel, Microsoft Project Manger, andfor Adobe Acrobat PDF files. Such reports shall include
the following specific information:

A Title page containing: Tectnicel Progress Report, the contract numbser and title, the period of performance
or milestone being reported, the Contractor's name, address, and other contact information, the author(g),
and the date of submission;

K. IntradustionBackground - An introaduction covering the purpose and scope of the contract effort;

. Progress - The report shull desail, document, and summarize the resulls of work performed, tes! resulis, and
milestones achicved during the period covered. Also to be included is o summary of work planned for the
next reporting period;

. Tssucs - Ism resolved, new issues and outstanding issucs are coumerated with options and
T for resolution. An explanation of any difference between planned progress and actual

progress, why the dilferences hammmd, and, il project activity is delinguent, then what corective
steps are planned. Revised timelines are provided.

E. Invoices — Summary of any invoices submiticd during the reporting period,

F. Actbon ltems — Summary table of activitics or tasks (o be accomplished by a certain date and by whom.,
G, Distribution List = A list of persons receiving the Technical Progress Report

. Anschments — Results an the project are provided as atlachments

11di) M) reports - including quantities needed, format, content, medium. The
Cmmcmr wﬂl be requwd [ pmwde an Integrated Master Project Plan (including tabular & Ganit forms) that clearly
indicate the critical path o support an Emergency Use Anthorization (EUA) and licensure, The Contractor will be
roquired bo provide @ Wark Breakdown Structuse (WEBS) as part of thels profect plan. The prefesred format will be the
Department of Defense (DOD) MIL-HDEK-881 A, 85 guidance in the creation of the WHS

(httpetiaww acq.osd mil /).

The Contractor will be required to develop s Risk Munagement Plan highlighting potential problems and/or issaes that
ITW}!'II"H-E d'u.rin; the life of the contract, their inqmﬁ an cost, Fprfnmmwtm! timilines, and appropriate remediation
plans. This plan will reference relovant WHS clements, where appropriate. The Contracior will be required to provide
an Eamed Value Managessent System Plan that iz consistent with ANSIFEIA-STD-T48 goidelines, which will cordai
(1) & plan for Integrated Baseline Reviews (IBRs), and (2) Integrated Master Schedule (IMS). This IMS is derived from
the Integraied Masier Project Plan that rolls up sll time and cost phased WBS elements down to the sctivity level. The
prefcrrcd formas will belhe Department of Diefense DI-MGMT-81650, as guidance in the creation of the IMS
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The Contractos will be required to provide an Eamed Vahe Contract Performance Report (CPR) on a monthly basis,
The preferred format will be the DOD DI-MGMT-E1466A (litp:!fwww.seq.osd.millpmy). Eurned Vulue Variance
thresholds will be negotinted with the Contractor post-award but for planning parposes will likely be 4/ 10%. In
canjurction with the CPR, the Contrctor shall provide o monthly update to the IMS with up to date performance data
and shauld include sctual start/finish and prajected start/finish dates. EVMS requirements are incorporated ag
Altanchrment 4,

The Bxecutive Summeary, which shall accompany each Technical Progress Report, will be formatted in Microsoft Power
Paint presentations and include the following:

Al Tithe page irdng E ive Title, the contract number and title, the period of performance or milestons
belng reparted, the Contracior's nanye and the date of submission;

B. Praject Progr | &= milestone cvents, test resulis, tasks, and other activitics achkicved during the
Teporting pmud us tlking point bullets;
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. Project Issues presented headings and each item as o talking point bullet,

IV, Final Repor — The Contractor shall submit a Draft Final Report to the COTR and Contracting Officer within 45 calendar
days prior ta the expiration date of the contract, The COTR will review the droft report and provide the Contracting
Officer with col within 15 lar days after receipt. The Final Report shall be corrected by the Contractor, if
necessary, and the final version delivered by the expiration date of the contract. The Contractor shall submit
comprehensive Final Report at the end of the contract that shall detail, document and summarize the resulis of the entire
contract work. The report shall explain comprehensively the resulls achisved.

SECTION D--PACKAGING, MARKING AND SHIPPING

ARTICLE 1. SHIPPING

1. Methad af Delivery

Unless otherwise specificd by the Contracting Officer or the Contracting Officer’s Technical Representative (COTR),
delivery of items, to be furnished to the government under this contract (inchuding invoices), shall be made by first class mail,

1. Addressees = For all contract deliverables,

COTR Comtracting Officer
HHSOS/ASPRBARDA HHS/OS/ASPRIAMCG

330 Independence Avenue 5W 330 Independence Averue SW
Room G640 Room G40

Washington, D.C. 20201 Washington, D.C, 20201

SECTION E—-INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE

The Contracting Officer or the duly sutborized representative will inspect and accept materials and services to be deliversd
unider the comtract. Acceptance may be presumed unless otherwise indieated in writing by the Contracting Officer or the duly
authorized representative within 30 days of receipt, The following clouse s incorporated by reference:

FAR Clauss No.52.246-9, INSPECTION OF RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT (SHORT FORM) (APR 1984)

The COTR will perform the inspections 21 the Contractor’s or subcontractors” facilities as necessary.

SECTION F-DELIVERIES OR PERFORMANCE

ARTICLEF.1. PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE
The period of performance shall be sixty (60) months from the effective date of contract award.
ARTICLE F.2. FLACE OF PERFORMANCE

All work shall be performed st the Contractor’s and its subcontractors” facilities. Local travel within & 50-mile radius of the
Contractor’s office will not be reimbursed,

ARTICLE F.2, TECHNICAL REFORT DISTRIBUTION

Dielivery will be required F.OUB, Destination as set forth in FAR 52,247-35, F.O.B. DESTINATION, WITHIN
CONSIGNEE'S PREMISES (APR 1984), and in accordance with and by the dates specified elsewhere in the contract,
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Ttem Deliverable Quantity Due Date
[B Techmical Progress Report (including EVM Crriginal = C.0, 1" Report due ca'before the 15™
roport) X Copies - COTR day of the mosth following the
1 Elestroibe Copy marith af eosieset awanl;
thereafter, dies on/befiee the: 15
«of the month and within 15 days
ol ackieving a milesions
fallowing cach reporting period,
Mot due when Final is daz.
F1 Hreculive Sumnary Original - C.0 1" Repon due oa'before the 15°
2 Cogies - COTR duy of the month followiag the
| Elecironic Copy muoeth of coctract award;
thereafior, dus ocvbefore the 15*
althe month fallowing ssch
i y dute of the comtract,
Mot dwe when Final is dus,
3 Final Report Crriginal - C.0. rae cnubedore 1he completion
2 Coples = COTR date of the contract,
1 Electromic Capry
ARTICLE F.3, CONTRACT DELIVERABLES
Milestones | Deliverable Cuantity Drue Date
I. Product Development Flan Ohriginal - C.0, Three {3) moniths afler contract
(Milestome 1) 2 Uepies — COTR wward.
1 Electronic Copy
z Chinical Development and Regulatory Plan Original = C.0. Within S:x (6) months after
(Milesions 2) 2 Cepies — COTR coniract award.
1 Electronic Copy
EN Masufacturing Facility Plan Criginal — C.0, Witkin Mane (2) necaths after
[Milestome 3) 2 Copies = COTR contrect sward
1 Electronic Copy
4, Feasibility Plan Ciriginal — C.On Within Twelwe (12) months
(Milestope 4) 2 Copies - COTR affter contmet awnrnd,
| Blectromic Copy
5 Contractor Defined Milestones COrrigiral - C.0 Al contract award,
{Milestone 5) 2 Copics — DOTR
1 Ebectrosdc Copy
6 | Final Security Flan B Origiral - C.0, 30 Days afler Govemment's
2 Copies - DOTR Firad Comments
1 Ekcirosic Copy
T Technical Progress & EVM Reparts and Origiral ~ C.0. See section C.3. Reporting
Execulive Summary 2 Capies - COTR Requircnocnts.
1 Eleciropic Copy
£ Final Report Original - C.O, Sez section C.3, Repoeting
2 Copies - DOTR Regquirensents,
1 Electronss Copy

ARTICLE F4. STOP WORK ORDER

The: following clause is incorporated herein by reference:
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FAR CLAUSE 52.242-15, STOP WORK ORDER {AUG 198%) with ALTERNATE 1 (AFR. 1984)

SECTION G=-CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION DATA |
ARTICLE G.1. CONTRACTING OFFICER |

Iy The Contracting Officer is the only individual whe can legally commet the Government 1o the cxpenditure of public
funde. No person eber than the Contracting (/fficer can make any changes 1o the terms, conditions, geneml provisions
or aither stipulations of this coniract.

2} The ﬂmh'uﬂm; OHfoer 15 Elwqm'ly peTIan with nul.l'u:rn“l}l B0 act uwn!ofﬂuﬁov:m:n! umder this contract, Em.'lylbe
Contracting Officer has authority to: (1) divect or pegotiste any changes in the stal i of work; (2) modify or extend
the perind of performance; (3) chaage the delivery schedube; (4) anthorize reimbursement to the Confraclor any costs
incurred during the performance of this contrect; (5) obligate or deobligate funds into the contract; or (6) otherwise
change any terms and conditions of this contract,

3} Mo information, other than that which may be contained inan authorized modification to this contract, daby issued hy
the Contracting Oficer, which may be received from any person employed by the United States Government, or
atherwise, shall be considered grounds for deviation from nny stipulation of this contract,

ARTICLE G2, PROJECT OFFICERMCONTRACTING OFFICER'S TECHNICAL REPRESENTATIVE (COTR)
The Governmant's COTR for this contract is:

Ms. Julie Schafer
The COTR is responsible for: (1) monitoring the Contractor's technical progress, including the surveillance and assessment of
performance and recommending to the Contracting Officer changes in requiremenis; (2) interpreting the statement of work
and any ofber fechnical performance requitements; (3] performing technical evaluation as required; (4) performing technical

inspections and acceptances required by this contrace; and (5) nssisting in the resolution of technical problems encountered
during performance.

The Government may unilaterally change its designated COTR.

ARTICLE G.3. KEY PERSONNEL, HHSAR 352.270-5 (January X06)

‘The key personnel speeified in this contract are considensd 1o be essential to work performance. At least 30 days prior to
diverting any of the specified individuals to other programs or contracts {or as soon as possible, if an individual mast be
replaced, for example, as a result of leaving the employ of the Contracter), the Contractor shall notify the Contrscting
Oifficer and shall submit comprehensive justification for the diversion or replacement request (including proposed
substitutions for key personnel) to permit evaluation by the Govemnment of the impact on performance under this contract,
The Contractor shall not divert or otherwise replace any key personnel without the written consent of the Contracting Officer.
Any cost sssocisted with an unsuthorized change in Contractor key persaine] shall be at the cost of the Contractor and not
the Government. The Govemnment may modify the contract to add or delete ey personnel at the request of the Contvactor or
Government.

Contractor personncl considered by the Government to be essential to contract performance will be identified here, The
Contracting Officer must be nodified prior io replacing any of these individuals on the contract.

=1
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ARTICLE G4, ADVANCED APPROVAL OF TRAVEL

Requests for foreign travel must be submitted o the COTR o least six weeks in advance and shall contain the following: (a)
mesling(s) and place(s) to be visited, with costs and dates; (b) name(s) and titlefs) of Conlractor personncl to travel and their
fanctions in the contract project; (&) contract pusposes o be served by the travel; () how travel of Contractor personnel will
benefit and contribute 1o accomplishing the contract praject, or will otherwise justify the expenditure of contract fands; {g)
how such advantages justify the costs for travel and absence from the project of more than one person i such are suggested;
unsd {f) what sdditional funclions may be performed by the travelers i sceomplish other purposes of the contract and thas
further benefit the project. The Contractor will submit to the COTR on & monthly basis a list of all proposed business travel
by its employees for the upeoming month with the understanding that there may be additional, necessary business travel that
arised on an urgent bagis. The COTR wall review and respond in a timely bagis to allow for eflicient plarming of travel. In the
avend the COTR does aot respond to the proposed business travel plans within ten days afler submission by the Contractor,
the proposed busipess travel will be deemed accepted, provided that the costs of the travel are otherwise allowable under
FAR 31.205-46, All travel will be in secordance with Federal Travel Regulntions and will be pre-approved on a monthly
hasis by the ODTR. Pre-approval must be submitted with the invoice for ench request for reimbursement.

ARTICLE G.5, INDIRECT COST RATES

The Contractor shall bill in sccordance with the indircet cost rates as indicated in the Contractor”s Final Proposal dated
March 2, 2011,

The ieudirect cost rates are as follows:

1

The indirect cost rates shall not exceed these ceiling rates and the Government is nod abligated to pay any amounts that are in I
excess of these ceiling rates.

ARTICLE Gu6, INVOICE SUBMISSION/CONTRACT FINANCING REQUEST

Invoice/Financing Request instriclions are attached and mnde part of this contract, The Contractor shall follow the attached
instructions and submission procedures to meet the requirements of & “proper invodce™ pursusant 1o FAR Subpan 32,9, Prong
Payment, Invoices shall be submitied to the Contracting Officer (Original) aml the COTR {one copy). Invaices may be
subenitied electrondeally amd hard coples mailed to the Contracting Offieer.

The Cantracior skall provide monthly invoices, together with & tation of costs @ an acceptable format, and imvoicing
ghall e in US dollars,

ARTICLE (27, CONTRACT FINANCIAL REPORT

a.  Financial reports will be submitted to the address specified in Block 7 of face page of the contract.
b, The first financial report shall cover the period corsisting of the first full three calendar months following the date of
ibe contract, in addition to any frectional pan of the indtial monthe  Thereafier, reports will be on a guarisrly basis,

¢ The Contracting Officer may require the Contractor to submit detailed support for costs conained in anc ar morg
irterim financial reparts. This clause does not superseds the record retention requirements in FAR Part 4.7,

d.  The financial report must B¢ in compliance with EVMSE requirements and the format should be approved by the
government and include all negotiated budpet clements.

&, The Governmiest may unilaterally revise the expenditure categories 1o reflect the allotment of additionnl funds.
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ARTICLE G.& GOVERNMENT PROFERTY

If this contrast will result in the acquisiden or use of Government Propenty provided by the cortracting agency or if the
Contracting Officer suthorizes the acquisition of propenty (other than real property), this paragraph will include spplicable
provisions and imcorporate the HHS Publication (5]} 636, entitled, Contractor's (Guide for Cantrol of Government
Property, (1990), which can be found at:

hatpeffwwow hhs govisamppolicies comlmciors_guide_fo_contiol_of_gov_property. pdf

ARTICLE 6.9, POST AWARD EVALUATION OF CONTRACTOR PERFORMANCE

Interim and fimal evaluations of Contractor perf: ghall be conducted on this contract in accordance with FAR 42.15.
The final performance evahuation shall be completed &t the time of completion of work. Interim and final evaluations will be
submitied 1o the C a8 500m a3 practicable. The Contracter will be permitied thinly days 1o review the document and
to submit additional information or a rebatting statenvent,

SECTION H--SPECIAL CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS

ARTICLE H.I. HUMAN SUBJECTS

Research involving human subjects shall not be conducted under this controct until the protoco] developed in Phase [ has
been approved by the Department of Health and Human Services, writlen notice of such approval has been provided by the
Contracting (Meer, and ihe Contractor has provided o the Contracting Officer a properly complated " Proteciion of Human
Subjecta A IdentificationIRB Cenification/Declaration of Exemption”, Form OMB No. 0990-0263 (formerly
Optional Form 3100 certifying TRB review and approval of the protocol. The human subject certification can be met by
submission of the Contractor’s self designated form, provided that it contains the information required by the "Protection of
Human Subjects Assurance Identification/TRB Certification/Desclaration of Exemption”, Form OMB No, (990-0263
[fiarmerly Opdional Fasm 310)

When research invalving Human Subjects will take place at collaborating sites ar oter performance sites, the Contractor
shall oheain, and keep on file, a propetly comploted "Protsction of Haman Subjects Assurance Identification/IRB
Certification/Theclaration of Exemption”, Form OMB Mo, 0590-0263 (formerly Optional Form 310} certifying IRB review
and approval of the research,

ARTICLE H.2. HUMAN MATERIALS

The acquisition and supply of all human specimen material (incleding fetal material) wsed under this contract shall be
ohtained by the Contractor in full compliance with applicable State and Local laws and the provisions of the Uniform
Anatomical Gift Act in the United States, and no undue inducements, monetary or atherwise, will be affered to any person to
influence their donatzon of human material

ARTICLE .Y CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION

The fillowing information is covered by HHSAR Clanse 152.224-T0, Confidentiality of Information (January 2006); Data
oblzined from haman subjects,

ARTICLE W4, ANIMAL WELFARE

All research involving live, verichrate animals shall be condwcted in accordance with ihe Public Health Service Policy on
Humame Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. This policy may be sccessed al:
hiep: i grangs 1 nibgov' grantsiolaw/references phapel htm

ARTICLE H.5. NEEDLE EXCHANGE

Pursuant 1o the current HHS annual appropriations act, the Contracior shall not use contract funds 1o carmy out any program
of distributing sterile needles or syringes for the hypodermic injection of oay illegal drug.
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ARTICLE Habh, POSSESSION USE AND TRANSFER OF SELECT BIOLOGICAL AGENTS OR TOXINS

The Contractor shall not conduct work invelving select agents or foxins under this confract until it and any nssocinted
subeontracton(s) comply with the following:

For prime or subcontract swards to demestic institutions that p , use, andfor transfer Select Agents under this
contract, the institution must comply with the provisions of 42 CFR, part 73, 7 CFR pant 331, and‘or 9 CFR part 121
(hitpsfarww aphis usda goviprogramsiag_selectagentFinalRuled- 1 8-05pd() a8 required, before using HHS funds
for waork invalving a Select djgent or Toxin, No HHS funds can be wsed for research imvolving a Select Agent ar
Taxin at o dosestic institution without a valid registration certifieate.
Far prime or subcontruct swards to foreign instifntions that possess, use, andior transfer a Select Agens or Toxin
before using HHS furds for any work disectly involving a Sefecr Agent or Taxin , the forcign instifution must
pravide information saisfsctory to the HHS that safety, secarily, and training standards equivalent to those described
in 42 CFR part 73, 7 CFR part 331, andor & CFR part 121 are in place and will be administered an behalf of a1l
Select Agent or Toxin work supported by these funds, The process for making this determination inchudes inspection
of th forcign laboratory facility by o HHS representative. During this inspection, the forsign institution must
provide the following information: concise summarics of safety, security, and iraining plans; rames of individuals at
the foreign institation who will have access fo the Select Agents and procedures for ensuring that only approved ad
appropriate individusls, in accordance with institution procedures, will have access to the Sclect Agents under the
contract; and copics of or links to any applicable laws, regulations, policics, and procedures spplicable ta that
institation for the safc and seccure posscssion, use, andlor fransfer of sclect ngents, Mo HHS funds can be used for
work involving a Select Agent or Toxin at o forcign institution without written approval froe the Contracting
Officer.

Listings of HIIS sclect agenis and toxing, and overlap seleet agenis or foxins as well as information about the registration

process for domestic institutions, are available on the Select Agent Program Web site af hitp, www, cdc.gov/od'sap’ and

hitpedwww ede, govod sapddocssalist, pdf .

Listings of USDA select agenis and wxing as well as infosmation about the reglstration process for domestic instinations
are available on the APHIS/USDA website al: hiip:/www.aphis usda goviprogmmaiag_sclectageny/index. himl and;
http:ffwww.aphis.usda pov'programsfap_selectagent’ag_bioterr_fooms himl

For foreign institations, see the HHS Select Agemt Award information:

bt wowew, misig, mibogow/nen/clinicalide faull_bhasdelense.him b
ARTICLE H.7, ANTELOBBYING

The Contractor is bereby notified of the restrictions on the use of Department of Health and Human Service's funding for
labbying of Federal, State and Local legislative bodies.

Section 1352 of Title 10, United States Cade (Public Law 101-121, effective 12723/89), among other things, prohibits a
recipient (and their subcontractors) of a Federal contracs, gramt, loan, or cooperative agreement fram using appropriated funds
(other than profits fram a federal contract) te pay any person for mfluencing or attempling 1o influence an officer or
employee of any agency, n Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of
Congress in connection with any of the following coversd Federal actions; the awarding of any Fedoral contract; the making
of any Federal grant; the making of any Federal loan; the entering into of any cooperative agreement; or the modification of
any Fedaral cantract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. For additional information of prohibitions agrinst lobhying
activities vee FAR Subpan 3.8, FAR Clause 52.203-12 ard HHSAR 352.270-10.

I addition, the carrent Department of Health and Human Services Approprintions Act provides that no past of any
appropriation contained in this Act shall be wsed, other than for normal and recognized executive-legislative relationships, for
publicity ar propaganda purposes, for the preparation, distribution, or use of any kit, pamphlet, booklet, publication, radio,
television, or video presentation designed to sapport, or defeat legislation pending before the Congress, or any State or Local
legisl except in g tation to the Congress, of any State or Local legislative body itself.

The current Department of Health and Haman Services Approprintions Act alse provides that no part of any appropriation
contained in this Act shall he used to pay the salary or exg af any 1 or grani recipient, or agent acting for such

I5

Contract Number HHSO 100201 100019C




recipient, related to any activity designed o influence begislation or appropristiens pending before the Congress, or and Staic
or Local legislahre.

ARTICLE HE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF FEDERAL FUNDING

A, Section 507 of P.L. 104-208 mandates lhltcurnm:l:m funded with Federal dollars, in whele or in part, acknowledge
Federal Elmdlng wht:mm,g sl Tor proposals, bid selicitations and other d
Contraciors are required to state (1) r-'nnwr:r:nn.a:smd doliar amounts of the tolal program of project costs financed with
Federal money, and (2) the percentage and dollar amount of the total costs financed by nongovernmental sources.

This requirement is in addition 10 the continuing requirement te provide an acknowledpment of support and disclaimer
on any publication reporting the results of & contraet funded activity,

B. Publication and Publicity
The Contractor shall acknowledge the suppon of the Department of Health and Human Service, Office of the Assistant
Secretary for Preparedness and Response, Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Aulbority whenever
publicizing the work under this comtrazt in any media by inelsding an acknowledgment substsntially ag follows:
*This project has been funded in whele or in part with Federal funds from the Office of the Assistant Secretary for
Preparedness and Response, Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority, under Contract No. [insert #"

C. Press Releasss
Pursuant 1o Section 508 of Public Law 105-78, the Contraclor ghallcturl;r stale, when issuing stalements, press releases,
reqpuesls for proposals, bid solicitations and ather d t5 I, peojects of progr fumded in whale of in part
with Federal money that: (1) the percentage of the total costs of the program or project which will be financed with
Federal maney; (2) the dollar amount of Federal funds for the project or program; and (3) the percentage and dollar
ampunt of the total costs of the project or program that will ba fnanced by nongovernmeantal soures,

ARTICLE HY, SUBCONTRACTING PROVISIONS
a.  Small Business Subconiracting Plan

1. The Small Business Subcontracting Plan, dated March 2, 2011, is attoched hereto and made a part of this
contract,

2. The failure of any Coniractor or subcontracior to comply in good faith with FAR Clause 52.21%-8, entitled
“Utilization of Small Business Concems” incorporated in this contrect and the sttached Subcontracting
FPlan, will be & material breach of such contract or subcontract and subject to the remedies reserved o the
Government under FAR Clause 52.219-16 entitled, "Liqui v ges-Sub ing Plan.”

b Subcosiracting Reporis

The Contractor shall submit the ing Sulb ing reports el ically via the "electronic Subcontracting
Reparting Sy (eSRS) ot hitpedwww esrs pov

1. Individual Subcontract Reparts (1S}

Regardless of the effective date of this contract, (e Heport shall be due on the following dates for the entire
lifi of this contract:

April Mh

Oclaber 30th

Expiration Date of Contract

2. Summary Subcontract Report (S8R}

Regardless of the effective date of this contract, the Summary Subcontract Report shall be submitted
ansually on the following date for the entire life of this contract:

Cletoher 304k
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For both the Individual and Summary Subcontract Reports, the [Comracting Officer/
Contract Specialisutitle of alternate designes] shall be included as a contact for
notification purposes at the folbowing e-mail address:

TComtmeing OfeadCotoec Saesialial]

ARTICLE H.10, REFORTING MATTERS INVOLYING FEAUL, WASTE AND ABUSE

Anyone who becomes aware of the exi ar i of fraud, wastc and abasc in HHS funded programs is
encouraged 1o report such matters 1o the HHS Inspﬂm General"s Office in writing or on the Inspector Creneral's Hotline,
The toll free number is 1-800-HHS-TIPS (1-800-447-8477).  All telephone calls will be handled confidentially. The c-mail
nddress is Htipsimos.dhhs.pov and the mailing address 15

(e of Inspector General
Department of Health and Human Services
TIPS HOTLINE

PO Box 23489

‘Washington, D.C. 20026

ARTICLE H.11. PROHIBITION ON CONTRACTOR INVOLYVEMENT WITH TERRORIST ACTIVITIES

‘The Contractor acknowledges that ULS. Executive Orders and Laws, inclading but not limited to E.0. 13224 and P.L. 107-56,
prohibit transactions with, and the provision of resources and support to, individuals and organizstions ussociated with
terrorism. [t is the legal responsibility of the Contractor o ensure complinnce with these Exccutive Orders and Laws. This
clause must be included in all subcontracts izsued under (his contract.

ARTICLE HAZ, SOTICE FRIOR TO PUBLICATION

The Contractor shall nod releass any reports, ipts, press releases, or at ahout the work being performed under
this contract without written notice in advance to the Go 4, fior additional information see HHSAR 352.270-6.

The L,umrmnr agrees to accurately asd fu:lm.]ly represent the work conducted under this contract in all press releases,
Mi tract results or rek information that is injurious to the integrity of HHS may be construed as
:mpmpﬂ'coridmt Press nlun:s shall be considered to include the public release of information to any medium, exeluding
peer-reviewed scientific p ions. The C shall ensure that the Contracting Officer and COTR has received an
wdvance mnflmg,rprqs release related io this contract not less than four (4) working days prior to the issuance of the press
release,

ARTICLE A3 IDENTIFICATION AND DISPOSITION OF DATA

The Cantractor will be requdred to provide certain data penerated under this contrast to the Department of Health and Human
Services (HHS), HHS reserves the right to review any other data ressonably determined by HHE 1o be relevant to this
comiract. The Contractor shall keep copies of all data required by the Food and Dirug Administration (FDA) relevant te this
cortract for the tinw: specified by the FDA. Except for data first produced in the performance of this contract or for which the
Government is otherwise entitled to unlimited rights under the Rights in Data clawse st Section L4(3), such data (including
bt nat limdted to the data identified in Section 1.3 and Appendix [Pl of Contractos's Technical Proposal submitted on 15
December 2010) shall b treated as Limited Rights Data under such clause. Data submitied to the FDA in connection with
Contractor's NDA submission shall be subject te the laws and regulations goveming the confidentiality of data submitted to
FDA, but shall not otherwise lose is treatmeent as Limited Rights Dato by reason of it having been submited to FDAL

ARTICLE H.14, MANUFACTURING STANDARDS

The Carrent Good Manufactaring Practice Regulations (cGMP) (21 CFR Pans 210-21 1) will be the standard 1o be applied for
enanufacturing, processing and packing of this therapeutic product.
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IF at amy time during the life of the coptract, the Centractor fails 1o comply with cOMP in the manufscturing, processing and
packaging of this therapentic product and such failure results in & material adverse effect on the safety, purity or potescy of
this therapeutic product (a material Gilure) & identified by CBER and CDER, the Contractor shall kave thirty (30) calendar
days from the time sach material failure is identified to cure such materizl failure, If the Contractor fails to taks such an
action within the thirty (30) calensdar day period, then the contract may be terminated,

ARTICLE H.I5 EARNED VALUE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM {FAR 52.234-4) {Jul 2006)

(2} The Contractor shall use an carned value management system (EVMS) that has been determined by the Cognizant
Federal Agency (CFA) to be complinnt with the guidelines in ANSLI'EIA Standard - 748 (current version af the time of
award) bo marage this contract. I the Contractor’s current EVMS haz not been determined complinnt at the time of
awarnd, sec paragraph (b) of this clause. The Contractor ghall submit reports in sccordancs with the requisements of this
contract,

() IF at dhe time of award, the Contractor’s EVM Systern has not been determingd by the CFA as complying with EVMS
guidelines or the Contractor does sot have an existing cost/sebedule control system that is plinnt with the guideli
in ANSIEIA Standard - 748 (eurrent version at time of award), the Contractor shall—

(1) Apply the current system 1o the contract; ond
(2) Take mecessary actions to meet the milestones In the Contractor's EVMS plan approved by the Contracting

Officer.
() The Government will luct an Inb grasd | Bnseline Review (IRR), Ifn pre-nward TRR has not been conducted, a post
award IBR shall be conducted as early as practicable after wward,

{d} The Contracting Officer may require an IBR. at—
(1) Exercise of significant oplions; or
(2] Incarporation of mijor modifications,

(e} Unless o waiver is granted by the CFA, Contractor proposed EVMS changes require approval of the CFA prior o
implemeniation. The CFA will advise the Contracter of the acceplability of such changes within 30 calondar days after
receipt of the notice of propesed changes from the Contrector. If the advancs approval requirements are waived by the
CFA, the Contractor shall disclose EVMS changes to the CFA at least 14 calendar days prior to the effective date of
implementation.

{f) The Contractor shall provide acesss to all perti da and data req d by the Coatracting Officer or a duly
suthorized representative as necessary 1o permit Government surveillance to ensure that the EVMS conforms, and
continues to conform, with the performancs criteria referenced in paragraph (a) of this clsuse.

(g} The Contractor shall require the subcontractors specified below to comply with the requirements of this clause:
[Insert list of applicabls subcontraciors. |

ARTICLE H.I6 INSTITUTIONAL RESPONSIBILITY REGARDING CONFLICTING INTERESTS OF
INVESTIGATORS

The Contractor shall conply with the requiressents of 45 CFR Part 94, Respassible Prospective Contractors, which p !
objectivity in research by establiching standards to ensure that investigatars (defined as the prineipal investigater and any
ather person who is responsible for the design, conduet or reposting of rescanch funded undes HHS contracts) will mot be
biased by any conflicting financinl interest. 45 CFR Pant 94 is available at the following Web site:
hitpetec it gpoaccess. govicgrttextiiont-

il e fryedd= 21 30bad2d 48bL T IR0 Icat ] o4 3bedarpn~divSodew—textnode=4543A L0, 1, | 53;idno=45 comgcfr

As required by 43 CFR Part 94, the Contractor shall, at a minimum:

& Maintain a written, enforeeable policy on conflict of intcrest that complics with 45 CFR Part 94 and inform cach
investigator of the policy, the investigator's reporiing responsibilitics and the applicable regulations, The Contractor
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must fake rensonnble steps to ensure that investigators working as collaborators or subcostractors comply with the
regulations,

b. Desigrate an official(s) to solicit and review financial di tal ts from each investig icipating in
HHS-funded research, Based on esiablished guidelines consistent with the regulations, ﬂlﬂdmgmhod official(£)
mest determine whether n conflict of interest exists, and if so, determine what actions shall be taken te maeape,
reduce or eliminate such conflict, A conflict of interest exigts when the designated official(s) reasonably determines
that a Significant Finaneinl feferos conld directly and significantly affect the design, conduct or reporting of the
HHS-funded research. The Contractor may require the managemsent of other conflicting financial interests in
addition to those described in this paragraph, as it deems approprinte. Examples of conditions or restrictions that
might be imposed to manage sctual or patential conflicts of interests are included in 45 CFR Part 94, under
Management of Conflicting Interests.

¢.  Requireall fi ial disclosures to be updated during the period of the award, cither on an anral basis or as new
reporizhle Significant Financial Interests are obtained.

d.  Maindain records, ientifiable 1o each award, of all financial disclasures and all actions saken by the Comtractor with
rTespect to each conflicting interest 3 years after final payrvent or, whers applicable, for the other Hme periods
specifizd in 48 CFR Part 4, subpart 4,7, Contract Records Retertion.

o Establish adequate anf h

and provide for sanctions where appropriate,

Ifa conflict of interest is identificd, the Contractor shall repart to the Contracting (HTicer, the existence of the coaflicling
interest found, This report shall be mads and the conflicting interest managed, reduced or elinsinated, at least on a temporary
lbasis, within sinty (50) days of that ientification.

If the failure of an investigator to comply with the conflict of interest policy has biased the design, conduct or reporting of the
HHS-funded research, the Contractor must prompely notify the Contracting Officer of the comrective action taken or to be
taken, The Contracting Officer will 1ake appropriaic action or refer the matter io the Contractor for further action, which may
include directions to ibe Contractor on how te maintain appropriate objectivity in the funded research. If corrective action
has not been taken of is not appropriate and the costract cannot be performed, the Govermment reserves the right fo terminate
the contrect for defanlt in accordance with FAR 52.249-6, Termination {Cost-Reimbursement) (May 2004),

The Contracting Officcr may al any tins inquire inio the Contractor’s prwndwmdmnum reganding coaflicts of intcrests
in HHS-fanded research, including n review of all ! liance with 45 CFR Part 94, The Contracting,
Officer may require submission of the records uu'mwcwﬁaemon sﬂ.r. O the basis of this review, the Contracting Officer
may decide that a particular conflict of mierest will bias the objectivity of the HHS-funded research to such an extent that
lurnber corrective action is necded or that the O has not d, reduced or eliminated the conflict of interest. The
issuance of a Stop Work Order by the Contracting Officer may be necessary until the matter is resolved.

If the Contracting Officer determines that HHS-funded clinical research, whose purpose is 1o evaluate the safiety or
effectiveness of a drug, medical device or treatment, has been designed, conducted or reported by an investigator with a
conflict af interest that was not disclosed or manaped, the Contractor mast nequire disslogure of the conflict of interest in
each public presentation of the results of the rescarch,
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ARTICLE H.17. FIDDA AND HHS AUDITS

H.17 FInA Audils

Within thirty (30) calendar days of an FDA audit ef Contractor of subcomtractor facilities, the Contractor shall provide copies
of the andit findings, final report, and & plan for addressing aress of nonconformance 1o FDA regulations and puidance for
GLF, GMP or GCF guidelines as idemtified in the final audit repos.

H.IT7.2. HHS Site Visile'Andits

The United $tates Government (USG) reserves the right to conduct an audit of the Contractor with 48 hours notice. The USG
reserved the right to sccompany the Contractor on reuline and for-cause site-visits‘audite of subeontractors. At the discretion
of the USG ard independent of testing conducted by the Contractor, HHE reserves the right to conduct site visits/asudits and
collect samples of product held by the C and sub RCLOTS.
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PART 11 - CONTRACT CLAUSES

SECTION I - CONTRACT CLAUSES

THE FULL TEXT OF THESE CLAUSES MAY BE ACCESSED ELECTRONICALLY AT THESE ADDRESSES:
FAR CLAUSES: hiip:'www acquisition. gov/comp far index. bml
HHSAR CLAUSES: hatp/fwwwe dhbs gov/oampidaphlsar ml

ARTICLE 1.1, GENERAL CLAUSES
General Clauses for a Cost-Reimbursement Research and Development Contract

@, FEDERAL ACOUNSTION REGULATION (FAR) (48 CFR CHAPTER 1) CLAUSES:

52.202-1 Jul 2004 Definitions (Over §100,000)

52.203-3 Apr 1984 Gratuities (Owver §100,000)

52,2085 Agr 1984 Covenant Against Contingent Fees (Over $100,000)

52,203-6 Sep 20045 Restrictions on Subcontractor Sales to the Government ((ver §100,000)

52.203-T Ot 2000 Anti-Kickback Procedures (Over S100,000)

52.203.% Jan 1997 Cancellation, Rescission, and Recovery of Funds for llegal or Improper Activity
(Over $100,0000

52.203-10 Jan 1997 Price or Fee Adjustment for Hlegal ar Improper Activity (Ower S100,000)

52.203-12 Ot 2010 Limitation on Payments to Iefluence Certain Foederal Transsetions (Owver
£100,000)

5220313 Apr2010 Contractar Code of Busanes Ethics and Conduct

57.204-4 Ang 240 Printed or Copied Double-Sided on Recycled Paper (Over $100,000)

52.204-7 Apr 2008 Central Contractor Registration

52,2096 D 2010 Protecting the Government's Interests When Subcontracting With Costractors
Debarred, Suspended, or Proposed for Debarment {Over $30,000)

522152 Ot 2010 Audit and Records - Megodiation {Over $100,000)

522158 Ot 1997 Order of Precedence - Unifiorm Contract Format

52.215-10 et 2010 Price Reduction for Defective Cost or Pricing Data (Over $650,000)

52215-12 et 2010 Subcontractor Cost or Pricing Data (Over $3650,0000

5221514 Ot 2010 Irtegrity of Unit Prices (Ower 5100,0000

52.215-15 Dt 2010 Pension Adjustments and Asset Reversions

52.215-1%8 Jul 2005 Reversion or Adjustment of Plans for Pest-Retirement Benefits (PRB) other than
Pensians

31.215-=19 Oce 1997 Montfication of Ownership Changes
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52.215-21 Oict 2000 Requirements for Cost or Pricing Datn or Information Other Than Cost or Pricing
Data - Modifications

52.216-T Diec 2002 Allvemblo Cost and Payment

51.216-8 Mar 1997 Fixgd Fes

52,219.8 Jan 2011 Ltilization of Small Business Concemns (Over £100,0000

52,2199 Jan 2011 Senall Business Subcontracting Plan (Over $550,000, 51,000,000 for Construction)

52,219-16 Jan 1999 Liguidaied Damages - Subconiracting Plan (Over $550,000, $1,000,000 for
Construction)

52.222-2 Jul 1990 Payment for Overtime Premium (Over $100,000) (Mate: The dollar amount in
pammgraph () of this clawse is S0 unless otberwise specifisd in the contracl)

52.122-1 Jun 2003 Convict Labor

$2.222-21 Feb 1999 Prohibition of Segregated Facilities

5222226 Mar 2007 sl Oppostunity

52.222-35 Sep 2010 Equal Oppostunity Veterans (Over $100,000)

5222234 et 2010 Adfirmative Astion for Workers with Dizabilities

52.222.37 Sep 2010 Employment Reports Vetcrans (Over $100,000)

52.222-50 Feb 2009 Combating Trafficking in Persons

522215 May 2001 Dvag-Free Workplace

5223314 Aug 2003 Toxie Chemical Relense Reparting (Over $100,000)

52225-| Jun 2003 Buy American Act - Supplics

52.225-13 Jan 0% Restrictions on Certnin Foreign Purchases

522271 Dre: 2007 Authorization and Consent, Alternate [ (Apr 1984)

52172 Deg 2007 Notice and Assisiance Reganding Patent and Copyright Infringement (Orver
S100,000)

52.227-11 Dec 2007 Patent Rights—Crwnership by the Contractor

52,2308 Mar 1500 Taxes - Fareipn Cost-Reimbursement Contracts

52,2329 Apr 1984 Limitation on Withholding of Paymonts

52,232-17 Cer 2010 Interest (Over $100,000)

£2.232-20 Apr 1084 Limitation of Cost

5223223 Jan 1986 Assignment of Claims

5223225 Oct 2008 Prompt Payment, Altemnate T (Feb 2002)

52.232-33 et 2003 Payment by Electronic Funds Transfer--Ceniral Contractor Registration

52.233-1 Jal 2002 Disputes
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53.731.3 Aug 1996 Prodest Afler Award, Altermate I (Jus 1985)
52.233-4 Ot 2004 Applicabile Law for Breach of Contract Claim
52.242-1 Apr 1984 Motice of Intent 1o Disallow Costs
522423 May 2001 Penalties for Unallowable Costs (Over $650,0040)
522424 Jan 1997 Centification of Final Indirect Costs
52.242-13 Jul 1993 Bankruptcy (Over §100,000)
522432 Aug 1987 Changes - Cost Reimbursement, Altemate V (Ape 1984)
522442 Oet 2010 Subcontracts, Aliemate [ (Jun 2007)
52.244-5 Diec 1996 Competition in Subcontracting (Over $100,000%
52.244-5 Des 2010 Subcontracts for Commercial llems
52.245-1 Aug 2010 Crovermment Froperty
522459 Auag 20010 Use and Charges
52.246-23 Febh 1997 Limiiaidon of Linhility (Over £100,000)
52,249-5 May 2004 Termination (Cost-Reimbursement)
52,249-14 Apr 1984 Excusable Delays
52.253=1 Tan 1944 Computer Cieneraied Forns
b. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES ACGUISITION REGULATION (HHSAR) (48 CFR CHAPTER 1) CLAUSES
HHSAR
CLAUSE NO. DATE TITLE
352.202-1 Jan 2004 Definitions - with Alternate paragraph (b} (Jan 20046}
352.203-T0 Jun 2006 Anti-Lobbying
352.216-T0 Jun 2006 Additional Cost Principles
I52.227-10 Jan 2006 Publications and Publicity
3522287 Diee 1991 Insurance - Liability to Third Persons
352.233.71 Jan 2006 Lirigation and Claims
152.242-73 Tan 20606 Withhalding of Contract Payments
35224274 Apr 1984 Final Decisions on Audit Findings
ARTICLE LI, AUTHORIZED SUBSTITUTIONS OF CLAUSES 1

It is expected that the following substitution{s) will be made part of this contract:
MiA

ARTICLE L3, ADDMTIONAL CONTRACT CLAUSES |
This contrsct incorporates the following clasuses by reference, with the same force and effect, as if they were given in full |
text, Upon request, the Contracting Officer will make thedr fll text available,

a,  FEDERAL ACQUISITION REGULATION (FAR) (48 CFR CHAPFTER 1) CLAUSES

i
P} |
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{1y FAR Clanse 51.203-13, Contractor Code of Business Ethics and Conduet {April 2010).

{2} FAR Clause $2.203-14, Display of Hotline Poster(s) {December 2007).
Any required posters may be obtained as follows:

Poster(s) Ofbtain From”
HHE Contractor Code of Ethics and
Business Conduet Poster hittptfoig. hivs govirawdhotline/OIG_Holling Poster pol

(3} FAR Clause 52.215-17, Walver of Facilities Capital Cost of Money (October 1997),
(4)  FAR Classe 52,2179, Option to Extend the Term of the Conteact (March 2000}

{#) The Government may extend the term of this contract by written nofice to the Contractor within 20 calendar
days provided that the Government gives the Contractor a preliminary written notice of its infent to extend at
least |20 calendar days before the contmet expires. The preliminasy notice does not comenit the Governnsent to
an extensian,

{b) The totel duration of this contract shall nat exceed &0 months.

(%) FAR Clause 52.242-3, Penalties for Unallowable Costs (May 2001 ).

(6)  FAR Clausc 52,.246-8, Inspection of Research and Development — Cost=Reimbar i {May 2001)
(7} FAR Clause 52.152-2, Clauses Incorporated by Reference. (February 1998)

b, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES ACQUISITION REGULATION (HHSAR) (48 CHAPTER
I CLAUSES:

(1) HHSAR Clouse 352.223-70, Safety and Health (Tumary 2006).

{2} HHSAR Clause 352,201-70, Paperwork Reduection Aet (January 2006).

{3)  HHSAR Clause 3522704 Protecthon of Huoman Subjects {(January 2006).

{4)  HHSAR Clouse 352,270-5(b}, Care of Live Vertebrate Animals (Octoher 2009),
(5)  HHSAR Clawse 352.242-70, Key Personmel (Jasuary 20046)

{6)  HHEAR Clause 352.233-70 Cholee of law (overseas) (January 2000

This contract shall be construed in accordance with the substantive lows of the United States of America. By the
execution of this contract, the Contractor axpressly agrees o waive any rights to invoke the jurisdiction of local
national courts where this contract is porformed amd agrees 1o sceept the exclusive jurisdiction of the Civilian
Board of Contract Appeals and the United States Court of Federal Cluims for hearing and determination of any
and all disputes that may arise under the Digputes clause of this contract.

{End of clanss)

ARTICLE L4, ADDITIONAL FAR CONTRACT CLAUSES INCLUDER IN FULL TEXT
This contract incorporates the following clauses in full text.

{1} FAR Clause 52.227-3 Patent Indemnity. (Apr 1984)

{a] The Ci shall indemnify the (i aned ke officen, agenis, and cxployees sgaina Bability, iscluding costs, for infingemen of any United
Siabed patert {eneept o palent issoed upon an spplication that is sow or may hereafier be withheld foom issus puriant toa Scorecy Order under 35 LLSC
181} anising eut of the manufscture e dalivery of supplies, the porformance of wervices, or the ion, alicrati dification, er repais ol real
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property (h fber refemed o as o work”) under this contract, of oul of the uss oF dispeds] by of Foe the scoouni of the CGovennment of weck

supplios or comatruction wadk,

{bﬁﬁhmﬂnﬂwmhnhew#wllhwbmmwlmuw by e Crovesmment of the suit o action alleging
infriagemient axd shall hive boen given soch cpportesity 63 is afforded by applicable laws, rules, or regolations bo participate in its defonss, Farther,
Hmnhrm apply fo—
{1y memllngﬁ“mmmﬁsm efthe ing OMicer direcring u chasge im the supplies to bo

&0 be Lsed, oF directing § masner of performance of the contract not normally wed by the Comracion,
2 Mln&h.mmhlqﬁmdﬁnnhud-ﬂ- S GO dor that was
end 1o delivery or perft

(k)] J.-;Iqmdwﬁmunuklu'u-'n'uyustdIilbnlMmtnfhfmmu.mhwlmdhﬂﬂmﬂimﬂfml
cred,
{End of clause)
Alvenate [1{Apr 1584)

“This patees indemnification skall saly cover United States pasents smmed by Dadichi Sankyo Co, Lul. that sre relevant o the subjest matics of this conirt
and liged bslow, For the parpodes of this paten! indemnl eation, "sgents” shall wot include any thind party manufischurets or nos-Omverament ealities,

(1) 52.227-14 Rights in Data— (Dec 2007)

{a) Drofinitions. As weed in this clagic—

ot dalabise™ of "datshase means™ 8 collection of recorded information in s form capable of, and for the pueposs of, being storsd =, processed, sl |
eperated an by & compuier. The term does not include compulor software |
“Compalor softwars™—

1) Mess |
i) Compuler that a0 m workes of i rules, routines, or satvments, regand|ew of the sedi in whech reooeded, tat allow or cause 2 |
eomnpaler 1o paifrm a specific operation of serct of operations; and |
i) Recapded isformalinn eomprislng souroe mdoll.l.ﬂ.nsl.dulpdﬂuh, P flowe charts, formulas, and relsted falerial that would |
erghle the pmg'l.mlnlu d, , or |
{2 Do mot includs sompater d o waftware 4 th

wmﬁmwmm:mwlmh iz 7 and other similar ilems, l

mﬂmdwmhmh-huplhmmufhmwﬁw‘wmmﬂwwﬁﬂ]ﬂ]ﬁm
'Dﬁ'mmﬁmmmdhorhmwmmﬂhumﬁqhm&i The termn incledes technical dats snd compater software,

The tefm Ao Aol inelide in b incadeneal wo contract ion, such a3 finarcial, edministrative, cost or pricing, o managemen! infirnalion.
P, g, el Ssmerion data™ mcans data relating 1o ftems, mnumﬁﬂnnﬁwﬂwnﬂrmﬂwww
and data idatifiring source, mmmm mating sl attichimen e . fenetiongl ch ics, and

cormpuler softwarn: & seans dity istles, and qui M“Mh:hhhmmdn

algerithms, peoceases, hﬂhlﬂhwthlﬂ.lm‘dnm

“Limited rights™ means the rights of the (Revernmot in limiled rights dabs i set fomd in the Lisded Rights Netice of paragraph (g)(¥) if inchoded in this
lause,

“Limibted rights dets” mesns dafs, m:m-mmmummmmmmuummman.d.uum.upmimm
tha matent that such data pertain to i, developed st privabe exgerse, iscludisg miror modifcations.
Mwﬂmuwmwwmwummdhﬂ-lmm ial of fisancisl el
apukﬂuuwmmwummrwmuuwuﬂm

“Restriciod rights,"” a8 wiad inithis clase, means the rghts of the Govemment b restricied comgrter saltware, as sel forth in o Restricted Rights Natice off
pessgraph (g} If nehaded in this elsse, or s stherwise may be provided in a collateral sproomons incomporated in and mede part of this contraet, inchuding
minor modifications ef sach compueer o,

“Tocheical data™ mess reconded inforrmation {repardiei of the furm o method of the recording) of 8 sciontiflo or tachnical naty i
darsh ad eomp sofbwane This term does not inchide compuler saftware or financial, mumumuw
datn or other information mcidental o contrect adminismtion, The boms inchades recorded infirmation of a selentific or icchaical nature that is ischuded in

compuler databases (S 41 US.C SO(RY.
“Unlimited riphts” means e rights of the Government to use, disckee, reproduce. propare devivative works, distribute copies 1o e public, and perfoem
publicky and display publichy, im sy manncr and for any purposs, snd 10 heve of perrmit ol o da s,

(b} Allecation of rghts,

(1} Except as provided in paragraph (<] of tis clauss, the Govemmen! shall have uslkesited sights is—
i) Dala firt preduced in the performascs of thil coatract;
(i) Fores, fit, and fusction data delivered under this conlnct,

(i) Dhata defivered under this contract (except for restricted lrwearc) (Bat whwhﬂmﬂmdmdhumgmﬂh
- peralion, or meting -nuwkn‘m. [ For usa wndor i contract;
{iv) Al other daim delivered under this contract unboss peavided alberwisg fior Ervited rijghts data of d software in darce with

pacagraph () of 1his clause.
[2) The Contractor shall bave the right 10—
(i) Asrart copyright in dats first produced i the perfeemance of this conteact to the extent provided in pamgraph (1) of this cluse;
15
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(i) Use, releass bo othery, reproduce, distribute, or publiss ny dats firt produced of specifically waed by B Contracior in the perfomsasce of (ki contrct,
unlesa provided otherwises in pazagraph (J) of this clause;

(i) Substantinle the uso of, add, or comect limited rights, restriched rights, or copyright motices and to take other ialo aclion, in wilh
pasagraphs (g) snd (f) of this clauss; end

(iv} Protect Erom arsethonized Slschomre snd v fhoss dats that are limited rights dats or restricied computer software fo the extent provided in paragriph
(ghof this clarssn,

i) Capyright—
(1) Duata first procuced in the parfenmance of this contract.
6] MMMinmwmmmhmww mmmwmmmm asen copyright
hulmﬂﬂn-ﬂmhulmhbmdnﬂu data first pr the per ol this eontract and pablishod iy scadomic,
d or professional joimals, 4 _,.wmm“hmmummmmuhmuma
mmmw-nduwhhmﬂﬂmmuﬁ enitrasl,
(il Mumwuh ummmumwmmwmm“n and an
af (& i sontrect member).
(il Mmmmwﬂmmr raits b the Ok el olbeets meting on its beball, & pasloup, noeexclusive,
worldwide license in sach copyrighied daia io Tqﬂmqmdﬂﬂilmw‘b,dﬂﬂnbmpnlnhpﬂm.ﬂp-ﬁw
peblicly snd display publicly by or on behalf of i O For naftware, the O granti i the O
actitg on 4 beball, & paid-ip, Fancrelusive, irrevocable, worlkdnids license in soth cogytighied compates softwese ta peproduce, prepire
darivative works, and porfom publicly and display poblicly (it not to distribate copies to tha public) by o on behall of the Cowemment.
{2 Diatm mot Exst produced in the perfonsance of this contract. The Contractor shall pod, without the prior writlon permisiion af the Costrasting CiTicer,
incorporete in dats delivesed under dhis contract any data not fint inthe of this contract usless the Coniracior—
i} Identifles the datn; sed
{in) l:hnl.lluln[-hnw-l or acquires on ils tehalf, & Beense of the mene soops as set fordh in paragraph (o)1) of fhix clauss or, 8N each data are
- scltwiee, the G mww.wwthm&wm@mumurmmhh
or a8 atharwise provided ina coll d in or mada part of this contrict.
ﬂin.nwinl'm-rl.ﬂlnmmUmwummmmmmmmhmdmn#mmimdndmwmwtummm-ﬂﬁﬂ
inzluds sech Boticed on o1 peprodentiong of te dis,

{43 Releass, publication, and uss of data, The Contractor shall Bave the right % use, releass 1o others, preduse, disribule, of publish any data Gew producod
o speeifically used by thes Contractor la the performance of thls contres,

1) As probchited by Federal lanw of rogulation Ge.g.. oxport controld or mational socurity lams or rogulations);

{2 Az capevmsly ot forth in Bis contract; of

{3} I the Conliselos receives of ks ghven soecis bo dals nevessary for the performanse of this sontract thal costain restrictive markings, the Contracior shall
ineat the data in secordance with sach markings unless specifically ssthorized otherwise in writing by te Contracting CHfficer.

(€ Linauthorized sarking of dats
{1} Metwithstanding se other provisions of this coatrect conceming | hon or if amy data d | undor this contract are marked with the
nb—mmmmmﬁ:wmmumum:emuﬂmmuuwwmmuummmwuw
o Hrmiting d by thifs camteact, the Cortracting Officer may st any time «ither retur the data 1o the Contracter, or cancel or
lpuui:n-:kl.np.llm.pmln%lUﬁﬂ.ﬂﬂhmmﬂlwbpﬂhMNmMmp
il mmmuor&amllﬂumwnmmmw-m-uuw days Eram receipl of the ingquiry 1 provide

weilies the ty off fhe 1t

(i) Hﬁetmhrfnkhr-pmdnrhhmmmm ification %o substantial fhe propricty of the markings within the 60-day peried (or
& bonger Sima spproved i wriling by the Contrecting Oficer for good causs shirwa), mmnmummwmmwwm
WmeMﬂmeumﬂmwumﬂcmmmm

(i) I the Contractor provides written justification to gs within i pariod set in paragraph (eh(1 )i} of this
cum.mmm-iumwueMﬂmmmmmmmmmmpmwhm«m
I ihe Ci ing Offizer dotermdee that the s are aiarized, the Costractor will be so nesiled in writing. B the Contracting Officer
MMmmﬂ&bﬂﬁhmﬂvluMh ings are oot e, the C ting Officer will famish the

w writhen dh deteemminatinn will becorme th firal sgency deciecn reganding he apprepristeeess of the mirkings

mhumwmﬂhlmdwwmﬂhﬂ&pdwdhwmmldmﬁu
Govermaraent will contimee %o abide by the markisgs aader this paragraph () 1ii) until final rosotution of the maticr cither by the Contracting

Wsdmm:lhmhamr‘fullﬁummhmﬂhﬂﬁhmhﬂd!ltﬂﬂﬂﬂ*wﬂﬁmwﬂw
mﬂmmﬂllmwﬂummjmmm ibiti o by final disposition of the matier by court decision if suit is
mThh'lmduhhMﬁ forth in parsgeaph {e)(1) of thii o ¥ e erodified is dams with ageney repulstions buplementing the
Freedom of Infoemation Act (5 USIC 352) if necessery 1o eapond 1o o request therander.
(37 Escept to the extent il Govemment's selion oocurs & the resull of linal disposition of the magter by o count ol diztion, the O
mlmduﬂdbymﬂumﬂmmmmuuum in setondance with the Disputen clause of this contrest, lemummﬂh
Chrvernmen remaving o ignoring sutharized merlngs om data delivered under dils coniract.
[f) Orwited or incomrecd markings.
{1) Diata Scliversd to the Gorremnent withios any restrictive markings shall be deemed to bave been fumished with unlimded rights. The G & nat
liskds for the discleaure, we, or reproduction of wech data.
(21 1 the unmaried daga has mot been disclosed withou aside te G ke mmay request, within & eenths {or a kager G

approved by the Comtracting Officer In writing for peod esise shown) afler delivery of the duta, parmission t have suthorized notices pliced on the dala st
the Contracton”s expeass. The Costracting Qificer may agroe to do so if the Contractr—
i) Mdenlifics the data to which the omitted natico is 1o be appliad;
{ii) Demotatrates thal Ihemnd.lﬁsﬂ.atlhtunﬂuwlﬂdvm:
diig) ishes thd the e is
{iv) m,whmhmmhhﬁhmnmﬁmorhrﬂtnwhwﬂmmufﬂn!mw
eesulting fhom the smisshon of the satice.
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{Xp Ef dutm haat heen masked with an iscerrect notice, the Contracting Oficor may—
] Pwmllmmm'lhﬂnuﬂul the Conirecior's experss i ie Contracter identife the data and demonstrates that the comect notice is

[y Drmlujl.rl-mmhn.
[E) Pretsction of limited rights data and resfricted computer softwar.

tl]mwwwmumwlmmmw hd.ll rostricted compuier sodtwars that are not dat idestified in pursgraphs
CBCUEL, (i, meed (i of this cliuse. As a condith i oo akall -

mlmwﬂnﬁ-ﬂlﬂm Mu-mmwwmwwm:mlmm-mmmmmm

&) e

1) Subeontracting, The Castrsctor shall obeain foom its subcontroctons all datn and rights therel oy e Rl e *s obligati
Ciovenment under this cormect. I s sbcemiracter refupes wwmdhdmlhthwumtﬂ:mnghu.temumm@k
Contracting (ffiorr of the refical and chall nat proveed with the subsostect sosd withom solserization in writing Bom e Conleacting Officar,
i mwm#woﬁ#lﬂhhHﬁh;mhhdh‘hhhﬂinpb’lhﬂmh&ﬁmwﬂtuﬂdﬂm;ﬂwtukmﬂ
s affecting the seope ol say licende oo otber right otherwise granted b the Governmant.

(End of clause)

Alteraate 1 (Do 2007},

(EMY) Motwithstading paragraphs (g)(1) of dhs cliuse, the contract may identify and pecify the delivery of limiled rights data, or the Conimacting Officer
may requine by writien roquest the delivery of limited rights dits that hes hees séthheld cr weuld otherwies be entithed to be withheld, I dalivery of that data

is requised, (e Comtractor sball affix the following “Limited Rights Notioe™ o the dain and the Governmert will irear the walject 10 The peoiibons of
Wh}nﬂﬂ)dlﬁluh‘aﬂ.hmmmmﬂ: SN "

Limsdred Rights Notice (Dec 2007)

(a} Theese datn e subsnitied with lmiled elphts under Gervernment Contract Mo, FTHSO 100015 (and sat A, if apprepriste). These data

myhmmdmhwmmmmuwmmmwmm without waikien pemistion of the Contracton, bo used for
iar iz bowed oulside the G ; except that the Government mery disclose these data oetside the Government for the

Hlmhl.]:r-pmlfuy.pwﬂmmlh" wreakies vk disclosurs suhject %o prohibition againet furthor use and disclosure: |Agescies may list

afclitional purposes as st forth in 27004200} 1) o iF none, 55 stete ]

() This sotice shall be marked on any reprodudtion of these data, in whole or o par.

{Exd of notics)
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PART III - LIST OF DOCUMENTS, EXHIBITS AND OTHER ATTACHMENTS

SECTION.J - LIST OF ATTACHMENTS

The following decuments are incosparated into this contract and will be required during contrest performance,

Attachment No. Title Location
Attachement 1 Invoice/Financing Reques! Instructions—

Cost-Reimbursement Sexw Attachment Section at the end of this contract
Aftachiment 2: Gantt Chart See Attachment Bection o the end of this contmet
Attackmenl 3; Contractor Defined Milestones Sew Aitachment Section at the end of this contract
Attachment 4: EVMS documents See Attachment Section at the end of this contract
Atzchment 5; Security Plan/Checklist See Altachment Section at the erd of this contract

PART IV - REPRESENTATIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS

SECTION K
REPRESENTATIONS, CERTIFICATIONS AND OTHER STATEMENTS OF OFFERORS

The following documents are incorporated by reference in this contract:

Annual Representations and Certifications completed and located at the Online Representations and Certificati
Application (ORCA) website. [This includes the changes, if any, identified in paragraph (b} of the FAR provision 52.204-8,
Annual Representations and Certifications, contained in the cortractor’s proposal. |
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Exhibit 31.1

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Russell H Plumb, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under my
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Dated: May 10, 2013 By: /s/ Russell H Plumb

Russell H Plumb
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1
1350 CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO TITLE 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ending March 31, 2013, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Russell H. Plumb, as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company,
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: May 10, 2013 By: /s/ Russell H Plumb

Russell H Plumb
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

The purpose of this certification is solely to comply with Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, as amended by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. This statement is not “filed” for the purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to the
liabilities of that Act or any other federal or state law or regulation.



